
EMERGENCY EVACUATION INSTRUCTIONS 
If you hear the alarm, leave the building immediately.  Follow the green signs.  Use the stairs 
not the lifts.  Do not re-enter the building until told to do so. 

Notice of Meeting 

Executive 
Councillor Bettison OBE (Chairman),  
Councillor Dr Barnard (Vice-Chairman),  
Councillors D Birch, Brunel-Walker, Harrison, Mrs Hayes MBE, 
Heydon and Turrell 

Tuesday 26 January 2021, 5.00  - 7.00 pm 
Online Only - Zoom 

 
 

Agenda 

Item Description Page 

1.  Apologies   

2.  Minutes  5 - 14 

 To consider and approve the minutes of the meeting of the Executive held on 
15 December 2020   

 

3.  Declarations of Interest   

 Members are asked to declare any Disclosable Pecuniary or Affected 
Interests in respect of any matter to be considered at this meeting. 
 
Any Member with a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest in a matter should 
withdraw from the meeting when the matter is under consideration and 
should notify the Democratic Services Officer in attendance that they are 
withdrawing as they have such an interest. If the Disclosable Pecuniary 
Interest is not entered on the register of Members interests the Monitoring 
Officer must be notified of the interest within 28 days. 
 
Any Member with an Affected Interest in a matter must disclose the interest 
to the meeting.  There is no requirement to withdraw from the meeting when 
the interest is only an affected interest, but the Monitoring Officer should be 
notified of the interest, if not previously notified of it, within 28 days of the 
meeting. 

 

4.  Urgent Items of Business   

 Any other items which, pursuant to Section 100B(4)(b) of the Local 
Government Act 1972, the Chairman decides are urgent. 

 

Executive Key Decisions 

The items listed below all relate to Key Executive decisions, unless stated otherwise below. 

5.  CCTV Policy  15 - 36 

 To seek approval of the CCTV Deployment Policy. 

Reporting: Damian James 

 



EMERGENCY EVACUATION INSTRUCTIONS 
If you hear the alarm, leave the building immediately.  Follow the green signs.  Use the stairs 
not the lifts.  Do not re-enter the building until told to do so. 

6.  Investigatory Powers Commissioner's Office (IPCO) Policy  37 - 60 

 To seek approval of the Council’s updated RIPA policy. 

Reporting: Damian James 

 

7.  Digital & IT Strategy 2021-2024  61 - 112 

 To approve the Digital & IT Strategy 2021-2024 

Reporting: Bobby Mulheir 

 

8.  Customer Experience Strategy 2021-2024  113 - 144 

 To approve the Customer Experience Strategy 2021-2024 

Reporting: Bobby Mulheir 

 

9.  Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman Annual Review Letter  145 - 150 

 To provide an overview and commentary on the Local Government and 
Social Care Ombudsman (LGSCO) annual review letter. 

Reporting: Timothy Wheadon  

 

10.  Climate Change Action Plan update  151 - 218 

 To provide an update on progress made reviewing the Council’s climate 
change action plan 

Reporting: Kevin Gibbs 

 

11.  Exclusion of Public and Press   

 To consider the following motion: 
 
That pursuant to Regulation 4 of the Local Authorities (Executive 
Arrangements) (Access to Information) Regulations 2012  and having regard 
to the public interest, members of the public and press be excluded from the 
meeting for the consideration of item 12 which involves the likely disclosure 
of exempt information under the following category of Schedule 12A of the 
Local Government Act 1972: 
 
(3) Information relating to the financial or business affairs of any 

particular person (including the authority holding that information). 
 
NB: No representations were received in response to the 28 day notice of 

a private meeting.  

 

12.  Town Centre Regeneration  219 - 248 

 To consider the arrangements for the appropriation of land in Bracknell Town 
Centre in connection with the regeneration of a number of sites. 

Reporting: Stuart McKellar 

 



EMERGENCY EVACUATION INSTRUCTIONS 
If you hear the alarm, leave the building immediately.  Follow the green signs.  Use the stairs 
not the lifts.  Do not re-enter the building until told to do so. 

Sound recording, photographing, filming and use of social media is permitted.  Please 
contact Hannah Stevenson, 01344 352308, hannah.stevenson@bracknell-forest.gov.uk, so 
that any special arrangements can be made. 

Published: 18 January 2021 



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

EXECUTIVE 
15 DECEMBER 2020 
5.00  - 6.00 PM 

  

Present: 
Councillors Bettison OBE (Chairman), Dr Barnard (Vice-Chairman), D Birch, Brunel-Walker, 
Harrison, Mrs Hayes MBE, Heydon and Turrell 
 

Also Present: 
Councillor Mrs Temperton 

110. Declarations of Interest  

There were no declarations of interest. 

Executive Decisions and Decision Records 

The Executive considered the following items.  The decisions are recorded in the 
decision sheets attached to these minutes and summarised below: 

111. Minutes  

RESOLVED that the minutes of the meeting of the Executive on 10 November 2020 
together with the accompanying decision records be confirmed as a correct record 
and signed by the Leader. 

112. Review of Statement of Licensing Policy  

RESOLVED that the Executive endorse the policy for submission to the Licensing & 
Safety Committee. 

113. Capital Programme 2021/22  

RESOLVED that the Executive: 
 

1 Approves, for consultation, a Council funded capital programme of £12.032m 
for 2021/22 as set out in paragraph 5.19 and summarised in Annex A of the 
Borough Treasurer’s report, including the new schemes listed in Annexes B – 
C of the Borough Treasurer’s report. 

 
2 Approves, for consultation, the inclusion of £5.174 of expenditure to be 

externally funded (including £1.335m of S106 funding) as outlined in 
paragraph 5.20 of the Borough Treasurer’s report.  

 
3 Approves, for consultation, the inclusion of an additional budget of £1m for 

Invest-to-Save schemes. 
 
 
 

5

Agenda Item 2



 

 

114. Revenue Budget 2021/22  

RESOLVED that the Executive: 
 
1  Agree the draft budget proposals for 2021/22 as the basis for consultation 

with the Overview & Scrutiny Commission and other interested parties or 
individuals. 

 
2  Agree the Treasury Management Strategy and associated documents at 

Annexe E of the Borough Treasurer’s report and request that the Governance 
and Audit Committee review each of the key elements. 

 
3  Note that the Capital Strategy published in 2019 remains relevant and does 

not require updating at this time. 
 
4 Agree that the 2021/22 Schools Budget be set at the eventual level of the 

Dedicated School Grant income plus any accumulated DSG balances and 
additional Council funding of £0.253m (paragraph 8.18 of the Borough 
Treasurer’s report). 
 

5  Authorise the Executive Member for Children, Young People and Learning to 
agree the allocation of the sums available for schools funding as set out in 
Resolution 4 (above) having regard to the decisions and recommendations of 
the Schools Forum and to agree detailed budgets for services centrally 
managed by the Council. 
 

6  Agrees that the Council Tax Base be set at 47,624 (Band D equivalents) for 
2021/22 as outlined in Annexe H of the Borough Treasurer’s report. 
 

7  Approve the virements relating to the 2020/21 budget as set out in Annexes F 
and G of the Borough Treasurer’s report and recommends those that are over 
£0.100m for approval by Council. 

115. Council Plan Overview Report  

RESOLVED that the performance of the council over the period from July – 
September 2020 highlighted in the Overview Report in Annex A of the Chief 
Executive’s report. 

CHAIRMAN 

6



 

Bracknell Forest Council 
Record of Decision 

 

Work Programme Reference 
 

I095733 

 
1. TITLE: Review of Statement of Licensing Policy 

 
2. SERVICE AREA: Delivery 

 
3. PURPOSE OF DECISION 

 
Bracknell Forest Council is required to prepare and publish a Statement of Licensing Policy 
every five years in accordance with section 5 of the Licensing Act 2003 (‘the Act’). The 
Bracknell Forest Statement of Licensing Policy must undergo a review and be republished 
by the end of January 2021. 
 
4 IS KEY DECISION Yes 

 
5. DECISION MADE BY: Executive 

 
6. DECISION: 

 
That the Executive endorse the policy for submission to the Licensing & Safety 
Committee. 
 
7. REASON FOR DECISION 

 
The Policy has to be approved by full Council once it has been endorsed by the Executive 
and the Licensing & Safety Committee. 
 
8. ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS CONSIDERED 

 
To comply with the Licensing Act 2003 a statement of Licensing Policy must be published so 
there is no alternative. 
 
9. DOCUMENT CONSIDERED: Report of the Executive Director: Delivery 

 
10. DECLARED CONFLICTS OF INTEREST: None. 

 

Date Decision Made Final Day of Call-in Period 

15 December 2020 22 December 2020 

Minute Annex 

7



This page is intentionally left blank

8



 

Bracknell Forest Council 
Record of Decision 

 

Work Programme Reference 
 

I095240 

 
1. TITLE: Capital Programme 2021/22 

 
2. SERVICE AREA: Resources 

 
3. PURPOSE OF DECISION 

 
To approve the Council’s budget proposals for budget consultation. 
 
4 IS KEY DECISION Yes 

 
5. DECISION MADE BY: Executive 

 
6. DECISION: 

 
RESOLVED that the Executive: 
 

1 Approves, for consultation, a Council funded capital programme of £12.032m for 
2021/22 as set out in paragraph 5.19 and summarised in Annex A of the Borough 
Treasurer’s report, including the new schemes listed in Annexes B – C of the 
Borough Treasurer’s report. 

 
2 Approves, for consultation, the inclusion of £5.174 of expenditure to be externally 

funded (including £1.335m of S106 funding) as outlined in paragraph 5.20 of the 
Borough Treasurer’s report.  

 
3 Approves, for consultation, the inclusion of an additional budget of £1m for Invest-to-

Save schemes. 
 
7. REASON FOR DECISION 

 
The reasons for the recommendations are set out in the report. 
 
8. ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS CONSIDERED 

 
The alternative options are considered in the report. 
 
9. DOCUMENT CONSIDERED: Report of the Director: Resources 

 
10. DECLARED CONFLICTS OF INTEREST: None.  

 

Date Decision Made Final Day of Call-in Period 

15 December 2020 22 December 2020 

9



This page is intentionally left blank

10



 

Bracknell Forest Council 
Record of Decision 

 

Work Programme Reference 
 

I090648 

 
1. TITLE: Revenue Budget 2021/22 

 
2. SERVICE AREA: Resources  

 
3. PURPOSE OF DECISION 

 
To approve the Council's budget proposals for consultation 
 
4 IS KEY DECISION Yes 

 
5. DECISION MADE BY: Executive 

 
6. DECISION: 

 
RESOLVED that the Executive: 
 
1  Agree the draft budget proposals for 2021/22 as the basis for consultation with the 

Overview & Scrutiny Commission and other interested parties or individuals. 
 
2  Agree the Treasury Management Strategy and associated documents at Annexe E of 

the Borough Treasurer’s report and request that the Governance and Audit 
Committee review each of the key elements. 

 
3  Note that the Capital Strategy published in 2019 remains relevant and does not 

require updating at this time. 
 
4 Agree that the 2021/22 Schools Budget be set at the eventual level of the 

Dedicated School Grant income plus any accumulated DSG balances and 
additional Council funding of £0.253m (paragraph 8.18 of the Borough Treasurer’s 
report). 
 

5  Authorise the Executive Member for Children, Young People and Learning to agree 
the allocation of the sums available for schools funding as set out in 
Resolution 4 (above) having regard to the decisions and recommendations of 
the Schools Forum and to agree detailed budgets for services centrally 
managed by the Council. 
 

6  Agrees that the Council Tax Base be set at 47,624 (Band D equivalents) for 
2021/22 as outlined in Annexe H of the Borough Treasurer’s report. 
 

7  Approve the virements relating to the 2020/21 budget as set out in Annexes F and G 
of the Borough Treasurer’s report and recommends those that are over £0.100m for 
approval by Council. 

 
7. REASON FOR DECISION 

 
The recommendations are designed to allow the Executive to consult on its draft budget 
proposals for 2021/22 as required by the Local Government Act 2003. 

11



 

 
8. ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS CONSIDERED 

 
The range of options being considered is included in the Borough Treasurer’s report and its 
Annexes. 
 
9. DOCUMENT CONSIDERED: Report of the Borough Treasurer 

 
10. DECLARED CONFLICTS OF INTEREST:  

 

Date Decision Made Final Day of Call-in Period 

15 December 2020 22 December 2020 

12



 

Bracknell Forest Council 
Record of Decision 

 

Work Programme Reference 
 

I095966 

 
1. TITLE: Council Plan Overview Report 

 
2. SERVICE AREA: Chief Executive's Office 

 
3. PURPOSE OF DECISION 

 
To inform the Executive of the performance of the council for Q2 2020/21 
 
4 IS KEY DECISION No 

 
5. DECISION MADE BY: Executive 

 
6. DECISION: 

 
To note the performance of the council over the period from July - September 
2020 highlighted in the Overview Report in Annex A of the Chief Executive’s report. 
 
7. REASON FOR DECISION 

 
To brief the Executive on the council’s performance, highlighting key areas, so that 
appropriate action can be taken if needed. 
 
8. ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS CONSIDERED 

 
None applicable.  
 
9. DOCUMENT CONSIDERED: Report of the Chief Executive 

 
10. DECLARED CONFLICTS OF INTEREST:  

 

Date Decision Made Final Day of Call-in Period 

15 December 2020 22 December 2020 

13



This page is intentionally left blank

14



 Unrestricted 

TO: EXECUTIVE 
26 January 2021 

  
 

CCTV DEPLOYMENT POLICY  
(Executive Director of Delivery) 

 
1 PURPOSE OF REPORT 
 
1.1 To set out the obligations on the Council with respect to the use of CCTV 
 
1.2 To seek approval of the Executive for the CCTV Policy set out at Appendix A to this 

report 
 
2 RECOMMENDATIONS  
 

That the Executive agrees that: 
 

(a) The policy as set out at Appendix A to this report be approved;  

 

(b) That the Executive Director – Delivery be designated as the Senior 
Responsible Officer for the purpose of oversight of the implementation of 
this policy  

 

(c) That all staff involved in the deployment and management of CCTV 
surveillance systems attend briefing sessions on the Policy at Appendix A.  

 
3 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
3.1 The Council is required to comply with a range of legislation and guidance in its 

deployment and use of CCTV systems including: 
 
       Human Rights Act 1998 article 8 (Right to Privacy) 
                  Data Protection Act 1998  
                  Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 2000  
                  Protection of Freedoms Act 2012 
 
3.2 The recommendations if adopted will bring into being a consolidated code for use 

across the Council when services are considering the deployment of surveillance 
systems.   

  
4 ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS CONSIDERED 
 
4.1 The only alternative is not to adopt the Policy. 
 
5      BACKGROUND 
 

5.1    Elsewhere on this report the Executive received a report setting out the policy position 
with respect to covert directed surveillance. This report deals with the other side of the 
coin namely overt CCTV deployed by the Council.   

 

15

Agenda Item 5



 Unrestricted 

5.2 The Protection of Freedoms Act 2012 requires the Secretary of State to develop and 
publish a Code of Practice on the use of ‘Surveillance Cameras’. In addition the Act 
also appoint a Surveillance Camera Commissioner whose role is to: 

 encourage compliance with the surveillance camera code, 

 review the operation of the code, and 

 provide advice about the code (including changes to it or breaches of it). 

 

5.3 The Act requires that a ‘relevant authority’ must have regard to the Code when 
exercising any functions to which the code relates. For the purpose of the Act a 
‘relevant authority’ includes a local authority. 

   
5.4 The Code sets out the ‘twelve guiding principles’ for use of CCTV surveillance systems 

namely: 
 

1. Use of a surveillance camera system must always be for a specified purpose which 
is in pursuit of a legitimate aim and necessary to meet an identified pressing need.  

2. The use of a surveillance camera system must take into account its effect on 
individuals and their privacy, with regular reviews to ensure its use remains 
justified.  

3. There must be as much transparency in the use of a surveillance camera system 
as possible, including a published contact point for access to information and 
complaints.  

4. There must be clear responsibility and accountability for all surveillance camera 
system activities including images and information collected, held and used. 

5. Clear rules, policies and procedures must be in place before a surveillance camera 
system is used, and these must be communicated to all who need to comply with 
them.  

6. No more images and information should be stored than that which is strictly 
required for the stated purpose of a surveillance camera system, and such images 
and information should be deleted once its purpose has been discharged. 

7. Access to retained images and information should be restricted and there must be 
clearly defined rules on who can gain access and for what purpose such access is 
granted; the disclosure of images and information should only take place when it is 
necessary for such a purpose or for law enforcement purposes. 

8. Surveillance camera system operators should consider any approved operational, 
technical and competency standards relevant to a system and its purpose and 
work to meet and maintain those standards.  

9. Surveillance camera system images and information should be subject to 
appropriate security measures to safeguard against unauthorised access and use. 

10. There should be effective review and audit mechanisms to ensure legal 
requirements, policies and standards are complied with in practice, and regular 
reports should be published. 

11. When the use of a surveillance camera system is in pursuit of a legitimate aim and 
a pressing need, it should then be used in the most effective way to support public 
safety and law enforcement with the aim of processing images and information of 
evidential value. 

16



 Unrestricted 

12. Any information used to support a surveillance camera system which matches 
against a reference database for matching purposes should be accurate and kept 
up to date. 

 
5.5 The Code also needs to be read in conjunction with other relevant codes including the 

Information Commissioners CCTV Code of Practice. As previously stated it does cover 
Covert Surveillance which is covered by the Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 
and related codes. However the distinction between covert and overt surveillance 
needs to be fully understood in order that the correct provisions are applied and that 
one does not stray into the other. For this reason it is desirable to have the same 
Senior Responsible Officer.   

 
5.6 In order to understand the context of the Bracknell Forest Borough Council CCTV 

Policy it needs to be read in conjunction with the Surveillance Camera Code of 
Practice here: 

 
 https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachme

nt_data/file/157901/code-of-practice.pdf 
 
 The Information Commissioners Code of Practice for CCTV can be found here: 
 
 https://ico.org.uk/media/1542/cctv-code-of-practice.pdf 
 
 Bracknell Forest Borough Council and RIPA  
 
5.7 CCTV within a local authority setting is often considered in the context of town centre / 

street level CCTV systems provided for the purpose of crime prevention and detection 
or anti-social behaviour. Bracknell Forest Council does not currently operate a system 
of this nature.   

 

5.8 Nevertheless it does operate a number of permanent and temporary CCTV systems 
across its properties and estate including car parks, leisure, housing and office 
settings. Additionally from time to time additional temporary CCTV may be deployed to 
as part of a response to specific issues such as anti-social behaviour or matters such 
as fly-tipping and enviro-crime.   

 

5.9 These systems are managed on a day to day basis by a variety of different services. 
To this end it is imperative that the Council has a common set of standards and 
principles on deployment of public space surveillance to ensure compliance with a 
range of legislation as set out in 3.0 above and the relevant Codes set out in 5.6 
above. 

 
 Bracknell Forest Borough Council CCTV Policy 
 
5.10 A consolidated CCTV policy for use of across the Council is proposed at Appendix A to 

this report. The Policy is in two parts. Part one deals with the deployment of overt 
CCTV systems, the deployment of automatic number plate recognitions systems and 
CCTV in workplaces. The policy references the ‘twelve guiding principles’ set out in 5.4 
above and how these will apply to deployment of CCTV by the Council. Part 2 of the 
policy deals with data protection and adherence to the Data Protection Act. 

 
5.11 Appendix A of the policy sets out a whole array of deployment and scheme 

management issues including signage, point of contact, access to data by subject 
access request and law enforcement bodies. It also covers accountability, monitoring, 

17

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/157901/code-of-practice.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/157901/code-of-practice.pdf
https://ico.org.uk/media/1542/cctv-code-of-practice.pdf


 Unrestricted 

privacy and disclosure, material management and other relevant matters. The Policy 
needs to be applied in the context of other prevailing policies and in particular those 
relating to data protection and RIPA. 

 
5.12 Appendix B of the policy sets out a deployment form. The form if completed fully takes 

anyone using it through the fundamental considerations when considering the 
deployment of CCTV including the purpose, location, signage and need. Before CCTV 
can be deployed the Executive Director – Delivery as the Senior Responsible Officer. 
Finally there is a consent form for use where CCTV is deployed on others land or 
property. This would be rare but may occur for example in the event of anti-social 
behaviour or where somebody was a targeted or repeat victim of crime. 

 
5.13 If adopted the Policy will need to be implemented across the Council. It is proposed to 

develop a series of briefings for staff who may be involved in the deployment or 
management of CCTV. The content and format of these briefings would be agreed by 
the SRO. 

 
5.14 Finally the SRO will maintain a register of deployments and keep under review the 

deployment and management regime to ensure it complies with prevailing legislation 
and guidance and the Councils Policy.        

 
6 ADVICE RECEIVED FROM STATUTORY AND OTHER OFFICERS 
 

Borough Solicitor 
 
6.1 The legal obligations and required processes and checks and balances appertaining to 

the above recommendations are set out in this report and the Policy at Appendix (A) to 
this Report.      

   
Borough Treasurer 

 
6.2 There are no new financial implications in this report. 
 
  Equalities Impact Assessment 
 
6.3 An equalities screening has been undertaken and confirmed a full assessment was not 

required. 
 
  Strategic Risk Management Issues  
 
6.4 The Council is required to have a CCTV policy if it deploys CCTV. Without this policy 

there is the possibility of CCTV being deployed without the appropriate awareness and 
safeguards being adhered too. 

 
Contacts for further information 
 
Sean Murphy – Public Protection Manager reporting to Damian James, Assistant Director: 
Contract Services 
01635 519930 – sean.murphy@westberks.gov.uk 
 

18



 

 

CCTV Policy  

2020 

 

 
  

19



 

 
2 

Contents 

Purpose                    3 

Introduction                   6 

Part 1 Surveillance                 6 

Part 2 Data Protection Act               9 

Appendix A                   9 

Appendix B                   14  

20



 

 
3 

Purpose 

The purpose of this corporate policy is twofold, firstly it will be to ensure that individuals and the 

wider communities have confidence that surveillance cameras are deployed to protect and support 

them, rather than subject them to surveillance.  

The second purpose is to provide assurance that where Bracknell Forest Borough Council 

operates surveillance cameras, they do so in accordance with the appropriate laws, statutory 

guidance and its own principles. This guide provides guidance on the appropriate and effective 

use of surveillance camera systems and in particular how it meets the requirements of: 

• The Human Rights Act 1998 article 8  (Right to Privacy) 

• the Data Protection Act 1998. (1998 Act) 

• the Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 2000. (2000 Act) 

• the Protection of Freedoms Act 2012. (2012 Act) 

• Information Commissioners CCTV Code of Practice 

• Surveillance Commissioners, Surveillance Camera Code of Practice 

• Data Protection Policy 

• IPCO guidance and processes in relation to the Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act (RIPA) 

Any Service Manager who has the responsibility for a CCTV scheme must have completed the 

‘Deployment Form’ at Appendix B before it becomes operational. This form must be signed by the 

SRO or on his absence the CCTV Operational Lead. If it is an existing deployment at the time this 

policy comes into being, then the deployment from must be completed retrospectively within 6 

months and submitted for approval. 

The purpose of this Policy is to provide guidance to Service Managers on the deployment, 

management, administration and operation of any CCTV system. To enable them to agree and 

publish a system specific Code of Practice for their service area i.e. car parks, public buildings. 

It will assist system owners, management and operators of the systems to understand their legal 

and moral obligations whilst reassuring the public about the safeguards contained within it. 

The System owners (Service Manager) of the CCTV systems shall be required to give a formal 

undertaking through the Annual Assurance review that they comply  with the CCTV Policy and their 

individual deployment criteria and act in good faith with regard to the basic principles contained 

within it. 

The system operator (Service Manager) is responsible for compliance with the requirements of the 

Data Protection Act 2018. 

Any changes to this Code of Practice will be approved by the Executive Director of Delivery as 

Senior Responsible Officer (SRO).  

1.  DEFINITIONS to be used in all system specific Codes of Practice 

1.1   CCTV system means “Surveillance camera systems” has the meaning given by Section 

29(6) of the 2012 Act and is taken to include: 

a. closed circuit television (CCTV) or automatic number plate recognition (ANPR) systems; 

b. any other systems for recording or viewing visual images for surveillance purposes; 

c. any systems for storing, receiving, transmitting, processing or checking the images or 

information obtained by (a) or (b); 

d. any other systems associated with, or otherwise connected with (a), (b) or (c). 

21



 

 
4 

1.2 CCTV scheme shall mean all of the arrangements for closed circuit television in the service 

area and is not limited to the technological system, staff and operational procedures. 

 

1.3 CCTV Code of Practice (service specific) systems means that if Service manager considers 

that there may be a need for a CCTV system, they will need to carry out an assessment 

based upon the two model codes of practice (Information Commissioner and CCTV 

Surveillance Commissioner) and the advice in this  document prior to its installation. 

 

1.4 CCTV Operational Lead Officer means the Public Protection Manager 

 

1.5 Data shall mean all information, including that about a person in the form of pictures, and 

any other associated linked or processed information. 

 

1.6 Data Controller is Bracknell Forest Borough Council who is responsible for determining the 

purposes for which and the manner in which any personal data are, or are about to be 

processed. 

 

1.7 Overt Surveillance (any surveillance that is obvious to the subject) 

 

1.8 Objectives. The overall objective of this policy is to ensure that the Council complies with all 

relevant legislation and to provide support and guidance to System managers so that they 

can undertake Privacy Impact Assessments, Needs Analysis and develop service specific 

CCTV Codes of Practice. This in turn will support the principle that the community at large 

should be satisfied that the public CCTV systems are being used, managed and controlled 

in a responsible and accountable manner. 

 

1.9 Personal Data means data which relates to a living individual who can be identified: 

• From that data, or 

• From that data and other information which is in the possession of or is likely to come 

into the possession of, the data controller. 

1.10 Public place has the meaning given by Section 16(b) of the Public Order Act 1986  and is 

taken to include any highway and any place to which at the material time the  public or any 

section of the public has access, on payment or otherwise, as of right  or by virtue of 

express or implied permission. 

 

1.11 Processing means obtaining, processing, recording, deleting or holding the information or 

data or carrying out any operation or set of operations on the  information or data. The full 

definition is explained in Part 1, Section 1 of the Data Protection Act 19981. 
1
 www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1998/29/section/1  

 Retrieval System means the capability, in any medium, of effectively capturing 

data that can be retrieved, viewed or processed. 

 Senior Responsible Officer (SRO) means the Executive Director - Delivery 

 Sensitive Personal Data is personal data which is deemed to be sensitive in 

clause 2 of the Data Protection Act 1998. For example;  

(i) the commission or alleged commission of any offences 

(ii) any proceedings for any offence committed or alleged to have been committed, the 

disposal of such proceedings or the sentence of any court in such proceedings 

22



 

 
5 

1.12 System Operators are Service managers. 

 

1.13 Recording Material means any medium that has the capacity to store data and from which 

data can later be recalled irrespective of time. 

 

1.14 Roles and Responsibilities (to be defined within all system specific Codes of  practice) 

 

1.15 The System Owner (service manager), shall be responsible for the system code of practice 

covering the effective management and public relations of the scheme in respect of the 

operation within their service area. 

 

1.16 They shall produce a code of practice for their CCTV system and be responsible for  its 

implementation. This shall be carried out in consultation with users of the system and 

provide for the release of information relating to the operation of it. Any complaints will be 

dealt with in line with the agreed corporate complaints policy and procedure. 

 

1.17 The System Manager (may also be the Service manager) or designated member of staff 

should undertake regular reviews of the documented procedures to ensure that the 

provisions of this Code are being complied with. The System Manager should complete the 

deployment form. At all times the Systems Manager retains responsibility for the 

implementation of procedures to ensure that the system operates according to the 

purposes for which it was installed and in accordance with the objectives identified for the 

system. The System Manager shall also ensure that on a day-to-day basis all equipment is 

working correctly and that all staff comply with the Code of Practice and any procedures. 

 

1.18 Operators - The system will be utilised according to operational needs and the operators of 

the system will be authorized staff employed at the specific location. Operators will be 

responsible for complying with the code of practice and procedural manual. They have a 

responsibility to respect the privacy of the individual, understand and comply with the 

objectives of the scheme. The information recorded must be accurate, adequate and 

relevant to the purpose of the scheme. 

 

1.19 Users – System Users are all those people who legitimately have access to recorded data 

and equipment but are not covered within the other defined roles and responsibility sections 

of this policy. 

 

1.20 Audit - Regular Internal audits will check the operation of the scheme and the compliance 

with the code of practice. It will consider the following: 

• The level of attainment of objectives and procedures 

• Random audits of the data log and release of information 

• Standard costs for the release of viewing of material 

• The complaints procedure 

Introduction 

1.21 Camera systems are deployed within Bracknell Forest Borough Council; these systems are 

valuable tools which contribute to public safety and security and in protecting both people 

and property. 

23



 

 
6 

1.22 Bracknell Forest Borough Council supports the individual’s right to privacy and will insist 

that all agencies involved in the provision and use of public CCTV systems owned by the 

Council accept this fundamental principle as being paramount. 

1.23 In addition to the need to manage the system correctly for its intended purpose the 

Council also has to ensure that it complies with the requirements of the Data  Protection 

Act 1998 

Part 1 Surveillance 

The use of the CCTV and ANPR systems for Overt Surveillance 

1.24   Bracknell Forest Borough Council understand the need to achieve an appropriate balance 

between public protection and individual privacy. 

Guiding Principles 

1.25  The Surveillance Camera Commissioner code sets out guiding principles that should apply 

to all surveillance camera systems in public places. Bracknell Forest Borough Council have 

adopted these principles in full to provide a framework for its system  operators and users 

of surveillance camera systems so that there is proportionality and transparency in their use 

of surveillance, and systems are capable of providing good quality images and other 

information which are fit for purpose. 

The Surveillance Commissioners, Surveillance Camera Code of practice which helps 

system operators consider the guiding principles. 

   The 12 guiding principles are: 

1. Use of a surveillance camera system must always be for a specified purpose which is 

in pursuit of a legitimate aim and necessary to meet an identified pressing need. 

2. The use of a surveillance camera system must take into account its effect on 

individuals and their privacy, with regular reviews to ensure its use remains justified. 

3. There must be as much transparency in the use of a surveillance camera system as 

possible, including a published contact point for access to information and complaints. 

4. There must be clear responsibility and accountability for all surveillance camera system 

activities including images and information collected, held and used. 

5. Clear rules, policies and procedures must be in place before a surveillance camera 

system is used, and these must be communicated to all who need to comply with them. 

6. No more images and information should be stored than that which is strictly required for 

the stated purpose of a surveillance camera system, and such images and information 

should be deleted once their purposes have been discharged. 

7. Access to retained images and information should be restricted and there must be 

clearly defined rules on who can gain access and for what purpose such access is 

granted; the disclosure of images and information should only take place when it is 

necessary for such a purpose or for law enforcement purposes. 

8. Surveillance camera system operators should consider any approved operational, 

technical and competency standards relevant to a system and its purpose and work to 

meet and maintain those standards. 

24



 

 
7 

9. Surveillance camera system images and information should be subject to appropriate 
security measures to safeguard against unauthorised access and use. 

10. There should be effective review and audit mechanisms to ensure legal requirements, 

policies and standards are complied with in practice, and regular reports should be 

published. 

11. When the use of a surveillance camera system is in pursuit of a legitimate aim, and 

there is a pressing need for its use, it should then be used in the most effective way to 

support public safety and law enforcement with the aim of processing images and 

information of  evidential value. 

12. Any information used to support a surveillance camera system which compares against 

a reference database for matching purposes should be accurate and kept up to date. 

The use of the CCTV and Automated Number Plate Recognition (ANPR)  systems for 

covert surveillance 

1.26  Covert Surveillance by public authorities (as defined in Part II of the 2000 Act) is not 

covered by this code but is regulated by the 2000 Act. and the Councils RIPA Policy. 

1.27 Any such covert use of private systems by or on behalf of a public authority (with the 

authority’s knowledge) immediately places such use within the bounds of the 2000 Act. 

1.28 Should there be a need to consider the use of the system for covert purposes then advice 

must be sought from the Public Protection Manager as defined in the BFBC RIPA Policy. 

The use of ANPR system in general 

1.29 The Council uses ANPR systems within some of its car parks. 

1.30 The use of technologies such as ANPR that rely on the accuracy of information generated 

elsewhere such as databases provided by others should not be introduced without regular 

assessment to ensure the underlying data is fit for purpose. 

1.31 The system operator will have a clear policy to determine the inclusion of a vehicle 

registration number or a known individual’s details on the reference database associated 

with such technology. A system operator should ensure that reference data is not retained 

for longer than necessary to fulfil the purpose for which it was originally added to a 

database. 

1.32 There may be occasions when the inclusion of information about an individual in a 

reference database with the intention of undertaking surveillance can be considered as 

Covert Surveillance and thus fall with the bounds of the 2000 Act. 

1.33 Where the system is operated by a third party on behalf of the council, the System Owner 

will ensure that all of the measures that would be applied to system operated by it are 

applied. Compliance will be monitored by Internal Audit. 

CCTV in the workplace 

1.34 When you install CCTV in a workplace, such as an office, it is likely to capture pictures of 

employees, even if they are not the main subject of surveillance. If the purpose of the 

CCTV is solely to prevent and detect crime, then you should not use it for monitoring the 

amount of work done or compliance with company procedures. 

25



 

 
8 

1.35 You may get requests to disclose information captured by the CCTV system from 

employees or HR because of on-going disciplinary action, disclosure should only be made 

if this is consistent with the registered purpose for the system. Any request for the 

disclosure of information should be made to the Data Protection Officer on the approved 

Subject Access request form 

1.36 In some cases, it may be appropriate to install CCTV specifically for workforce monitoring. 

You should go through the decision-making process in section 4 of the Information 

Commissioners code, take advice from the Data Protection Officer and consider whether it 

is justified. In particular, consider whether better training or greater supervision would be a 

more appropriate solution 

1.37 Any overt monitoring of any employee using CCTV can only be done with the consent of 

the Executive Director within whose service area the employee is based and after 

consultation with the Head of HR.  

1.38 The covert monitoring of employees must not take place unless it has been specifically 

authorised in advance using the codes of practice, guidance and procedures under The 

Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 2000 

Part 2 Data Protection Act 

1.39   If System Operators have followed the advice of the Surveillance Commissioners 

surveillance camera code of practice, then many of the issues relating to privacy and data 

protection will already have been covered. 

1.40   However, System Operators also need to have taken into account how they are going to 

store, collect, share, manage and protect the data that it has collected. 

1.41   This Information Commissioners office (ICO) code of practice provides good practice 

advice for those involved in operating CCTV and other devices which view or record 

images of individuals. It also covers other information derived from those images that 

relates to individuals (for example vehicle registration marks). The information 

Commissioners Office provides a checklist to help you assess the need and operation of 

any CCTV system 

1.41   The DPA not only creates obligations for organisations, it also gives individuals rights, such 

as the right to gain access to their details and to claim compensation when they suffer 

damage. 

1.42   The basic legal requirement is to comply with the DPA itself. To support this right to 

privacy the Council agreed a Data Protection Policy that provides guidance and advice on 

the collection, storage and management of data. This applies equally to any data 

collected through CCTV systems 

1.43   This code sets out the Information Commissioner’s recommendations by following them it 

will: help ensure that those capturing images of individuals comply with the  DPA; mean 

that the images that are captured are usable; and reassure those whose  images are 

being captured. 

The Information Commissioners Office provides a checklist to help you assess the need 

and operation of any CCTV system  

  

26



 

 
9 

Appendix A: 

The Systems Code of practice should include information on; 

1.1.   Management of the schemes 

1.2.   A risk assessment must be carried out to assess the need and requirements of CCTV 

systems within individual service locations. The cameras must therefore be sited to capture 

images which are relevant to the purposes for which the schemes have been established. 

This risk assessment is reviewed on an annual basis by Service Managers. 

1.3.   Details of the cameras that have been sited to capture images which are relevant to the 

purpose for which the scheme has been established. 

1.4.   Details of how the scheme will be operated fairly, within the applicable law and only for the 

purposes for which it is established, or which are subsequently agreed in accordance with 

the Code of Practice. 

1.5.   The owners, users and any visitors to the control, monitoring and recording facilities will be 

required to sign a formal confidentiality declaration that they will treat any viewed and/or 

written material as being strictly confidential and that they undertake not to divulge it to any 

other person. 

1.6.   Those who have authorised access are aware of the purpose(s) for which the  scheme has 

been established and that the CCTV equipment is only used to achieve the identified 

purposes. 

1.7.   Scheme and Signage 

1.8.   The CCTV scheme aims to provide surveillance of the public areas within the specified 

location, in order to fulfil the purposes of the scheme. The area protected by CCTV will be 

indicated by the presence of signs. The signs will be placed so that the public are aware 

before they enter a zone which is covered by surveillance equipment. The signs will state 

the organisation responsible for the scheme, the purposes of the scheme and a contact 

telephone number. 

1.9.   Data will not be held for longer than necessary and disposal of information will in 

accordance with retention schedules and disposal policies. It is important that disposal 

of records happens as part of a managed process and is adequately documented 

within the service document retention schedule. 

1.10.  Point of contact 

1.11.  Any scheme Code of Practice should inform the public on how to make contact with the 

owners of the scheme it should specify the location of the equipment e.g. Market  Street 

Car Park and who to write to for additional information. 

1.12.  Release of information to the public 

1.13.  Information can be released to justifiable third parties who can show legitimate  reasons for 

access. They will be required to request any information with reasons  in writing and identify 

themselves. Information will be released if the reasons are deemed acceptable and 

complies with the principles of the Data Protection Act. 

1.14.  Individuals may request in writing to view information concerning them held on record 

in accordance with the Data Protection Act 1998. System managers will need to 

27



 

 
1

0 

consider if there are any other third parties within the images being requested and 

consider redacting any third part data 

1.15.  Release of information to statutory prosecuting bodies 

1.16.  The policy is to assist statutory prosecuting bodies such as the Police, and statutory 

authorities with powers to prosecute and facilitate the legitimate use of the  information 

derived from the scheme. Service managers need to ensure that any system will meet the 

requirements of any prosecuting body i.e. HD quality cameras. 

1.17.  Statutory bodies may have access to information permitted for disclosure on application to 

the System Owner or the System Manager; these applications must be in writing, provide 

the reasons, statement of purpose and meet the requirements of the Data protection 

Action. 

1.18.  System Registration 

1.19.  The Council is registered with the Information Commissioner‘s Office (ICO) to   process 

personal data, and it is the responsibility of service managers to ensure that  this is kept up 

to date in respect of their service area. Any new schemes and  amendments to a scheme 

that result in the need to update the ICO register must be forwarded to Data Protection 

Officer / Information Management and Security Lawyer . 

1.20.  Accountability 

1.21.  Bracknell Forest Borough Council supports the principle that the community at large should 

be satisfied that the public CCTV systems are being used, managed and  controlled in a 

responsible and accountable manner and that in order to meet this  objective there will be 

independent assessment and scrutiny. 

1.22.  Complaints - A member of the public wishing to make a complaint about the system may do 

so through the Bracknell Forest Borough Council complaints procedure.  This can be found 

here iso@bracknell-forest.gov.uk  

1.23.  Codes of Practice - A copy of the Code of Practice will be made available to anyone on 

request by contacting the CCTV system owner i.e. the Service Manager for that  specific 

system. 

1.24.  CCTV Equipment Monitoring Areas 

1.25.  Access to the monitoring and recording areas will be strictly controlled. 

1.26.  The System Manager or in his/her absence the Deputy, is authorised to determine who has 

access to the monitoring area. This will normally be: 

• Authorised Personnel 

• Police officers requiring to view a particular incident, or intelligence or   evidential 

purposes. These visits will take place by prior appointment. 

• Engineers and cleaning staff (These people will receive supervision throughout their 

visit) 

1.27 Inspectors/Auditors may visit the monitoring and recording facility without prior appointment. 

1.28 All visitors to the monitoring and recording area, including Police Officers, will  be required 

to sign a declaration of confidentiality. 

28



 

 
1

1 

1.29. Observation and recording of incidents 

1.30.  Recording will be throughout the 24 hour period. The system will be monitored on the basis 

of operational necessity. 

1.31. Access to recorded images 

1.32.  Access to recorded images will be restricted to the manager or designated member of staff 

who will decide whether to allow requests for access by third parties in  accordance with the 

disclosure policy. Those requests must be in writing on the Subject Access request form. 

See paragraph 1.42 in relation to requests made by employees. 

1.34. Privacy And Disclosure Issues 

1.35.  The following principles must be adhered to: 

1.36.  All employees will be aware of the restrictions set out in this Code of Practice in  relation to 

access to, and disclosure of, recorded images 

1.37.  Images not required for the purposes of the scheme will not be retained longer than 

necessary 

1.38.  Monitors displaying images from areas in which individuals would have an  expectation of 

privacy will not be viewed by anyone other than authorised persons 

1.39.  Recorded material will only be used for the purposes defined in the objectives and policy 

1.40.  Access to recorded material will be in accordance with policy and procedures 

1.41.  Information will not be disclosed for commercial purposes and entertainment purposes 

1.42.  All access to the medium on which the images are recorded will be documented 

1.43.  Access to recorded images will be restricted to those staff who need to have  access in 

order to achieve the purpose(s) of using the equipment 

1.44.  Viewing of the recorded images should, where possible take place in a restricted area. 

1.45.  Recorded Material Management 

1.46.  Images that are not required for the purpose(s) for which the equipment is being used will 

not be retained for longer than is necessary. The detail as to how long data should be held 

will be defined within the service retention schedule. While images are retained access to 

and security of the images will be controlled in accordance with the requirements of the 

Data Protection Act. 

1.47.  Recorded material should be of high quality. In order for recorded material to be admissible 

in evidence total integrity and continuity must be maintained at all times. 

1.48.  Security measures will be taken to prevent unauthorised access to, alteration, disclosure, 

accidental loss or destruction of recorded material. 

1.49.  Recorded material will not be released to organisations outside the ownership of the 

system other than for training purposes or under the guidelines referred to  previously. 

1.50.  Images retained for evidential purposes will be retained in a secure place where access is 

controlled. 

29



 

 
1

2 

1.51.  The system records features such as the location of the camera and/or date and time 

reference and documented procedures are in place for ensuring accuracy. 

1.52.  Quality, in order to ensure that clear images are recorded at all times the equipment for 

making recordings will be maintained in good working order with regular  servicing in 

accordance with the manufacturer’s instructions. 

1.53. Recorded Material Register 

1.54.  There will be a register documenting the access to recorded media. 

1.55. Documentation 

1.56.  Log books must be sequential in order that pages or entries cannot be removed and  full 

and accurate records kept. 

1.57.  The following Administrative documents shall be maintained: 

• media tracking register 

• occurrence/incident book 

• visitors register 

• maintenance of equipment, whether routine or breakdown • list of installed 

equipment 

30



 CCTV Form  

 1

3 

Appendix B 

REQUEST FOR DEPLOYMENT OF 

CCTV in Bracknell Forest Borough Council 

Applicant’s Name   

Organisation/ Service 

Name and Address  

 

Tel. No.   

Email Address   

I request the deployment of the  CCTV  as follows: 

1. Purpose and Objectives (please specify the nature of the problem, what you hope to 

achieve and how the equipment will assist) 

31



 CCTV Form  

 1

4 

 2. Surveillance Area/Location 

Please provide details of the location of the problem/area to be observed (not where the 

camera is going to be situated). Please attach a map if appropriate. 

 

 3. Evidence of the Need for Deployment 

Please provide details of why the deployment of a camera is necessary and what will happen 

top any footage that is recorded onto tape (attach additional pages if necessary) 

 

 Signed………………………………………………….   Print Name…………………………………………………  

Date……………………………………………………..  

This form should be returned to:  

Kevin Gibbs - Executive Director / Senior Responsible Officer  

Email: kevin.gibbs@bracknell-forest.gov.uk 

FEASIBILITY STUDY AND RISK ASSESMENT  

Site visited by:  (Block capitals)  

Date of visit:   

Type of Location (Tick all that apply)  

Residential area   Shops/Retail/Commercial   

Highway   Industrial Site   

Rural area   Urban Area   

Public/communal space   Other   

If ‘Other’, please specify:  

32



 CCTV Form  

 1

5 

Availability of Camera Mounting Positions  

Building/Property   Street Furniture   

Vehicle   Other   

If ‘Other’, please specify:  

Any potential problems with the camera mounting position? (Please specify)  

NB: If a lighting column is to be used as a camera mounting, please note it’s number and check it’s suitability 

with BFC Highways 

Signage  

Number of signs that will be required:   

Safety Considerations  

Each of the following should be considered. Please tick any safety considerations that may be of concern.  

Height of camera location   Soft ground/verges   

Road traffic   Electrical supply   

Overhead power cables   Likelihood of harassment   

Uneven ground   Security – mounting position   

Is there natural surveillance?   Is there multi-camera 

surveillance?  

 

Are there any other safety considerations? If so, please specify:  

I certify that I have visited the site stated and confirm the findings as stated above:  

Signed………………………………………………………………...    Position………………………………………………………………..   

33



 CCTV Form  

 1

6 

DECLARATION FORM  

To be completed by each person providing their consent for CCTV (MBC) to be sited at their property as an 

observation point.  

I have been informed about the use of Bracknell Forest Borough Council CCTV System, for which my property 

can provide an Observation Point. The possible consequences of using my property as an Observation Point 

have been explained to me. I agree to give my consent for my property (details as provided below) to be used 

for this purpose.  

I indemnify, release and discharge the Council/Contractor from and against any expense, liability, claim or 

proceedings whatsoever in respect of any property or any personal injury to the land owner, their tenants, 

invitees or any other residents of the property arising out of the carrying out of the service. I shall give the  

Council/Contractor or a representative of the Council/Contractor access to the property to perform the service.  

Name  Address (and home address if 

different)  

Signature  Date  

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

 CCTV COMMUNITY SAFETY UNIT SURVEILLANCE  

34



 CCTV Form  

 1

7 

AUTHORITY  

A request for  CCTV Deployment has been received and considered by the Community Safety Team in 

accordance with the procedures described within this Protocol.  

Applicant’s Name  
 

Surveillance Area/Location  
 

We, the undersigned, hereby authorise/refuse authority* for the deployment of the Bracknell Forest Borough 

Council CCTV System as requested by the applicant above.  

*delete as appropriate 

Head of Community Safety 

Manager (or delegated deputy)  
Name  

Signature  

Date  

Where the authorisation is granted The 

deployment period will be:  

Start date   

End date*   

*Not more than three calendar months. 

Scheduled review date:   

35



This page is intentionally left blank



 Unrestricted 

TO: EXECUTIVE 
26 January 2021 

  
 

REGULATION OF INVESTIGATORY POWERS ACT 2000 – COUNCIL POLICY 
(Executive Director of Delivery) 

 
1 PURPOSE OF REPORT 
 
1.1 To set out the obligations on the Council with respect to the Regulation of Investigatory 

Powers Act 2000. (RIPA)  
 
1.2 To seek approval of the Executive for the updated RIPA policy.   

 
1.3 To receive an update on the latest audit conducted by the Investigatory Powers 

Commissioners Office 
 

2 RECOMMENDATIONS  
 

That the Executive agrees that: 
 

(a) The updated policy as set out at Appendix A to this report be approved; 

 

(b) That Members are briefed on the content, purpose and application of the 
RIPA; 

 

(c) That the post-holders identified in the Policy be designated as ‘Authorising 
Officers’ as set out. 

 
3 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
3.1 The Council is required by the statutory codes of practice issued under the Regulation 

of investigatory Powers Act 2002 to have an approved policy for the control and 
application of RIPA provision across the functions of the Council.        

  
4 ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS CONSIDERED 
 
4.1 The only alternative is not to take adopt the updated Policy. 
 
5       BACKGROUND 
 

5.1    The purpose of the surveillance powers under RIPA is often misunderstood by the 
media and consequently the public. Covert directed surveillance has always been an 
intrinsic part of certain types of investigation. There are times when the only way vital 
evidence can be secured is through this route or through accessing either 
communications data or the use of Covert Human Intelligence Sources (CHIS). 

 
5.2 Article 8 of the European Convention on Human Rights sets out the principle of the 

‘right to privacy. Following the enactment of the Human Right Act (HRA) 1998 this right 
has been an embedded in UK law. This applies to personal affairs which includes 
those relating to their business. The ‘right to privacy’ is a ‘qualified right’ i.e. in certain 
circumstances that right may be breached in a wider public interest.  The purpose of 
RIPA is to provide a framework under which specified public bodies may carry out 

37

Agenda Item 6



 Unrestricted 

directed surveillance in a highly controlled and regulated manner. Without this 
statutory exemption the use of surveillance could give rise to a claim for breach of the 
HRA. 

5.3 Certain powers under the Act are restricted to certain government agencies. Local 
authorities as specified public bodies do have access to a number of powers 
appertaining to Direct Surveillance, communications data (not to be confused with 
communications interference) and the use of Covert Human Intelligence Sources 
(CHIS). Surveillance powers can only be accessed by local authorities for the purpose 
of ‘prevention and detection of crime and the prevention of disorder’ and are subject to 
both internal oversight through specifically trained authorising officers and then 
ultimately judicial oversight by the Magistrates Court. Communications data can only 
be accessed through a single point of contact (SPOC) who in the case of local 
authorities is the National Anti-Fraud Network (NAFN) who are subject to a strict 
inspection regime. 

 
5.4 Underpinning the primary and secondary legislation is a series of statutory ‘codes of 

practice’ that deal with matters of process as well as providing more detailed 
explanation as to the application of the two fundamental tests that lie at the heart of 
any directed surveillance authorisation, namely ‘necessity’ and ‘proportionality’. These 
are fundamental concepts that need to be understood by those overseeing the 
application of the Act and those whose roles may cross into the realms of surveillance.        

 
5.5 At a national level there is a statutory inspection body in the form of the Investigatory 

Powers Commissioners Office who require annual returns from public authorities as 
well as providing for an inspection regime of public bodies including local authorities. 
Bracknell Forest Council’s most recent inspection was conducted in December 2019. 
At local level, scrutiny and oversight rests with the designated ‘Senior Responsible 
Officer’ who is currently the Executive Director for Delivery. The SRO provides day to 
day oversight and in turn is accountable to the Council for oversight of surveillance 
activity.        

 Bracknell Forest Borough Council and RIPA  
 
5.6 In addition to carrying out inspections and audits the Investigatory Powers 

Commissioners Office also issues comprehensive guidance to public bodies including 
local authorities on the interpretation of matters ascertaining to surveillance. One area 
highlighted by IPCO both in guidance and in targeted in inspections relates to 
monitoring of social media accounts.  

 

5.7 Given the concerns around social media a number of briefings were held in the spring 
of 2019 for senior managers including CMT. This was then followed up by the 
development of a short course delivered through the Council’s e-learning package 
which was made available to all staff who may need an understanding of RIPA and the 
social media issues. This course has been completed by 128 staff to date. A 
recommendation in this report is to brief Members on the content, purpose and 
application of the RIPA in their role as community leaders. 

 

5.8 Staff whose work may require a much greater understanding of RIPA (primarily those 
within the Public Protection Service) are required to undertake structured training in 
order that they can carry out assessments to determine whether or not they need to 
make an application for either a surveillance authorisation or communications data 
application. Authorising Officers are required to undertake training before authorising 
any applications and to have refresher / update training at least every three years.  

 

38



 Unrestricted 

5.9 It has been agreed with the IPCO, that where surveillance powers are used by staff 
from the Public Protection Service, that they would be reported on a West Berkshire 
Council return as the staff, although acting for all three councils in the partnership, are 
employed by West Berkshire. Examples of where surveillance has been used by the 
Public Protection Service include in relation to investigations into car dealers, sale of 
counterfeit goods on-line and the on-line offering of unlicensed waste services. 
Communication data (primarily subscriber and billing data) is used from time to time to 
support fraud and unfair trading investigations into matters such as doorstep crime.    

  
5.10 Bracknell Forest Borough Council has not issued any authorisations for surveillance 

since the formation of the Public Protection shared service but nevertheless must have 
a policy in place and maintain oversight of all risks within the authority hence the work 
around social media.   

 
 The 2019 IPCO Audit   
 
5.11 The Council was audited by IPCO in December 2019. Ahead of that audit IPCO were 

presented with a draft of the updated policy that is before the Executive today. In short 
the audit found that: 

 

 The work undertaken by the Council to raise awareness of the social media 
surveillance issues was ‘reassuring’; 

 The draft RIPA policy was ‘accurate, succinct and easy to digest’.  

 The message on the importance of regular oversight through the SRO should 
be re-enforced along with the need for regular training; 

 
 Some minor amendments were suggested and these have been incorporated into the 

draft policy before the Executive today. Authorising Officer training due to be 
conducted earlier this year had to be cancelled due to Covid. It is now taking place in 
February 2021. Throughout this time the Council has had adequate cover through the 
Public Protection Manager.   

 
Bracknell Forest Borough Council – Proposed RIPA Policy  

 
5.12 The Council last considered its RIPA policy in 2014. The draft policy before the 

Executive today is a fundamental update of the previous policy taking account of all 
current codes of practice, IPCO guidance and the feedback from the December 2019 
IPCO audit findings.  Fundamentally the document is a framework for how surveillance 
will be managed within the Council and who is responsible for oversight of the various 
aspects. The proposed policy is at Appendix A to this report.  

 
5.13  It is a detailed document but the key aspects deal with: 
 

 The need for authorisations 

 The necessity and proportionality tests 

 The authorisation process including review, cancellation and reporting 

 The role of the SRO and internal oversight 

 Identification of Authorising Officers 
 

Significantly there is also a whole new section at Appendix C that deals with the issue 
of social media.   

 
6 ADVICE RECEIVED FROM STATUTORY AND OTHER OFFICERS 
 

39



 Unrestricted 

Borough Solicitor 
 
6.1  The legal obligations and required processes and checks and balances appertaining 

to the above recommendations are set out in this report and the Policy at Appendix (A) 
to this Report.     

   
Borough Treasurer 

 
6.2 There are no new financial implications in this report. 
 
  Equalities Impact Assessment 
 
6.3 An equalities screening has been undertaken and confirmed a full assessment was not 

required 
 
  Strategic Risk Management Issues  
 
6.4 The Council is required to have a RIPA policy. Without this policy there is the 

possibility of RIPA being used by Council employees without the appropriate 
awareness and safeguards being adhered too. 

 
Contacts for further information 
 
Sean Murphy – Public Protection Manager reporting to Damian James, Assistant Director: 
Contract Services 
01635 519930 – sean.murphy@westberks.gov.uk 
 

40



 

 

  

  

Policy on Directed Surveillance and use of Covert 

Human Intelligence Sources 

  

  

 

  

  

VERSION  Version  6 

DATE AGREED  October 2014  

NEXT REVIEW DATE  October 2021 

AGREED BY  Individual Officer Decision 

  

  

COVERAGE  This Policy applies to service areas 
within Bracknell Forest  
Council  

AUTHOR(S)  Borough Solicitor and Assistant  

Solicitor - Information  

Management and Corporate  

Governance  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

 

 

 

  

41



  2  

AMMENDMENT SHEET 

  

Amendment 

Number  

Details  Amended By  Date  

Version 1  Policy 31.8.04 

updated 11.12.06   

  December 2006 

Version 2   Updated  Alex Jack –  

Borough  

Solicitor  

Nicola  

Thurloway –  
Assistant  
Solicitor  

March 2010  

Version 3  Updated in 
accordance with 
Revised  
Code of  

Practice   

Alex Jack –  

Borough  

Solicitor  

Nicola  

Thurloway –  
Assistant  
Solicitor  

April 2011  

Version 4  Updated to take into 
account recent law 
including Protection 
of Freedoms Act 
and various 
Statutory 
Instruments and 
Home  
Office guidance    

Alex Jack- Borough  
Solicitor Nicola  

Thoday –  

Assistant  

Solicitor   

November 2012   

Version 5  Updated to take 
account of the 
Inspector’s Report 
of the  
13 March 2014   

Alex Jack  

Borough  

Solicitor and  

Anthony  

Igbiniyesu – Senior 

Solicitor   

 March 2014 

 Version 6  Reviewed as part of 

annual review 

process 

Kevin Gibbs – 

Executive Director 

of Delivery, Sean 

Murphy - Public 

Protection Manager 

 November 2019 

 Version 7 Executive approval 

for annual update  

Kevin Gibbs – 

Executive Director 

of Delivery, Sean 

Murphy - Public 

Protection Manager 

 January 2021 

  

  

  

 

42



  3  

POLICY ON DIRECTED SURVEILLANCE  

AND USE OF COVERT HUMAN INTELLIGENCE SOURCES  

  

1.        INTRODUCTION  

  

1.1  In some circumstances it may be necessary for Council employees in the course of their 

duties to make observations of persons in a covert manner (i.e. carried out in a manner 

calculated to ensure that the persons subject to the surveillance are unaware that it is or 

may be taking place) or to use covert human intelligence sources.  By its very nature, that 

sort of action is potentially intrusive and could expose the Council to a legal challenge as a 

potential breach of Article 8 of the European Convention of Human Rights, which 

establishes a “right to respect for private and family life home and correspondence”, 

incorporated into English Law by the Human Rights Act 1998.  Also, there is a risk that if 

covert surveillance and covert human intelligence sources are not conducted properly the 

evidence obtained may be held to be inadmissible in court on the basis that it is unfair to use 

it as it was gathered contrary to Article 8 – right to privacy and infringes the defendants right 

to a fair trial as guaranteed by Article 6 – right to fair trial.  

  

2.        OBJECTIVE  

  

2.1 The objective of this policy is to ensure that all covert surveillance carried out by Council 

employees including any involving covert human intelligence sources is carried out in 

accordance with the law.   

  

2.2 Indeed RIPA recognises the Council’s right to infringe an individual’s right to privacy where 

any covert surveillance can be shown to be both necessary and proportionate and where it 

has been authorised by an appropriately designated officer within the organisation. Thus, it 

is important to note that the requirements of RIPA provide protection for both the Council 

and the individual officers involved and should not be viewed as a mere exercise in 

bureaucracy  

  

2.3 When carrying out such surveillance or using such sources officers should also bear in mind 

the Codes of Practice on Covert Surveillance and the Code of Practice on Human 

Intelligence Sources issued by the Home Office.  

  

3.         SCOPE AND DEFINITIONS  

  

3.1  This policy applies in all cases where “directed surveillance” is being planned or carried out 

and “covert human intelligence sources” are used or planned to be used.  

  

3.2  Directed surveillance is defined as surveillance which is covert, but not “intrusive” and 

undertaken:  

  

 for the purposes of a specific investigation or specific operation  

 in such a manner as is likely to result in the obtaining of private information about a 

person (whether or not the person is specifically identified for the purposes of the 

investigation or operation).  

  

43



  4  

3.3 Directed surveillance does not include surveillance which is an immediate response to 

events or circumstances where it is not reasonably practicable to obtain an authorisation as 

set out in this Policy.    

  

3.4 Directed surveillance does not include intrusive surveillance. Surveillance becomes intrusive 

if the covert surveillance is carried out in relation to anything taking place on any residential 

premises or in a private vehicle and involves the presence of an individual or surveillance 

device on the premises or in the vehicle.  The Council does not have the power or ability to 

authorise intrusive surveillance.  

  

3.5  To fall within the meaning “use of a covert human intelligence source” there must;  

  

 be a source, and   

 the use of that source must be covert  

  

A person is a “source” if they establish or maintain a personal or other relationship with 

someone else for the covert purpose of; 

  

 using the relationship to obtain information or to provide access to any information to 

another person, or  

 covertly disclosing information obtained by the use of or as a consequence of the 

existence of such a relationship  

  

3.6 In everyday language a “source” is an informant or officer working undercover.  The other 

party to the relationship with the source must be unaware of the use or disclosure of 

information obtained as a result of the relationship.  

  

4.         NEED FOR AUTHORISATION AND JUDICIAL APPROVAL   

  

4.1  Whenever it is proposed to conduct directed surveillance or to use a covert human 

intelligence source an authorisation should be sought under Part II of the Regulation of 

Investigatory Powers Act 2000. The authorisation does not take effect until such time (if any) 

as the Magistrate has made an order approving it   

  

5.        GENERAL RULES OF AUTHORISATIONS  

  

Necessity and Proportionality 

 

5.1  An authorisation should not be granted unless the directed surveillance/use of covert human 

intelligence source is both necessary and proportionate.  

  

5.2 In terms of necessity, the directed surveillance/use of covert human intelligence source 

must be considered to be necessary to the operation on the following grounds;  

  

 for the purpose of preventing or detecting conduct which constitutes one or more 

criminal offences   

  

AND   

  

44



  5  

 the offence is punishable by a maximum term of at least 6 months of imprisonment (this 

applies only to direct surveillance and not CHIS)  

  

Or   

  

 is an offence under;   

- section 146 of the Licensing Act 2003 (sale of alcohol to children)   

- section 147 of the Licensing Act 2003 (allowing sale of alcohol to children);   

- section 7 of the Children and Young Persons Act 1933 (sale of tobacco to persons 

under eighteen)  

  

5.3 Even if the proposed activity is considered to be necessary, the person considering the 

application for authorisation must consider whether the activities are also proportionate.    

  

5.4 The following elements of proportionality should therefore be considered; 

  

 Balancing the size and scope of the proposed activity against the gravity and extent of 

the perceived crime or offence;  

 Explaining how and why the methods to be adopted will cause the least possible 

intrusion on the subject and others;  

 Considering whether the activity is an appropriate use of the legislation and a 

reasonable way, having considered all reasonable alternatives, of obtaining the 

necessary result;  

 Evidencing, as far as reasonably practicable, what other methods have been considered 

and why they were not implemented.  

  

5.5 The proposed activity will not be proportionate if;  

 

 the intrusiveness is excessive in relation to the value of the information to be obtained,  

 

Or  

 

 the information sought could be obtained by less intrusive means  

  

5.6 Where an individual is suspected of claiming a false address in order to abuse a school 

admission system operated by the Council it is likely that a RIPA Authorisation is not 

necessary as less intrusive and overt means could be explored to obtain the information 

required.  

  

5.7 The Authorising Officer should consider the issue of proportionality with particular care in 

relation to relatively minor offences, instead, other less intrusive methods such as general 

overt observation of the location should be used. In rare instances where  such offences are 

especially problematic or occurring with particular frequency and the problem cannot be 

resolved by overt measures, RIPA authorisations may be considered appropriate but care 

should be taken to ensure that the amount of private  information obtained is kept to the 

minimum necessary.   

   

Collateral Intrusion  

  

45



  6  

 5.8 “Collateral intrusion” means intrusion into the privacy of persons other than those who are 

the subject of the investigation.  Measures should be taken to minimise both the risk of such 

intrusion and the extent of such intrusion.  An application for authorisation should consider 

the risk of such intrusion and the Authorising Officer must take such risk into account in 

reaching a judgment as to whether or not the proposed directed surveillance/use of covert 

human intelligence source is proportionate.  If the investigation unexpectedly interferes with 

the privacy of persons who are not covered by the authorisation, the Authorised Officer 

should be informed.  

 

Management of Covert Human Intelligence Sources  

 

5.9 An Authorising Officers should not grant an authorisation for use of a covert human 

intelligence source unless he/she is satisfied of the following; 

  

(a) that at all times there will be an officer who will have day-today responsibility for 

dealing with the source on behalf of the Council and for the source’s security and 

welfare  

  

(b) that at all times there will be another officer (senior to the officer having responsibility 

under (a) above) who will have general oversight of the use made of the source  

  

(c) that at all times there will be an officer responsible for maintaining a record of the use 

made of the source, and  

  

(d) that records maintained by the Council that disclose the identity of the source will not 

be available to persons except to the extent that there is a need for access to them 

to be made available to those persons  

  

5.10 The safety and welfare of the source and foreseeable consequences to others should be 

taken into account in deciding whether or not to grant an authorisation.  A risk assessment 

determining the risk to the source in acting as a source of information to the Council, and in 

particular identifying and assessing the risks should the identity of the source become 

known, should be carried out.  The welfare and security of the source after the operation has 

ceased should be considered at the outset.  The officer having responsibility under 5.9(a) 

above (i.e. the officer with day-to-day responsibility for the source) should report to the 

officer having general oversight any concerns about the personal circumstances of the 

source, insofar as they might affect.  

  

 the validity of the risk assessment  

  

 the conduct of the source, and  

  

 the safety and welfare of the source  

  

5.11 If appropriate such concerns should be reported to the Authorising Officer who will need to 

determine whether or not to allow the authorisation to continue.  

  

6. WHO CAN GRANT AN AUTHORISATION?  

  

46



  7  

6.1 Subject to 6.4 below, the law permits authorisations for directed surveillance and use of 

covert human intelligence sources to be granted by officers of at least Head of Service 

status.  

  

6.2 A list of those Officers designated as Authorising Officers is shown as Annex A to this 

document. Once an application has been granted by the Authorising Officer, the 

authorisation then requires judicial approval before it can take effect.  

   

6.3 Authorising Officers should not authorise investigations in which they are directly involved.  

  

6.4 In the following instances an authorisation may only be granted by the Chief Executive, and 

in his absence, by any of the authorising Executive Directors for RIPA surveillance involving 

the;  

  

a) use of a juvenile Covert Human Intelligence Source (CHIS).  

 

b) surveillance involving the potential acquisition of confidential information. 

Confidential information means information which is; legally privileged information, 

confidential personal information or confidential journalistic material.  

  

6.5 An Authorising Officer will receive training and is not able to authorise before then. 

Thereafter, each Authorising Officer shall receive further training/refresher training on at 

least a biennial basis.  

  

6.6 The Senior Responsible Officer for RIPA, as recommended in the revised Code of Practice, 

is the Executive Director of Delivery. 

   

7.         THE PROCESS OF OBTAINING AN AUTHORISATION  

  

7.1  The Investigating Officer seeking an authorisation should apply through their own line 

management structure unless it is impracticable in the circumstances (e.g. because no 

Executive Director, Director or Assistant Director in the relevant department is available).  

  

7.2  An application for authorisation for directed surveillance or use of covert human intelligence 

sources should be made in the appropriate standard form which is available via the Home 

Office website at   

  

  https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/ripa-forms--2 

  

7.3  Both the Investigating Officer seeking the authorisation and the Authorising Officer shall 

have regard to any guidance notes issued by the Home Office and the Legal Service, on the 

use of those forms.  

  

7.4      The Authorising Officer shall return the completed form to the Investigating Officer. The 

Investigating Officer will be using the Judicial Application /Order form at Annex B of the 

Home Office Guidance, seek judicial approval via a Magistrate in order for the application to 

take effect.  

  

 https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/ripa-forms--2 

 

47

https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/ripa-forms--2
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/ripa-forms--2


  8  

7.5  The authorisation does not take effect until such a time (if any) as the Magistrate has made 

an order approving it.  

  

7.6  In each case, the role of the Magistrate is to ensure that the correct procedures have been 

followed and the relevant factors have been taken account of. If the Magistrate refuses to 

approve an authorisation, the authorisation is quashed.  

  

7.7  A copy of the Form and record of the Magistrate’s decision (on the Judicial Application/ 

Order Form at Annex B of the Home office Guidance) will be provided to the RIPA 

Monitoring Officer after the hearing for it to be added to the Central Record.  

  

7.8   The Borough Solicitor has already designated (under section 223 of the Local Government 

Act 1972) that certain Investigating Officers can present RIPA applications in the 

Magistrates Court.  

   

8. DURATION OF AUTHORISATION  

  

8.1  In the case of directed surveillance, written authorisations cease to have effect after three 

months (unless renewed).  In the case of covert human intelligence sources an authorisation 

expires after four months if the source is a child and one year if the source is an adult.    

  

9. REVIEW OF AUTHORISATION  

  

9.1  Once granted an authorisation should be reviewed regularly to assess whether or not the 

investigation continues to be necessary and proportionate. The date of review is event 

driven, for example a test purchasing application should be reviewed after the date of the 

test purchase.  

  

 9.2 The Authorising Officer should specify how often a review should take place and use the 

appropriate form from the Home Office (see 7.3 above) to conduct a review (i.e. a review of 

the use of directed surveillance or reviewing the use of covert human intelligence source.) 

This information will be held on the Central Record.  

  

10. RENEWAL OF AUTHORISATION  

  

10.1 Judicial approval is required if an authorisation is being renewed. An application for renewal 

of authorisation should not be made until shortly before the authorisation is due to expire. An 

authorisation may be renewed more than once for at least three months in the case of 

directed surveillance or, in the case of covert human intelligence source, one year.   

  

10.2 An application for renewal should be made to the officer who granted the original 

authorisation unless there is very good reason not to do so (e.g. because the original 

authorising officer is on annual leave).    

  

10.3 Applications for renewal should be made using the appropriate Home Office forms (i.e. 

renewal of directed surveillance or renewal of authorisation to use covert human intelligence 

source).  Officers seeking an authorisation for renewal and Authorising Officers shall have 

regard to Code of Practice issued.  

  

48



  9  

10.4 Once the application has been renewed by the Authorising Officer the completed Form will 

be provided to the Investigating Officer who will seek judicial approval (see 7.5-7.8) via 

Magistrate in order for the renewal to take effect. The renewal does not take effect until such 

time (if any) as the Magistrate has made an order approving it.  This information will be held 

on the Central Record.  

   

11.       CANCELLATION AND CEASING OF AUTHORISATIONS  

  

11.1    The Authorising Officer who granted or last renewed the authorisation must cancel it if 

he/she believes that the investigation is no longer necessary or proportionate.  If the original 

Authorising Officer is no longer available, the duty falls upon the person who has taken on 

that role. All authorisations should be cancelled or renewed before they cease to have 

effect.   

  

11.2  Although authorisations cease to have effect after the relevant time expires (see paragraph 

8) an authorisation should be reviewed, renewed or cancelled before the expiration of the 

time limit.   

  

11.3  As soon as a decision is taken to cease the operation an instruction must be given to those 

involved to stop the directed surveillance/using the covert human intelligence source.  A 

form (see 7.2 above) recording the cancellation should be completed and forwarded to the 

RIPA Monitoring Officer for inclusion in the Central Record.    

  

12  ROLE AND DUTIES OF SENIOR RESPONSIBLE OFFICER (SRO)  

  

12.1     The Council’s SRO is the Executive Director – Delivery (Kevin Gibbs) and has the following 

responsibilities;   

  

 Central responsibility for quality control of the RIPA process including providing 

comments/ advice for future applications 

 Management of records in accordance with paragraph 13 below.  

 Keeping the Central Record (a register of all authorisations) updated.  

  

12.2  Any Authorising Officer seeking guidance in authorisations or any RIPA related matter 

should contact the Strategic Manager – Case Management Unit. 

.   

  

13.  RECORDING AUTHORISATIONS / REVIEWS / RENEWALS /  CANCELLATIONS  

  

13.1  There shall be a Central Record which shall be kept by the RIPA Monitoring Officer. The role 

of the Central Record is to keep a complete record of all authorisations and to monitor the 

quality of authorisations. There will also be a summary record maintained of all the 

completed forms.  

  

13.2     A copy of the originals of forms authorising or cancelling directed surveillance or use of a 

covert human intelligence source should be sent by internal email to the SRO.  The SRO 

shall retain all such forms for a period of not less than three years.  A copy of such forms 

shall be retained by the relevant department for at least three years.  The original forms shall 

be retained by the relevant department together with;  

  

49



  10  

 a record of the period over which the surveillance has taken place  

  

 the date and time when any instruction was given by the Authorising Officer  

  

Relevant departments must ensure that any data is processed in accordance with the Data 

Protection Act 2018 and the General Data Protection Regulation (GDPR).  

  

13.3  In the case of use of covert human intelligence sources, records should be maintained in 

such a way as to preserve the confidentiality of the source and the information provided by 

the source.  

  

13. 4  Records to be kept in relation to Covert Human Intelligence Sources   

    

  The following matters must be included in the records relating to each source;  

  

(a) the identity of the source;  

  

(b) the identity, where known, used by the source;  

  

(c) any relevant investigating authority other that the authority maintaining the records;  

  

(d) the means by which the source is referred to within each relevant investigating authority   

  

(e) any other significant information connected with the security and welfare of the source;  

  

(f) any confirmation made by the person granting or renewing an authorisation for the 

conduct or use of a source that the information in paragraph (d) has been considered 

and that any identified risks to the security and welfare of the source have where 

appropriate been properly explained to and understood by the source   

  

(g) the date when, and the circumstances in which, the source was recruited;  

  

(h) the identities of the persons who, in relation to the source;  

  

i. has day to day responsibility for their security and welfare;  

ii. has oversight of the use made of the source  

iii. has responsibility for maintaining a record of the use made of the source  

 

(i) the periods during which those persons specified in (h) above have discharged those 

responsibilities;  

 

(j) the tasks given to the source and the demands made of  

 

(k) him in relation to his activities as a source;  

 

(l) all contacts or communications between the source and a person acting on behalf of 

any relevant investigating authority;  

 

(m) the information obtained by each relevant investigating authority by the conduct or use 

of the source;  

50



  11  

 

(n) any dissemination by that authority of information obtained in that way; and  

 

(o) in the case of a source who is not an undercover operative, every payment, benefit or 

reward and every offer of a payment, benefit or reward that is made or provided by or 

on behalf of any relevant investigating authority in respect of the source's activities for 

the benefit of that or any other relevant investigating authority.  

 

14.      CODES OF PRACTICE  

  

14.1    Two Codes of Practice have been issued by the Secretary of State relating to Directed 

Surveillance and Covert Human Intelligence Sources (CHIS) respectively.  These came into 

force on 6 April 2010.  The updated version of the current guidance (updated 20 September 

2018) is available on the gov.uk website  

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/covert-surveillance-and-covert-human-

intelligence-sources-codes-of-practice 

  

15       TEST PURCHASING AUTHORISATIONS   

 

15.1   By their nature all test purchase operations are covert and conducted for a specific 

operation. When planning test purchase activities the Officer in Charge (OiC) of the specific 

operation must consider the application of RIPA, with regard to both Direct Surveillance and 

CHIS. 

 

15.2 The Assistant Surveillance Commissioners report of 2015 made a number of observations 

with regard to the application of RIPA to such operations, including: 

 

 The IPCO Procedures and Guidance of 2014 (previously issued by the OSC) make 

reference to the desirability of obtaining authorisation where covert recording equipment 

or an observing officer are deployed (repeated at point 244 in the procedures and 

Guidance of 2016); 

 The BRDO Code emphasises the Chief Surveillance Commissioners’ guidance on this 

aspect of operations 

 The introduction of the ‘Serious Crime Test’ clearly indicates the governments view that 

authorisation is appropriate.  

 

15.3 Test purchase operations relating to alcohol are considered within the relevant RIPA Codes 

of Practice. These indicate that where a juvenile has been employed other than as a CHIS, 

and either covert equipment is used or an adult is observing, a Direct Surveillance 

authorisation must be considered 

 

15.4 The need for a Directed Surveillance authorisation will be determined by whether it is likely 

that private information will be obtained about a person. The OiC must have regard to this 

policy above when considering this. 

 

15.5 Where there is to be any prolonged surveillance or repeated attempts at the same premises, 

an authorisation for a CHIS must also be considered. Officers should note that where a 

CHIS is used, the meaning of “information” is not restricted to private information. 

 

51

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/covert-surveillance-and-covert-human-intelligence-sources-codes-of-practice
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/covert-surveillance-and-covert-human-intelligence-sources-codes-of-practice


  12  

15.6 Where the OiC does not apply for an authorisation for either Directed Surveillance or the use 

of a CHIS, their rationale must be recorded and retained on file for a period of three years. 

These records will be subject to review by the Monitoring Officer and will be available for 

examination by IPCO. 

  

16      CCTV  

  

16.1    Because CCTV is usually overt (i.e. members of the public are made aware that a CCTV 

system is in operation) an authorisation is not normally required for the use of CCTV 

material.  However, there may be occasions when a covert CCTV system is used for the 

purposes of a specific investigation or operation in which case an application for directed 

surveillance may be required.  The advice of the RIPA Monitoring Officer should be sought 

in such circumstances.   

  

16.2      In the event of a Police request for directed surveillance using CCTV cameras they will need 

to follow their own internal procedure for obtaining authorisation in the first instance.  In such 

cases a copy of the relevant Police authorisation should be obtained by the Officer receiving 

the request and forwarded to the RIPA Monitoring Officer to confirm its validity.    

  

17  Social Network Sites (SNS) – Online Investigations  

            (to be read with Annex C) 

 

17.1 The Surveillance Commissioner has made a series of comments about local authorities 

accessing information available on the internet. There was concern expressed that they 

were doing this without direction, oversight or regulation and reiterated the view that certain 

activities would require authorisation. 

 

17.2 These concerns were raised again in the report of 20161 and a letter was sent to all local 

authorities to highlight the matter. The OSC Procedures and Guidance July 2016 (now 

under IPCO), point 289, Covert Surveillance of Social Networking Sites, is reproduced at 

Annex B The use of the internet to gather information to profile targets prior to and/or during 

an  operation may be considered Directed Surveillance 

 

17.3 The risk of Collateral Intrusion is also likely to be an issue and must be fully considered as 

part of any assessment of the application of RIPA prior to the activity taking place. All 

Officers proposing to access social media must be familiar with the relevant codes of 

practice and guidance listed at Annex B. They should have particular regard to paragraphs 

3.10 to 3.17 of the Code relating to Directed Surveillance and paragraph 4.11 to 4.17 of the 

Code relating to the use of a CHIS when considering the application of RIPA. 

 

17.4 Where the activity is likely to require an ongoing, covert, relationship with other SNS users, 

this may come within the parameters of a CHIS. Where such activities are contemplated but 

no authorisation is sought, the Officer in Charge must record their reason and retain this in 

compliance with the policy. On-line investigations shall only be conducted on equipment 

designated for that purpose. Such equipment will not be attached to the Council’s network. 

Officers must not use personal accounts for accessing social media as part of their 

enquiries. 

                                      
1
 Annual Report of the Chief Surveillance Commissioner to the Prime Minister and to the Scottish Ministers 2016 -2017, 

https://www.ipco.org.uk/docs/OSC%20Annual%20Report%202016-17.pdf 

52

https://www.ipco.org.uk/docs/OSC%20Annual%20Report%202016-17.pdf


  13  

 

17.5 Only Officers who have attended suitable training will be authorised to conduct on-line 

investigations under a RIPA authorisation. Officers must be familiar with, and have regard 

to, the Council’s policy on the use of Social Media section in the Code of Conduct for Staff. 

 

17.6 Finally, all officers who use social media in their day to day work activities must complete the 

on-line RIPA course accessed through DORIS. Anyone requiring advice must contact Sean 

Murphy, Public Protection Manager. 

   

18        NON-COMPLIANCE  

  

18.1    Evidence gathered in breach of the procedures described in this document will not 

automatically be excluded by a Court.   However, the defendant may argue that reliance by 

the prosecution on evidence obtained in breach of Article 8 – right to privacy denies him his 

right to a fair trial as guaranteed by Article 6 and that the case should not proceed.  In 

addition, the admissibility of evidence is a matter for the Courts discretion, and they will 

decide whether the evidence is put forward in such a way that the proceedings are fair as a 

whole.  Therefore, RIPA should be complied with at all times.  

  

18.2    Apart from the above, non-compliance with RIPA may still result in a claim against the 

Council for a breach of Article 6 and/or 8 of the European Convention of Human Rights a 

complaint to the Local Government Ombudsman referral to a RIPA Tribunal censure by 

IPCO.  

  

  

 

  

  

  

  

53



  14  

ANNEX A   

  

RIPA Authorising Officers   

  

Chief Executive; Timothy Wheadon 

 

Executive Director of People Services; TBC 

 

Executive Director of Delivery and SRO; Kevin Gibbs 

 

Assistant Director – Contract Services; Damian James 

 

Public Protection Manager; Sean Murphy (also Designated Person for Communications Data) 

 

Head of Community Safety; Alison O'Meara 

 

  

 

  

  

  

  

  

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

54



  15  

ANNEX B - RIPA Guidance 

  
Guidance for applicants and designated person considering necessity and proportionality. 

(www.gov.uk/government/publications/guidance-notes-for-chapter-ii-application ) 

 

Home Office guidance to local authorities in England and Wales on the judicial approval process for 

RIPA and the crime threshold for directed surveillance. (www.gov.uk/surveillance-and-counter-

terrorism) 

 

IPCO Procedures and Guidance (and previously issued by OSC). 

 

Oversight arrangements for covert surveillance and property interference conducted by public 

authorities and to the activities of relevant sources (Available at www.ipco.org.uk). 

 

  

55

http://www.gov.uk/government/publications/guidance-notes-for-chapter-ii-application
http://www.gov.uk/surveillance-and-counter-terrorism
http://www.gov.uk/surveillance-and-counter-terrorism
http://www.ipco.org.uk/


  16  

ANNEX C - Investigatory Use of Social Network Sites (SNS) 

Introduction 

This document sets out how Services within Bracknell Forest Council (the Council) will use social 

network sites and should be read in conjunction with other relevant policies including; 

 

 ICT Policy and User Usage Agreement  

 Security Policy  

 Code of Conduct of Staff 

 

Purposes for using SNS 

Services will access SNS in different ways: 

 

Open and overt exchange of information with users; 

 
Viewing information about users which is openly available, without any need to log in to the SNS, in 

order to verify information. This may be done overtly or covertly; and 

 
Covertly viewing information and/or engaging with a user to obtain information about them another 

person or a business. These are explained in more detail below. 

 
The purposes for which Services may wish to access SNS will include but is not limited to the 

following and it will be for the officer to determine which of the methods of accessing the SNS is 

appropriate according to the circumstances: 

 

 Monitoring activities of licensed premises with regard to irresponsible drink promotions. 
 Monitoring the promotion of bands that are known to have caused complaints relating to noise 

levels. 
 Viewing personal areas to verify the details provided by a benefit claimant (living alone, fitness to 

work, etc) 
 Checking residency with regard to school catchments areas 
 Gathering information which may later become intelligence used to direct resources. 
 Obtaining any information which provides evidence of a prima facia offence. 
 
Open and overt exchange of information with users 

For the purpose of this document ‘overt use’ is defined as the use of a SNS by Services in an open 

manner with the intent of sharing information with individual stakeholders or groups of stakeholders.  

 

Those individuals or groups will be aware of our presence on their area (wall, space, page, etc) of 

the SNS. This will include areas used by businesses for advertising their products or services (e.g. 

the ‘fan’ section on Face Book).  Where information is obtained from such areas which may lead to 

any form of enforcement action, this information must be handled in accordance with paragraph 6 

of this document. 

 

When employees of a Service are engaging openly with a business or individual as a 

representative of the Council they will operate in accordance with the policy. Services should set up 

corporate accounts which do not supply private information about individual employees. Access will 

56



  17  

normally be via networked computers which are operated and maintained in accordance with the 

Council’s policies. 

 

SNS access in this manner will not require Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act (RIPA) 

authorisation.  Officers must still act in accordance with the investigation policies and procedures 

relevant to their Service as well as the requirements of this document. 

 

Access will be monitored in accordance with the Policy and other relevant corporate strategies. 

 

Viewing information about users which is openly available  

Although users will not be aware of activity undertaken by Officers in viewing their SNS pages, 

subject to the considerations referred to below, this may not classed as covert surveillance for the 

purpose of RIPA.   

 

There is unlikely to be a reasonable expectation of privacy by the user who has published this 

information about themselves and made it freely available for anyone to view. 

 

Information that is considered as being openly accessible is only that which is capable of being 

accessed without logging on to the SNS as a user.  If you need to log on to an SNS to access 

information about a person, that must be done either overtly or in accordance with the requirements 

for the covert acquisition of information. 

 

Consideration should be given to the means of recording the information viewed and by what 

method.  This information would also be required in order to comply with the provisions of the 

Criminal Procedure and Investigations Act 1996 (CPIA) where applicable.  

 

Investigators should refer to their Service procedure notes for the method of doing this. Officers 

must still act in accordance with the investigation policies and procedures relevant to their Service 

as well as the requirements of this document. 

 

Notwithstanding the above, those viewing information that is freely and openly available on an SNS 

must always consider in each case whether the user who’s SNS is being viewed; 

 

 might reasonably be aware of just how much of their personal information is openly accessible, 
and 

 whether the SNS user might have inadvertently given public access to certain information.   
 

This is not an easy task as it involves trying to guess what the SNS user was thinking.  The more 

intimate or sensitive the personal information is likely to be, the greater the caution that should be 

exercised in viewing and recording the information. You may be required to demonstrate 

proportionality and necessity in relation to the user’s Article 8 rights and in determine whether such 

information can properly be used in relation to the matter being investigated. 

 

In circumstances where officers are considering accessing SNS for the purpose of obtaining 

information which is not required for a criminal investigation, the activity being contemplated would 

fall outside the scope of RIPA.  However, in order to ensure that proper regard has been had to the 

Article 8 rights of the individual, consideration should be given to completing a “Consideration of 

RIPA to Directed Surveillance activities” form.   

 

Covertly engaging with a user to obtain information 

57



  18  

For the purpose of this document covert use is defined as the use of SNS by Services to gather 

information to direct their activities in relation to the prevention and detection of crime, the 

apprehension or prosecution of offenders or to take any other action in respect of a regulatory 

breach, except where that information is being obtained either by open and overt interaction with 

the user or where the information is openly available. 

 

Before accessing an SNS covertly the investigating officer must give consideration to the provisions 

of RIPA.  It is possible that the activity may be classified as Directed Surveillance or that the 

accessing officer may be acting as a Covert Human Intelligence Source (CHIS). The application for 

access will record those considerations along with the conclusion. Where it is determined that no 

RIPA application is required the appropriate paperwork on the case file will be endorsed to that 

effect by the appropriate officer or manager. If a RIPA authorisation is required then the Councils 

RIPA procedures together with any complementary Service policy for that process will be followed 

and access not granted until such time as the activity has been properly authorised in accordance 

with the legal process. 

 

Where an officer wishes to access an SNS with the intent of gathering information about a business 

or individual (target) without the knowledge of that target, they will deemed to be acting covertly for 

the purpose of this document.  Covert access will always be considered as an investigation and all 

officers must act in accordance with the investigation policies and procedures relevant to their 

Service as well as the requirements of this document. 

 

For covert operations an anonymous user account will be set up which cannot be traced back to the 

Service or any individual employed by the Council. These accounts will be maintained by the 

individual Service who will put in place processes for controlling and monitoring the access and use 

of the accounts. 

 

Where there is any doubt, advice should be sought from the line manager or the Public Protection 

Manager.   

 

Access will be monitored in accordance with the Policy and other relevant corporate strategies. 

 

Human Rights and Data Protection Act considerations 

During an investigation an important consideration is the right of respect for private and family life 

(Article 8) and any interference with this right must be lawful, necessary and proportionate.  Whilst 

RIPA provides a framework that enables specific types of interference with this right e.g. for covert 

surveillance to be lawful, the Human Rights aspects must always be considered even where RIPA 

is not engaged.  

 

When viewing SNS as described above, officers must consider whether the information that has 

been published on an SNS attracts any reasonable expectation of privacy.   Guidance suggests 

that if any expectation of privacy is claimed it is unlikely to be reasonable given the various 

warnings that are usually contained on the SNS privacy policies.   

 

Interference with any privacy right claimed will require a legal basis, which for investigations 

undertaken by the local authority will be found in the relevant legislation e.g. Health and Safety at 

Work Act or trading standards legislation.  The carrying out of investigatory work that does not 

trigger the application of RIPA remains a lawful interference with any right of respect to private and 

family life, provided activity is both necessary and proportionate.   

 

58



  19  

Any personal information that is collected from viewing SNS must be held and processed in 

accordance with the Data Protection Act, as well as any investigation and evidential protocols that 

are in place. 

 

Authorisation 

All access to SNSs must be authorised in advance by an appropriate Team Leader/Manager in 

accordance with the Policy.  This authorisation is in addition to any authorisation that might be 

required under RIPA and it does not detract from the responsibility to keep appropriate records of 

the SNS access and the information viewed and used. 

 

Equipment 

Officers must not under any circumstances use their personal IT equipment or any other IT 

equipment that is not provided by the Council for undertaking any of the activities to which this 

document relates. 

 

The Service should provide dedicated standalone computers for covert internet activity. Networked 

computers must not be used for this type of exercise. Printed information obtained from networked 

computers will not normally be sufficient for evidential purposes and officers should only resort to 

using these where there is no other means available to them. 

 

SNS information is primarily transmitted and stored in a digital format and it is important that this is 

captured in such a way that the integrity of the information is not compromised. There are a number 

of published guides that are relevant to the capture, storage and production in court of computer 

based evidence. All officers charged with the production of computer based evidence which may 

result in legal proceedings should be familiar with these documents.2 

 

Criminal Procedures and Investigations Act 1996 (CPIA) 

Where officers acquire information which may result in regulatory action they must ensure they 

secure this information in such a way that the Service can discharges its duties under the CPIA in 

any future proceedings.  Regulatory action includes, but is not restricted to, the following: 

 

 Prosecution, Simple Caution, Administrative Penalties, Written or Verbal warnings       relating 

to criminal breaches 

 Issuing of Fixed Penalty Notices, Penalty Notice for Disorder or other statutory fines 

 Suspension or review of any benefits 

 Review of any licences issued by the Authority 

 Use of Civil sanctions to prevent future breaches of legislation 

 

Personal use 

The Code of Conduct of Staff policy sets out the standards expected of employees of the Council in 

their personal use of Social Network Sites.  Employees should ensure that in their personal use of 

SNS they do not provide details about their employment that might compromise their health & 

                                      
2
 Storage, Replay and Disposal of Digital Evidential Images,  Home Office Publication 53/07 

Digital Imaging Procedure v2.0 November 2007, Home Office Publication 58/07  
Good Practice Guide for Computer-Based Electronic Evidence, ACPO 2007 

59



  20  

safety. This is particularly relevant where they are engaged in enforcement activities in their routine 

work. 

  

60



OFFICIAL SENSITIVE (COMMERCIAL)/OFFICIAL SENSITIVE (PERSONAL) 

To: Executive 
26 January 2021 

  
 

Digital & ICT Strategy 2021 - 2024 
Executive Director of Delivery 

1 Purpose of Report 

1.1 To approve the Council’s new four-year Strategy for Digital and ICT.  

2 Recommendation(s) 

2.1 That the Executive approve the Digital & ICT Strategy 2021 – 2024 (attached) 

2.2 That the Executive agree the outline work programme included in the Strategy 

2.3 That the Executive agree the governance arrangements proposed in paragraph 
3.3 

3 Reasons for Recommendation(s) 

3.1 A clear direction for Digital and ICT is important for the Council, to ensure the work of 
the Digital and ICT teams continues to contribute effectively to the strategic 
objectives of the Council, and delivers the levels of functionality and security required 
to support effective and efficient operation. 

3.2 The work programme is reasonably detailed for the first year of delivery.  However, 
beyond that timeframe, it is difficult to predict exactly what projects will be needed, as 
this is a fast-changing environment. 

3.3 Governance of the Strategy will be managed through existing structures.  Progress 
on the delivery of the Strategy will be managed through the Digital & ICT Steering 
Group, which meets six-weekly.  Half-yearly progress reports will be taken to CMT, 
and annual reports to the Executive.  The annual review by the Executive will also 
approve the work programme for the following year. 

4 Alternative Options Considered 

4.1 Continue operating “business as usual” but without any review of the strategic 
direction.  This approach risks missing opportunities, or the work of the Digital and 
ICT teams being focused in areas that do not meet the Council’s strategic objectives. 

5 Supporting Information 

5.1 Background 

 The previous strategy ran from 2017 to December 2020, and has helped to deliver 
many benefits, including: 

 Mobile and flexible working using “soft” phones, laptops, mobiles with data, MS 
Teams, OneDrive, SharePoint and Outlook 

61

Agenda Item 7



OFFICIAL SENSITIVE (COMMERCIAL)/OFFICIAL SENSITIVE (PERSONAL) 

 A new structure, with the creation of Business Partners and closer working 
between ICT and Digital 

 A top-class website  

 A new intranet - twice 

 Improved resilience and cyber security 

 Applications in the cloud 

 First steps in automation 

It is now time to build on that legacy, and adopt a new strategy that takes us further, 
delivering a modern experience for both external customers and internal 
stakeholders. 

5.2 To develop this new strategy, we have undertaken consultation and engagement 
workshops with a range of stakeholders.  Online workshops took place with Elected 
Members through Executive Briefing and Overview and Scrutiny meetings, and with 
CMT and DMTs.   

 As part of the development of the Ways of Working programme, a number of 
workshops were held with staff from across the organisation.  The principles of how 
we work coming out of these workshops have also informed the content of the Digital 
& ICT Strategy. 

5.3 The new strategy is focused around 11 themes, which emerged through the 
workshops and the full details of which are covered in the strategy.  In summary, 
these are: 

5.3.1 Robust and reliable ICT – ensuring our hardware, software and networks offer 
high levels of security, availability and performance. 

5.3.2 The next phase of cloud computing – moving applications and infrastructure 
to the cloud wherever possible.  Making use of Software as a Service where 
appropriate. 

5.3.3 Information assets and data management – maintaining quality, 
confidentiality, integrity and availability of data; enabling improved data 
analysis and intelligence. 

5.3.4 Location-independent working – ensuring work is what you do, not a place 
you go. 

5.3.5 Collaborative working - enabling better collaboration within the council and 
with partners. 

5.3.6 Increasing digital skills – enhancing the digital skills of the workforce; building 
digital leadership skills of senior managers. 

5.3.7 Digital customer engagement – expanding the use of digital channels; 
applying digital principles to all service design; ensuring accessibility. 

5.3.8 Cloud-based telephone system – simplifying multi-channel access for 
residents; enhancing resilience and business continuity. 

5.3.9 Internet of Things – automating asset management; investigating 
opportunities for using our connected environment. 

62



OFFICIAL SENSITIVE (COMMERCIAL)/OFFICIAL SENSITIVE (PERSONAL) 

5.3.10 Low-code development and automation – using simplified platforms to build 
applications; using Robotic Process Automation to replace manual processes. 

5.3.11 Continuous improvement – reviewing the systems, structure, and processes 
in place to provide ICT support to the organisation, rationalising the 
application estate where possible. 

5.4 The work programme emerging from the strategy is still in development.  The first 
year’s workload is reasonably well defined, with a focus on migrating applications to 
the cloud, maximising the investment in the Office 365 licensing, beginning the cloud 
telephony project and launching low-code platform developments.  

 Further projects will emerge during the year and will inform the work programme for 
future years.  It is important that the strategy is sufficiently flexible to allow the 
organisation to trial new technologies as new needs emerge, and opportunities are 
identified. 

6 Consultation and Other Considerations 

Legal Advice 

6.1 There are no specific legal implications arising from the report or its 
recommendations 

Financial Advice 

6.2 The financial implications for the projects in year one have already been reviewed 
and agreed. This strategy maps the direction of travel within the organisation for 
Digital and ICT and when future projects are approaching commencement, any 
relevant funding requirements will be reviewed, and the appropriate approval sought. 

Other Consultation Responses 

6.3 N/A 

Equalities Impact Assessment 

6.4 Each project established under the Digital & ICT Strategy will undertake an Equalities 
Impact Assessment as part of its initiation phase. 

Strategic Risk Management Issues  

6.5  

Background Papers 
 
ICT & Digital Strategy 2017 – 2020  
 
Contact for further information 
Bobby Mulheir, Customer Experience, Digital & ICT - 01344 352096 
bobby.mulheir@bracknell-forest.gov.uk 

63



This page is intentionally left blank



   
 

1 
 

Digital and ICT Strategy 2021 to 2024  
 
 

Section Contents Page 
   
1.  Foreword by Executive Member for Digital & ICT 2 
2.  Introduction 3 
3.  Executive Summary 4 - 6 
4.  What does Digital & ICT mean? 7 - 8 
5.  The Key Issues and Challenges for BFC 9 – 11 
6.  A Digital and ICT Strategy for Renewal and Positive Change 12 – 14 
7.  Building on the Completed ICT and Digital Strategy (2017 – 

2020) 
15 – 18 

8.  Developing a Digital and ICT Strategy for Renewal and 
Change in Bracknell Forest 

19 - 20 

9.  Strategic Objectives 21 
10.  Strategic Themes 22 – 29 
11.  Performance Measures and Governance 30 – 31 
12.  The Digital and ICT Strategy Work Programme 32 
13.  Improving Customer Experience & Managing Change 33 – 35 
14.  Conclusion 36 
 
 
Appendices 
 
A. About Bracknell Forest 
 
B. The Digital Legacy of Coronavirus  
 
C. The Digital and ICT Work Programme  
 
D. The Business Systems Cloud Migration Road Map  
 
E. Glossary of Terms 
 
 
 
 
 
  

65



   
 

2 
 

1. Foreword by Executive Member for Digital & ICT – Councillor John Harrison 

 
 
I am delighted to be recommending this new strategy for adoption, which takes us to 
the next phase of our digitalisation journey. 
 
There has never before been a time when technology has been more important to us 
as a Council.  The challenges of 2020 have been on a scale we have never 
previously experienced, and could never have predicted.  The residents of Bracknell 
Forest have relied on the Council to continue delivering services, to ensure the 
borough remains economically prosperous, vibrant, and safe, and partly thanks to 
our technology, we have continued to meet their expectations. 
 
The world has changed significantly.  The public have adapted to the use of 
technology, both for keeping in touch with their families and friends and for their 
interactions with us.  The move to mainly working from home has been implemented 
at a speed that nobody could have imagined or planned for.  The technology 
available to the workforce has meant that most council activity has continued virtually 
uninterrupted.  And this at a time when we have experienced a higher level of cyber-
attack than ever before. 
 
Where we haven’t been able to continue delivering services in the usual ways, 
technology and digital design have been instrumental in enabling us to develop new 
models of operation. 
 
Our ability to adapt so quickly is testament to the achievements and progress made 
under previous ICT and Digital Strategies.  This new strategy builds on that success, 
and sets the direction for the coming years.  Our ambition is to move further towards 
being a digitally mature organisation, maximising the opportunities provided by 
technology and maintaining the highest levels of security and reliability.  Our focus 
on digital services is underpinned by a commitment to complete accessibility for all 
customers, irrespective of their ability.  The work programme is challenging, but 
achievable, and will ensure we remain connected, effective and safe. 
 
 
 
Councillor John Harrison 
Executive Member for Digital & ICT 
 
 
 
 
  

66



   
 

3 
 

2. Introduction 
 
Purpose 
 
This document provides a comprehensive overview of how Digital and ICT will support the 
delivery of Bracknell Forest Council’s strategic objectives for the period January 2021 to 
December 2024. 
 
Providing Digital services that internal and external users and customers can have 
confidence in is critically reliant on a robust and reliable ICT infrastructure. The Digital and 
ICT Strategy is produced as a combined approach to ensure that BFC has truly digital 
capabilities considering culture, practices, processes and technologies.  

Scope 
 
The objectives of the document are to: 
 

 Set out the strategic themes for Digital and ICT to deliver corporate priorities.  
 

 Explain the rationale for the components of the Digital and ICT Strategy 
 

 Describe the technical direction for Digital and ICT to support the achievement of 
corporate priorities and to maintain business usual in a way that is both agile and 
secure.    

 

 Set out an outline programme of Digital and ICT projects to deliver the Digital and 
ICT strategy 2021 - 2024. 
 

 Set down a clear marker to review the quality of the software applications that 
support key services to determine if they are still fit for purpose and provide value or 
money in terms of the support provided by the supplier and the overhead required to 
maintain them.  

  

 Help to inform the organisational format and structure of Digital and ICT Services to 
deliver the Digital and ICT Strategy for 2021 to 2024 and to ensure that effective 
support is provided to maintain business as usual and agility across the organisation.  

 
  
  

67



   
 

4 
 

 
3. Executive Summary  
 
The strategy has been developed over the last year, taking account of the challenges facing 
the Council and the aspirations of stakeholders from across the organisation.  It can be 
summarised into 11 themes, under five main headings: 
 
 Foundations –  

 Robust and reliable ICT,  
 Cloud computing,  
 Information assets and data 

 
 Core Activities (work) –  

 Location-independent working,  
 Collaborative working,  
 Digital skills 

 
 Core Activities (customers) –  

 Digital customer engagement,  
 Cloud-based telephony 

 
 Digital development –  

 Internet of Things,  
 Low-code development and automation 

 
 Continuous improvement –  

 Review of applications, processes, and team structure and skills 
  
 
 
  

68



   
 

5 
 

Digital and ICT Strategy – Summary 

 
 Logo 

 
Strategic 
Theme 

 

Context Benefits 

F
o

u
n

d
a

ti
o

n
s

 
 

 

Robust and 
reliable ICT 

The ICT Infrastructure 
(hardware, software and 
networks) offer high levels 
of security, availability and 
performance.  

 Robust cyber security in place and 
a cyber aware workforce 

 Good response times from 
applications 

 Minimal downtime 

 Fast recovery and restoration 

 

Moving into the 
next phase of 
cloud-based 
computing, 
including 
Software as a 
Service 
 

ICT applications and 
infrastructure moving from 
on-premise to cloud-based 
hosting using Software as a 
Service (SaaS) and 
Microsoft Azure 

 Choice of operating environments 
– the best solution for each 
requirement 

 Reduced data centre footprint and 
consumption 

 Cloud-based application support 

 Support property optimisation 

 

Information 
assets and data 
management 
   
 

Maintain quality, 
confidentiality, integrity and 
availability of data and 
enable use of 
comprehensive and 
powerful data analysis and 
manipulation tools  

 Accurate, timely reporting to make 
informed decisions about resource 
allocation  

 Analysis giving intelligence and 
enabling predictions, to aid 
decision making and policy 
shaping 

C
o

re
 a

c
ti

v
it

ie
s
 –

  

w
o

rk
 

 

Location-
independent, 
home and 
mobile working 
 

Employees and other 
agents working from home 
or other locations (work is 
what you do and not where 
you are based) 

 Agile workforce, technically 
enabled 

 Reduced commuting and travel for 
work 

 Building improved inter-agency 
working 

 Better use of council properties 

 Further enable 
collaborative 
working 
 
 

Expand collaborative 
working within BFC, with 
partners in the voluntary 
and community sectors 
using collaborative systems 
and fit for purpose premises 

 Enables more cohesive working 
with the community, staff and 
members 

 Enables development of 
Community Hubs 

 Improved efficiency 

 Better customer experience 

 

Increasing 
digital skills in 
the workforce 
 
 

Actively enhancing the 
digital skills and cyber 
awareness of the workforce 
and the digital leaderships 
skills of senior managers to 
make optimal use of Digital 
and ICT 

 Inclusive use of a wide range of 
digital solutions available by 
capable staff, members and the 
community 

  

C
o

re
 a

c
ti

v
it

ie
s
 -

 

c
u

s
to

m
e

rs
 

 

Digital 
customer 
engagement 
(internal and 
external) 

Providing self- service 
access to information and 
services at a time and via a 
range of access channels 
that are convenient for the 
customer 

 Ensuring digital services and 
content are accessible to all  

  A consistent experience across 
all channels 

 More effective and efficient 
customer engagement 

 

Fully featured, 
cloud-based 
telephone 
system 

A telephone system with 
call management, self-
service and chat 
capabilities. 

 Simplified telephony for services 
and residents 

 Multi-channel contact centre  

 Improved resilience and business 
continuity 

69



   
 

6 
 

D
ig

it
a

l 
D

e
v

e
lo

p
m

e
n

t 

 

Internet of 
Things 
 
 

Automate everyday tasks 
using technology chips and 
sensors. 

 Proactive asset management 

 Reduced costs 

 Improved safety 

 Reduction in avoidable contact 

 Low-code 
development 
and automation 

Developing low-code 
applications that allow BFC 
to implement new 
processes quickly and at 
lower cost than third party 
software application 

 Minimise costs of expensive to run 
applications 

 Possible projects: 

 Integrated and ongoing 
tracking of employee health 
and wellbeing 

 Dynamic office opening 
checklists and task 
management 

 Employee, Visitor and event 
attendee management 

C
o

n
ti

n
u

o
u

s
 

im
p

ro
v

e
m

e

n
t 

 Reviewing 
Digital and ICT 
Services 
Systems, 
Support and 
Processes  

Review of quality of 
services delivered and 
update Digital and ICT 
systems, support and 
processes to reflect new 
ways of working and to 
ensure, economy, efficiency 
and effectiveness 

 Economic, effective and efficient 
services 

 Optimised quality of services to 
customers 

 Rationalised estate 

 

 
 

 
 
  

70



   
 

7 
 

4. What does Digital and ICT Mean? 
 
The Assistant Director of Customer Experience, Digital and ICT has merged the formerly 
separate departments of Digital Services and ICT Services together to promote synergy and 
more collaborative working. This recent change is already showing the benefits of working 
together, e.g. the new intranet system was built using agile project management, went live 
one month ahead of schedule and feedback on the new system has been very positive. 
 
Digital is about mindset and culture.  It means working to a set of principles, focusing on user 
needs, and a commitment to making services digital by default, so that they are simpler, 
clearer and faster for users. 
 
The Council is a signatory to the Local Digital Declaration.  That means we are committed to: 
 

 redesigning our services around the needs of the people using them 
 

 breaking our dependence on inflexible and expensive technology that doesn’t join up 
effectively, in favour of modular common components and open data standards 
 

 designing safe, secure and useful ways of sharing information to build trust among 
our partners and citizens 

 
 demonstrating digital leadership, creating the conditions for genuine organisational 

transformation 
 

 embedding an open culture that values, incentivises and expects working in the open 
wherever we can, sharing our plans and experience, working collaboratively with 
other organisations, and reusing good practice. 

 
 
The Digital Services function in BFC is tasked with ensuring that BFC utilises up-to-date 
digital solutions and systems to provide information and services.  The team manages 
internet-based services and content, ensuring they meet accessibility and usability standards 
and work effectively for all users and on all devices. 
 
One way to appreciate the importance of a Digital perspective in the Digital and ICT strategy 
is to consider the ever-growing network of physical objects that feature an IP address for 
internet connectivity, and the communication that occurs between these objects and other 
internet enabled devices and systems. This group of IP enabled objects is collectively 
referred to as the Internet of Things (IoT).  IoT extends internal connectivity beyond 
traditional devices like desktop and laptop computers, smartphones and tablets to a diverse 
range of everyday things that utilise embedded technology to communicate and interact with 
the external environment via the internet, e.g. thermostats, vehicles, lights in households, 
parking systems and much more.  This “digital” pool of resource gives local authorities the 
ability to automate tasks such as inspections and safety maintenance, for example.  
 
 
  

71



   
 

8 
 

Some examples of delivery using digital services: 
 

Technology 
 

Application examples 

Accessible web-based services to enable 
customer self service   

Bookings, applications, consultation, 
reporting, payments and recruitment.  

Internet of Things (IoT) Telecare for Vulnerable Adults, Fleet 
Maintenance.  

Robotic Process Automation / Artificial 
Intelligence  

Automation of repetitive processes 
and analysis of data using virtual 
agents.  

  

 
 
 
The ICT Services function covers the provision, development and support for laptops, 
servers, storage devices, applications software, telephony, voice and data communications, 
network and other security systems. It is the responsibility of ICT Services to ensure that 
data is protected and available when required.  
 
Components of ICT Services: 
 

Information Security Framework such as ICT Security Policies and Technical 
Standards   

Technical Support and Development resources for the overall ICT environment; 
hardware, software and services.  
Collaborative systems such as TEAMS and SharePoint.  
 

Business Software Applications such as Agresso Business World and Northgate 
Revenues and Benefits.  

Voice and Data Communications Network Infrastructure (e.g. Internet 
connectivity, wide and Local Area Networks (including Wi-Fi) 

Voice or Telephone Platforms that support remote working and customer self 
service 

Servers, Storage Devices, Backup and Disaster Recovery (e.g. On-Premise 
Data Centre with second site for Backup and DR) 

 
 
 
As a service, we are gradually moving from a traditional ICT function, to develop into a 
digitally mature team.  We want to extend this digital maturity to the whole organisation, to 
ensure we are always delivering the best digital services for our customers.  Over the 
lifetime of the Strategy we aim to measure the Council’s digital maturity and benchmark 
ourselves against other organisations. 
 
 
 
 
  

72



   
 

9 
 

 
5. The Key Issues and Challenges for BFC  
 
The Corporate Priorities for BFC are set out in the Corporate Plan 2019. They are subject to 
some revision due the Coronavirus Pandemic and a fresh commitment to review our 
approach to equalities and racism.   
 
The Council Plan 
 
To deliver on all our objectives and make sure that Bracknell Forest stays prosperous and 
remains a good place to live, work and play, we have focused our Council Plan on 6 
strategic themes: 

 value for money 
 economic resilience 
 education and skills 
 caring for you and your family 
 protecting and enhancing our environment 
 communities 

 
 

  

73



   
 

10 
 

Since the adoption of the Council Plan following the 2019 local election, the landscape we 
operate in has changed dramatically, leading to further development of the Council’s 
strategic direction.  Major events have influenced the direction of this strategy, including: 
 

 the Coronavirus pandemic 

 the Black Lives Matter campaign 

 the financial challenges faced by the public sector 
 
 
A Strategy for Renewal  
 
In response to the Coronavirus crisis the Council has produced a Strategy for Renewal. It 
has been titled as a “Renewal” as opposed to “Recovery Strategy” to make it clear that we 
are not striving to get back to how everything was in February, before the pandemic struck.  
 
There are four important pieces of context that shape the strategy for renewal:    
 

 The Council and its partners have a clear community leadership role 
 

 We will continue to adapt to the impact of the pandemic on our communities and 
may need to re-prioritise some objectives in the Council Plan 2019 

 

 Pre-COVID-19 financial pressures are likely to increase, and decision making 
must reflect this 

 

 The overarching priority is the health and economic well-being of residents  
 

 
Against this context (which shapes the approach) there are seven principles (or pillars) to 
BFC’s approach:  

 

1. Work with partners and communities to protect and promote the physical and 
 mental health of our population 
 
2. Support town and neighbourhood centre vitality and look to support our local 
 economy by retaining businesses within the borough 
 
3. Provide short term support and refocus some activities to deal with post 
 COVID-19 spikes in demand 
 
4. Integrate services with partners and locate them wherever possible within the 
 community that use them 
 
5. Look to involve the community and voluntary sector in supporting people and 
 services wherever possible 
 
6. Containing/reducing expenditure in the long term (including 
 refocussing/delivering differently/stopping some services) 
 
7. Maximising the opportunities to address carbon reduction across all our 
 activities 
 

 
  

74



   
 

11 
 

It is recognised that one of the major challenges will relate to workplace accommodation and 
working practices.  A Ways of Working (WoW) sub-group has been established to define the 
new approach to where and how we work, and to look for opportunities to integrate with 
partners and locate services in the community.  The principles developed by this group will 
need Digital and ICT input to support their delivery and have informed the Digital and ICT 
Strategy. 
 
Changing the way we work at Time Square and other council buildings, by reducing the 
number of Council staff using the buildings at any given time, because we can now work in 
more agile ways, offers a real and exciting opportunity to create genuine “Community Hubs” 
in which Council, health, voluntary and community sector and, maybe, other partners are 
located in a space that encourages collaboration.  For our residents, of course, the opening 
of front-line services will be more in their minds than our office space.  The Community Hub 
approach places services closer to the communities they serve. 
 
 
Equalities and Racism 
 
Equalities and Racism have attracted national attention in recent months, through the Black 
Lives Matter campaign. This campaign has given a renewed impetus to the need to maintain 
and promote social justice and equality of opportunity.  CMT are reviewing how we look at 
discrimination and equality in all its guises and have challenged themselves to ensure that 
they genuinely lead the organisation in a way that leaves no room or hiding place for racism 
or discrimination of any kind.  The answers may not be simple and there may be no quick 
fixes to some issues but CMT want to work with all staff to address them, and not just whilst 
BLM is in the news. 
 
We need to look at how Digital and ICT can support this drive.  We can ensure our data and 
information is of the highest quality.  We supply the tools, technologies and training to enable 
expert analysis, delivering knowledge and insight about our customers and services and to 
enable evidence-based decision making.  A key priority for this Strategy, and a theme cutting 
across all objectives, is the continued commitment to ensure accessibility of all content, 
applications and services provided for the public, internal colleagues, and other 
stakeholders. 
 
 
The Public Sector Financial Position  
 
Even before the Coronavirus Pandemic hit, the financial position for the public sector was 
challenging.  In the face of a growing and aging population and increased demand for 
council services, we need to be ever more efficient.  The impact of the pandemic has been 
enormous, with spiralling costs in some areas where demand has increased, or we have had 
to adapt services to continue to deliver.  At the same time our income from services has 
reduced.  The result of this, and the ongoing uncertainty of the impact of the pandemic, 
means that our financial position is even more challenging.  Digital and ICT can play a role in 
reducing costs by facilitating self-service and automating administrative tasks whilst also 
ensuring we use the most cost-effective infrastructure and applications to deliver our 
services. 
 
 
These priorities, together with the information gathered in stakeholder workshops, the 
outputs of the WoW sub-group and the new Customer Experience Strategy, have informed 
the strategic objectives, themes, and projects, shaping the ICT Strategy for 2021 – 2024. 
 
  

75



   
 

12 
 

6. A Digital and ICT Strategy for Renewal and Positive Change in Bracknell Forest 
 
Coping with the Coronavirus pandemic has been the council’s top priority for the short term 
and the implications of the pandemic will need to be planned for and managed for the 
medium and longer term.  The Renewal Strategy will have an impact on how the council is to 
deliver services in the future.  Across the country, councils are building on a greater 
acceptance of using Digital and ICT solutions to access and provide services.  In the period 
following the first lockdown (from March 2020) there began a rapid take up of digital and IT 
tools to maintain life as normal for people, and business as usual for commerce. 
 
A few examples of the day to day activities that have been transformed into the “new normal” 
included: 
 

Quarter One 2020 
 

Quarter Two 2020 
 

Commuting  Working at home 

Using Email  Collaboration using TEAMS 

Meetings in the office Meetings using Teams 

Visiting friends occasionally Using Zoom every weekend 

Going shopping Buying online 

Visiting the doctor Online consultations 

Employees being in the office Employees being in their office 

Meetings in the Council Chamber Council Meetings with Teams or Zoom 

 
 
The Digital and ICT Strategy needs to focus on supporting a programme of renewal and 
change by enabling the adaptation of existing, or development of new, services to meet new 
needs, building on a greater acceptance of using Digital and ICT by our key stakeholder 
groups:    
 

 Citizens 

 Businesses 

 Employees 

 Elected Members 

 Partners and Other Agencies  

 Schools 
 
 
CMT has already established an important sub-group of the Coronavirus Recovery Cell. The 
Ways of Working (WoW) sub-group is specifically tasked with refreshing our views on the 
ways in which we work and utilise our buildings.  A key question concerns the level of home 
and remote working that is acceptable to maintain excellent service delivery, which could 
offer entirely new options for how we work in a community partnership with other 
organisations, sharing the Time Square, and other, offices. 
 
The Renewal Strategy will also provide a chance to reflect on the establishment of a range 
of innovative and agile “emergency” measures implemented to help to cope with the 
Coronavirus crisis, that could be designed to leave a lasting legacy on a number of the 
functions of the Council, for example: 
  

76



   
 

13 
 

a)  Supporting local democracy 

 Almost overnight elected members and staff have had to gain a level of comfort with 
online collaboration and video conferencing tools that previously seemed years away. 
This is likely to leave a lasting impact and there is scope to refine what has already 
been achieved using Microsoft Teams and Live Events, alongside other online 
platforms. 

Some statistics about our approach to local democracy during the early days 
of the pandemic: 

 

 

b)  Working from home and remotely  

 Although the majority of council staff were classed as “home-flex,” meaning they 
would work from home up to 40% of the week, with the remainder of their time hot-
desking in Time Square or another council office, in practice most staff worked most 
of their time at the same desk, and worked from home only one day per week, if they 
didn’t need to attend the office for meetings.  The Coronavirus pandemic meant that 
overnight most staff moved to working most of their time in their homes.  This ability 
to adjust rapidly to new requirements meant that the vast majority of the Council’s 
services were able to continue operating either fully, or with some modifications.  The 
impact on customers has therefore been kept to a minimum, and this is a testament 
to the robustness and resilience of the ICT infrastructure in place, and the team 
supporting it.  

 

  

4 Public Council Meetings carried out 
remotely (May - June) 

School Admissions appeals carried out 
remotely (June - July) 

Annual 
Council 

41 
Councillors 

10 Officers 

22 Viewers 

168 Clicks 

Planning 
Committee 

20 
Councillors 

11 Officers 

33 Viewers 

131 Clicks 

Overview 
and Scruitny 
Committee 

16 
Councillors 

2 Co-opted 
parent 

governors 

6 Officers 

3 Viewers 

17 Clicks 

Governance 
and Audit 

Committee 

9 Councillors 

1 Co-opted 
member 

1 External 
participient 

4 Viewers 

12 Clicks 

School 
Admission 

Appeals 

50 Appeals 

14 Days 

12 Panel 
Members 

77



   
 

14 
 

c) Meeting needs quickly and flexibly  

 The traditional model for local authorities to address needs has been to deliver a  top-
 down service and make incremental improvements. But in recent month a new order 
 of things has emerged. This includes: 

 A rapid reconnection with the local voluntary and community sector (VCS), 
quickly building or strengthening relationships into solid delivery partnerships 
for meeting the needs of vulnerable people. 

 Mass citizen participation in community responses, notably in NHS, councils 
and local VCS organisations rapidly recruiting and deploying thousands of 
volunteers. 

 Extensive development and use of “match-making” platforms to connect 
vulnerable people with those able to help. 

 A re-evaluation of vulnerability and need. Some groups are becoming 
vulnerable for  the first time and others are now vulnerable in new ways. Local 
authorities are now quickly trying to ascertain who may need help and how 
best to reach them. 

 Different demographic groups experience inadequacies in some service 
models (e.g. some new groups of people having to apply for universal credit). 

 Rapid adaptation of existing services, or development of new services to 
meet new needs.  

 

c)  Making better use of data 

 During the pandemic, the negative consequences of data silos, the lack of data 
 standards and other barriers have gained fresh attention. The Coronavirus response 
 is creating an environment in which breaking down those barriers has become a 
 political priority and organisations can see first-hand what can be done at speed. For 
 example, based on a request from boroughs, the Information Governance Group for 
 London has been able to create a data sharing agreement for boroughs to share data 
 between themselves on vulnerable children who depend on free school meals, in 
 less than a week.  At Bracknell Forest Council, regular reporting on key services 
impacted by the pandemic has enabled CMT to quickly and easily see and monitor 
trends and impacts, enabling quicker decision-making and clarity of direction. 

 

A table illustrating the potential “digital” legacy for positive change after we emerge from the 
Coronavirus pandemic, based on some shared experience of local authorities is shown at 
Appendix B.  
 
 
 
 
 
  

78



   
 

15 
 

7. Building on the Completed ICT and Digital Strategy (2017 - 2020) 
 
The implementation of the Digital and ICT Strategy 2017- 2020 has been completed. This 
Strategy set out an aspiration to position BFC to embrace cloud technologies, to re-balance 
the ICT security culture to become more enabling and to encourage innovation.  
 
A re-positioning of ICT Services began under this strategy timeframe, and despite a period 
of management instability in ICT Services, a great deal has been achieved (especially in the 
last eighteen months), including: 
 

 The adoption of Microsoft technologies via a thorough procurement process to 
provide the primary platform to move into a cloud-based operation, offering access to 
a full suite of applications and security features to modernise the ICT estate.  

 

 Introducing a cloud-based, ICT Service Management System (TOTO), subsequently 
extended to HR and Facilities.  

 

 Migrating to Microsoft Exchange Online from an on-premise version. 
 

 Implementing the Office 365 suite, including One Drive, TEAMS and SharePoint. 
 

 Implementing a council-wide Electronic Document and Records Management 
System (EDRMS) using SharePoint and retiring some “legacy” document 
management systems, that were not GDPR compliant. 

 

 Implementing a new Intranet system using SharePoint. 
 

 Upgrading the Council’s web site. 
 

 The establishment of a new role of ICT Business Partners to pro-actively maintain 
the relationship between Digital and ICT Services and their customers.  
 

 Implementing a range of corporate applications to meet the needs for common 
requirements arising across all functions 

  

79



   
 

16 
 

Corporate Applications 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

Teams 

Analytics tool for data modelling, 

presentation of data via 

dashboards  

Email 
 Calendars 
 Contacts 

Personal 
Workstyle Insights delivered to 

your inbox 

Workflow 
Process 

Automation 

Digital Document 

Bundling 

Redaction, Optical 

Character 

recognition   

Enterprise 
Survey Tool 

Power BI 
Sway 

Office 

OneNote 

Outlook 

OneDrive For 
Business 

SharePoint 

Zoom Participant 
My  

Analytics 

Planner 

PowerApps 

Flow 

Objective 

Adobe Acrobat Pro 

Whiteboard 

WHAT TO USE WHEN 

WHEN? 

No additional cost, can 
use immediately  Additional Licence cost  

Plan, Analyse, Create 

80



   
 

17 
 

 
Moving to Cloud Based Computing and Software as a Service (SaaS) 

 
The Council is on schedule to complete the implementation of the Office 365 suite of  
applications including the SharePoint EDRMS by early 2021.  These applications  
are hosted in the Cloud at secure facilities making up the Microsoft Azure service.  
 
BFC has also invested in Microsoft security products and services such as the 
Security Compliance Package to enable a secure and agile environment for  
Bring Your Own Device (BYOD) and working with other agencies.  This close 
strategic alignment with Microsoft’s products and services makes the adoption of 
Microsoft Azure the logical choice for hosting BFC’s cloud-based applications.  
 
Many of the software applications in use at BFC are still located (hosted) on  
physical and virtual servers in Time Square (an operating environment known as “on  
premise” or “on-prem”).  Working from servers located securely in the Cloud is now a  
mature operating model, across all industry sectors.  
 
A project to review and migrate the software applications in use at BFC to a  
cloud-based model, to improve resilience and significantly reduce ICT  
facilities on premise, was approved in July 2020, and is currently in progress.  
 
This project which will organise the hosting of information systems between  
Microsoft’s Azure facility, or directly with the application suppliers (providing a cloud  
hosting facility) represents an important bridge from the previous strategy to the new  
Digital and ICT Strategy 2021 to 2024. 
 
Software as a Service 
 
Where there is a good tactical, operational or financial reason to have business 
applications or other software “hosted” by the software provider, the opportunity will  
be taken. This commercial model is known as Software as a Service (SaaS) and it  
can have several advantages, e.g. 
 

 The cost includes all the physical costs (physical servers and storage).  
 

 Refresh costs are avoided, so the customer does not have to worry about 
paying any future server upgrade costs.  

 

 Licence costs, such as operating systems and monitoring tools are included. 
 

 Running costs i.e. power and core infrastructure provision are avoided. 
 

Depending on the service / customer requirements, the SaaS model often includes:  
 

 Application management, i.e. maintaining the application, out of hours support, 
upgrades and year end support, 

 

 Database administration, including: 
 

o pro-active management of database performance, 
o upgrades and licences, 
o provision of test databases in line with application upgrade, 

 

81



   
 

18 
 

 Provision and testing of disaster recovery, 
 

 Penetration testing and vulnerability assessments, 
 

 Full out of hours service, including installation, patching and upgrades of 
operating systems. 

 
 
An important consideration around which applications could or should be hosted in 
MS Azure or with suppliers based on SaaS models, is the sustainability of current 
business applications (e.g. MOSAIC, Agresso Business World, Midland HR, Uniform 
or LAS).  Generally, older (legacy) applications can be expensive to maintain, with 
high levels of third party and “in-house” support resources being required to achieve 
basic outputs such as reports.  
  
High maintenance applications requiring dedicated support, frequent upgrades or 
even those with limited development and insufficient upgrades to keep pace with 
requirements will be identified for early attention. The aim is to produce a plan in 
Digital and ICT Services to assess fitness for purpose and value for money of all 
software applications supporting services.   A quality improvement action plan will 
then prioritise moving, upgrading or replacing applications, based on their relative 
effectiveness. 
 
Where there is an opportunity to rationalise and reduce the size of the estate we are 
supporting, this will be taken. For example, we will look to use a single document 
management system across the organisation, a single CRM, a single contact centre 
solution, etc.  When applications are due for contract renewal or retendering, we will 
always look for another application in our service catalogue that might meet the need. 
 
 

 
  

82



   
 

19 
 

8. Developing a Digital and ICT Strategy for Renewal and Change in BFC 
 
Taking account of the pandemic and its major unplanned impact on our corporate priorities 
requires a different approach to producing the Digital and ICT Strategy than in previous 
versions, where the strategy was encapsulated in a single, all-purpose vision or mission 
statement.  This current strategic cycle requires a more agile approach based on a clear 
expression of the ambitions (e.g. introducing technologies or systems) and the structural and 
process changes that that would be required to support the strategy for renewal and positive 
change.  
 
 
To develop the Digital and ICT Strategy 2021 to 2024 we have undertaken the following 
activities: 
 

 Reviewing the strategic programme delivered as part of the ICT Strategy 2017 to 
2020 as a baseline for developing ideas.  

 

 Alignment with the council’s priorities as set out in the Corporate Plan 2019 and 
updated by the objectives of the Renewal strategy. 

 

 Consultation with stakeholder groups to identify the key strategic objectives and 
specific strategic themes for 2021 - 2024. 

 

 Each key strategic theme is then used to classify (or group) a programme of projects   
 

 Each project must support the strategic objectives identified in the stakeholder 
workshops  
 

 The strategic themes and supporting change programmes (e.g. restructuring the ICT 
and Digital Services department, moving the ICT Data Centre to the Cloud, boosting 
digital skills and responding to the Cyber threat) are reflected in an initial programme, 
shown at Appendix C.  Inevitably further projects will emerge throughout the lifetime 
of the strategy. 
 

 Costs and benefits of all projects proposed and emerging projects through the 
lifetime of the strategy will be articulated and assessed before any project begins.   
 

 
Beginning in the autumn of 2019 a small team comprising the Assistant Director Customer 
Experience, Digital and ICT and two ICT Business Partners facilitated several workshops 
with key stakeholders to develop the Digital and ICT strategy including:  
 

 Corporate Management Team 
 

 Elected members, through the Executive and Overview and Scrutiny meetings 
 

 Senior Leadership Group 
 

 Directorate Management Teams 
 

 The ICT and Digital Teams 
 

 ICT Steering Group 
 

83



   
 

20 
 

 Ways of Working Group 
 

Due to the pandemic, many of these workshops were delivered online.  This was a concrete 
example of the difference digital makes to the success of the organisation. An activity that 
would have traditionally been held in a meeting room in Time Square moved easily online, 
ensuring wide consultation with, and participation of, key stakeholders.  
 
 

 
Example of on-line whiteboard from workshops 

 
 
We used these workshops to elicit the strategic Objectives and Themes around which to 
develop the Digital and ICT Strategy for 2021 to 2024.   
 
 
  

84



   
 

21 
 

9. Strategic Objectives 
 
The following strategic objectives for the ICT and Digital Strategy were also derived from the 
stakeholder workshops: 
 

1. To deliver the ambitions of the new Customer Experience Strategy by: 
o embracing innovation to deliver improvements for customers 
o expanding multi-channel service delivery  

 
2. To develop a well-trained, Digital workforce 

 
3. To enable a Digital Community Partnership to support services 

 
4. To maintain a cost-effective, resilient and secure Digital and ICT infrastructure 

 
5. To support climate change and sustainability 

 
6. To protect information and data with a robust Information Governance framework 

 
7. To use data and business intelligence to support decision-making and service design 

 
 
These strategic objectives set out at a high level, some key performance indicators against 
which the overall success of the ICT strategy can be measured. For example, moving to a 
Cloud based operation would enable strategic objectives (5) to maintain a cost effective, 
resilient and secure Digital and ICT infrastructure, by moving to a pay as you use model, and 
(6) support climate change and sustainability by reducing the consumption of heating, 
lighting and other utilities at Time Square.    
  
Alignment with the strategic objectives provides a clear focus when determining the priorities 
Digital and ICT Strategy - Work Programme of Projects.   
 
 
 
  

85



   
 

22 
 

10. Strategic Themes 2021 - 2024 
 
 
Eleven Strategic Themes were identified through the stakeholder workshops: 

 
 
Robust and reliable ICT; resilience and security  
  
 

As our reliance on Digital and ICT services increases, the ICT infrastructure (e.g. servers, 
networks and data storage) must be maintained to be fully available, robust and reliable. 
Linked to the Cloud hosting programme of projects, this strategic theme will cover the 
required networking infrastructure and security framework to facilitate more remote and 
flexible working and at the same time, mitigate the increasing threat posed by cyber 
criminals. 

With the role of councils being instrumental to the COVID-19 response, and digital 
communications and services being so critical to their efforts, cyber threats remain very real. 
Remote working, new partnerships and an increased reliance on digital services means that 
the risk associated with a cyber incident is greater than ever.  

The Digital and ICT Strategy must ensure that appropriate systems and employee 
awareness measures are put in place to protect the council and its employees, customers 
and partners, to work securely with these new working opportunities. Moving from an On-
Premise data centre to a Cloud based model will ensure a good degree of resilience as a 
baseline, e.g., maintaining uninterruptable power suppliers or local storage and backup 
solutions will be provided under the service level agreement with Microsoft Azure, which has 
highly contingent technical resources. 

The Digital and ICT strategy must ensure that the fundamental infrastructure to engage with 
Cloud Hosting such as internet connectivity and capacity is sufficiently capable to support 
the new working arrangements. The capabilities of hosting providers (especially under a 
SaaS model) must be properly evaluated and the service levels must be actively monitored. 

Business as Usual (BAU) need not be any more difficult to achieve using a Cloud based 
model and indeed it may be somewhat easier, but the need to maintain BAU becomes even 
more critical as our reliance on Digital and ICT continues to grow.  

 
  
Moving into the next phase of cloud-based hosting, including Software as 
a Service  
  
 

The Council is scheduled to complete the implementation of the O365 suite of applications  
including the SharePoint EDRMS by spring 2021.  These applications are hosted in the  
Cloud at secure facilities making up the Microsoft Azure service. The vast majority of other 
software applications in use at BFC are still located (hosted) on servers at Time Square, in  
an operating environment known as “on-premise” or “on-prem”.  
 
Working from servers located securely in the Cloud is now a mature operating model, 
across all industry sectors.  
 
Several servers in use at BFC are approaching the end of life and will not be supportable  

86



   
 

23 
 

from autumn 2021.  These servers must be replaced, or the applications hosted elsewhere. 
Cloud hosting is the preferred option. The migration of servers and applications to the 
Cloud was signalled in the ICT and Digital Strategy 2017 to 2020.  The Office 365  
Programme of projects (including the SharePoint EDRMS and the new intranet) has been 
the first phase of this overall migration plan.   
 
Moving to a Cloud based hosting model is a fundamental building block for secure and  
resilient location independent working. The “mainstream” availability of cloud-based 
services for infrastructure such as servers, or software hosting, provides a choice of 
operating environments for organisations with a high dependency upon ICT.  
 
Software suppliers are in the process of upgrading their applications to Cloud-based 
versions only. They will eventually offer less advantages to customers maintaining software 
applications on premise. The new service model is known as Software as a Service (SaaS)  
 
Having successfully implemented Office 365, BFC could now begin to exploit the growing  
range of services and facilities enabled by an expanding range of innovative technology,  
known collectively as the Internet of Things (IOT), and build on an operating model even  
more capable of supporting secure mobile working, e.g. employees using their own devices  
to access BFC systems. This is termed “Bring Your Own Device” (BYOD).  
 
Hosting software and services in the Cloud would reduce the consumption of electricity,  
cooling and other environmental resources of physical servers, currently on-premise but  
which are selected to be hosted in the Cloud. However, the energy and other resources  
used in the Azure data centre(s) would be shared more efficiently over many other  
customers and that would represent a net environmental benefit. Microsoft have made a  
commitment to be “carbon negative” by 2030, and this includes the running of their Azure  
premises. 
 
The footprint required by Digital and ICT Services Time Square would be reduced by a 
significant shift to Cloud hosting and could assist in any property optimisation scenarios  
being considered for the Ways of Working (WOW) Sub-Group.   
 

 
 
 Information Assets and Data Management  
 
 

 
This strategic theme is about making the most of the data that we collect and hold.  
The Council’s data is one of its most important assets.  
 
We need to know exactly what information we hold and the value that we gain from it, 
identifying core central data sets for the council. We must improve and maintain the quality 
of our information, ensuring we keep it appropriately, lawfully and securely, and we need to 
continue to archive and dispose of it in line with appropriate retention policies. This will 
underpin an improved capability to develop business intelligence and produce reports to aid 
evidence-based decision making and service shaping or re-design.  
 
  

87



   
 

24 
 

 
 
 
 Location independent, home and mobile working  
 
 

Research carried out by the public sector IT association, SOCITM during May and June 
2020, has identified that the proportion of local authority staff working from home during the 
coronavirus pandemic reached 82% compared with 5% previously.  

One contributor to the report commented “We have catapulted staff into the digital age,” 
What is happening is probably the most seismic change in modernising the public sector any 
of us have experienced, and after months staff will not want to go back to how they worked 
before. When we emerge from this, from an IT, modernisation and transformation 
perspective, things will be better.” 
 
This is a very likely scenario and so the Digital and ICT Strategy must be directed at 
enabling the expansion of new work styles and service delivery opportunities (e.g. workplace 
accommodation and the utilisation of buildings for increased inter-agency working) further 
boosted by the Renewal Strategy.  
 
In addition to the growth in location independent, home and mobile working, there are 
several options to be considered about how BFC and its community-based partners could 
utilise the accommodation made free by the upsurge in homeworking. BFC is already 
making modifications to business premises to enable the recommended standards for 
hygiene, sanitisation and social distancing.  

Examples of the considerations around a full re-opening of council buildings include: 
 

 Physical access controls such as pin pads or biometrics should be assessed 

especially where direct contact is concerned.  

 

 Unlike the work environment prior to COVID-19, BFC may need to collate data to 

enable contact tracing by authorities should this be required. This may involve 

recording of identities, movements, times and durations. Similarly. it will be important 

to consider local privacy legislation and to prepare an appropriate policy, declaring 

how this information will be managed.  

 In returning to the office, or continuing remote working, BFC must ensure that a 
facility is provided for staff to either return or securely destroy any physical hard 
copy media or electronic media storage devices that may have been in use 
during the work from home period. 

 

 To ensure social distancing rules, The WoW sub-group has been re-thinking desk 
positioning to ensure that employees’ wellbeing is protected.  
 

 Public health guidance and BFC will not want people to present for work if they are 
symptomatic of COVID-19. We may see employers choosing to take and record the 
temperature of employees before entering the work premises.  
 
 
 

88



   
 

25 
 

 
Further Enable Collaborative Working Within BFC and With Community 
Partners  
  

 
The timely implementation of O365 enabled collaborative and agile working both inside and 
outside of the organisation, just in time to help cope with the Coronavirus crisis. The work of 
community partners and voluntary services organisations has already been recognised in 
general terms and it is a key pillar of the Renewal Strategy.  
 
We must now build on this cooperative model with enabling technology, processes, culture 
change and supporting policies (e.g. data sharing) to work with our community partners on 
shared services or projects and in shared accommodation. 
 
The Ways of Working Sub-Group is tasked with enabling premises, technologies and culture 
to be adapted to assist in this objective. Work will need to be done to identify the 
opportunities to add capacity, by working more collaboratively with health partners and the 
Citizens Advice Bureau, for example.  This could mean providing expertise or technical 
support, developing data sharing agreements, enabling access to BFC systems and 
networks (in strict compliance with GDPR) and assistance in developing web sites.  
 

 
 
Increasing Digital Skills  
  
 

Responding to the greater take up of Digital Services by our customers and the heightened 
reliance on using Digital to connect us to our customers and one another, it is essential to 
develop and implement a programme to improve digital skills, in the workforce, in our 
democratic representatives and in our communities.  Developing demonstrable digital 
leadership at the senior management level will be crucial in promoting a Digital culture, to 
maximise return on investment and encourage agility in how BFC works and delivers 
services.  Elected Members will increasingly be expected to undertake their work in the 
digital world, with online meetings and member surgeries becoming the norm.  And to 
ensure we don’t exclude anyone in our society from our democratic processes or our 
services, we will need a Digital Inclusion programme to support the development of skills in 
our community.   

 
 

 
 Digital Customer Engagement (internal and external)  
  
 

This strategic theme builds on a greater acceptance of using digital solutions to provide 
services, as evidenced in the period following the national “lock down” (from 23rd March 
2020) where there began a rapid take up of digital tools to maintain life as normal for people 
and business as usual for commerce. 
 
The related programme of projects linked to the Customer Engagement theme would 
include; 
 

 A fit for purpose customer relationship management system (CRM) 
 

 A fit for purpose telephone call handling system to ensure that customers can 
complete enquiries and transactions quickly and conveniently, and for service 

89



   
 

26 
 

providers, where time is not wasted on low value transactions and call back to 
customers. 
 

 A Community based platform for citizens and customers to support the new 
community partnerships emerging from the response to the Pandemic. 
 

 A drive to develop more customer self-service through accessible web portals, 
telephony, and other channels, reducing the requirement to visit council buildings.  
 
 

 
Fully featured, Cloud based telephone system to enable more customer 
self-service and collaborative working  
  

 
This theme covers options to consolidate current telephone systems and call centre 
operations in use, with a single Cloud based system for telephony, replacing the current on-
prem PBX with a complete VOIP solution. The key objectives of this strategic theme are to: 
 

 Simplify, through consolidation, the current systems in use.  
 

 To leverage where possible the investment made in 0365 (Teams) as a video 
conferencing and telephony platform. 

 

 To clarify and improve support arrangements with clearly identified fault escalation 
and resolution responsibilities and targets.   

 

 To maintain a transparency over costs. 
 
 

 
  
 Internet of Things  
  
 

 
One of the biggest opportunities for local authorities is presented by the emergence of the 
Internet of Things. This theme is about using the connectivity supporting the Internet of 
Things (IoT) to leverage applications to automate everyday tasks e.g. in health and social 
care environments. 
 
IOT-connected devices and sensor and control elements that are connected to their 
operational software platforms can give councils the power to remotely control, monitor the 
condition of their assets, issue work orders, track workflow, and optimise resource usage.  

There is a raft of possible applications for IoT across BFC’s operations.  Like BFC, many 
local authorities began using IoT a few years ago by placing sensors on streetlights.  
Utilising data or communication networks, they focus on getting these assets to self-report to 
new central management systems (CMSs) installed at their headquarters. 

It’s an approach that has the potential to turn asset maintenance and management into a 
more proactive process for councils.  An alert is sent over the network to the CMS when a 
bulb blows, providing the council with an immediate update on the situation rather than 
having to wait for a monthly inspection or rely on a member of the public to report the 

90



   
 

27 
 

problem. The result is that the council can be more energy-efficient and provide a better 
service. 

One of the biggest potential benefits of IoT is the opportunity to achieve reduced cost of 
service delivery. For example, sensors strategically placed in litter or commercial waste bins 
could allow BFC to develop more efficient routing and collections and even review, based on 
fill levels, whether bins are really required in certain locations.  Operational efficiencies could 
be achieved by using sensors on bin lorries to monitor potholes and road conditions while 
waste collection teams go about their daily operations rather than a separate team having to 
be sent out to investigate, or relying on members of the public to report issues. 

Sensor-based technology can also enable councils to make safety improvements. They 
could, for example, be used to measure the lean of a dangerous tree and alert the 
authorities to any worsening of it.  They could be deployed to measure water or silt levels, 
and give early warning about potential flooding, enabling the council to take proactive action 
to resolve the problem rather than waiting until an incident occurs and infrastructure assets 
and the public, are at risk. 

Added to this, there are future opportunities to use IoT-connected devices to measure air 
quality especially with a growing number of low emissions zones now being introduced 
across the UK. 

Sensors can also help improve decision-making. Collecting all this data across IoT networks 
puts councils in a good position to make more informed decisions about their infrastructure 
and how to manage it in an efficient and cost-effective way. 

 

 
 Low-code development and automation  
  
 

 
Low code is a visual approach to application development that enables professional and 
non-professional developers to collaborate and rapidly build and deploy applications. 
According to Gartner, “By 2024, low-code application development will be responsible for 
more than 65% of application development activity.” 

Developing low code applications (i.e. software that can rapidly create new forms, services, 
apps and systems without coding) could allow BFC to implement systems quickly and at less 
cost than third party software applications. To use current examples of where low code has 
been used to good effect by other local authorities, to enable new working arrangements to 
be introduced, including: 

 Integrated and ongoing tracking of employee health and wellbeing 
 Dynamic office opening checklists and task management 
 Employee, Visitor and event attendee management 
 Automating business operations to optimise digital and remote working 
 Resource management to support emergency responses for public sector 

organisations and partners. 
 Digitising for the future by automating the work that requires face to face contacts, or 

mandates office working and causes bottlenecks if team members are not present. 

Using Low Code development is one way to minimise the cost of failing third party 
applications and expensive “traditional” in-house software applications development.    

91



   
 

28 
 

 

Reviewing Digital and ICT Services Systems, Support and Processes to 
ensure, economy, efficiency and effectiveness  
 

 
There is no doubt that Digital and ICT Services is a very busy service area.  Even before the 
pandemic, resources were stretched, for a service supporting all employees, services and by 
implication, partners and external customers.  
 
Being in a continual busy state leaves little time to reflect on the quality of the services 
delivered.  In an ideal world, the efficiency of current processes and service delivery models 
would be kept under constant review in order to achieve continuous improvement.  
 
Pressure on our customers’ resources can also result in a less than satisfactory experience 
with their information systems.  For example, a very high proportion of calls to the service 
desk concern problems being experienced by just one software application.  Internal and 
external customers of Digital and ICT Services should be assured that the software 
applications in use are fit for purpose and well supported.  
 
Other ICT support systems must also be efficient and effective if the user experience of 
Digital and ICT is to be positive and productive, for example; 
 

 the operation ICT Service Desk must co-ordinate resolutions to reported problems 
and minimise disruption for customers  

 the change control process must ensure that all potential changes to the ICT estate 
are scrutinised to prevent the introduction of problems 

 ICT third party supplier management should be regular and challenging to ensure 
that customers are being well supported in the use of their applications  

 ICT security processes need to be robust but at the same time they must not stifle 
innovation.  

 
The Digital and ICT Strategy 2021 to 2024 brings significant changes to how Digital and ICT 
services will be provided in the future. Current ICT processes are therefore in need of 
updating to reflect new ways of working, based on new commercial and operational models, 
such as Cloud based hosting. This strategic theme is concerned with a thorough review of 
key Digital and ICT Services Systems, Support and Processes to ensure economy, 
efficiency and effectiveness, whilst providing the best possible service to customers.  
  
 
 
These eleven strategic themes can be viewed as individual programmes of work comprising 
one or more projects. All eleven themes (programmes) make up the Digital and ICT strategic 
work programme from January 2021 to December 2024.  This programme will continue to 
develop over the life of the strategy, as work progresses, and new opportunities emerge 
 
Converting the strategic themes into programmes of work, enables interdependencies and 
resource needs to be identified, and projects to be grouped and scheduled for 
implementation.  
 
 
 
Maintaining a high level of awareness of the Digital and ICT Strategy is essential for new 
ways of working and corresponding changes to policies and processes to be adopted. 

92



   
 

29 
 

Ensuring that the strategic themes are known and understood by employees, customers and 
partners will require simple messaging and signage throughout.  
 
One output that can be taken forward in advance of a wider communications programme is 
to describe the Digital and ICT Strategy on a single page. An example of what that might 
look like is set out in the Exec Summary (Page 5-6).    
 
 
  

93



   
 

30 
 

11. Measuring progress against the objectives 
 
The Digital and ICT teams have a number of key performance indicators that reflect the 
strategic themes.  These include: 
 

 
 
Network performance – internet capacity 
Number of major systems with downtime 
Percentage of cyber incidents with no major impact  
Number of ICT service desk calls 
 

 
 
Percentage of ICT estate delivered from the cloud 
 

 
 
Percentage of projects completed on time and on budget 
Percentage of projects rated good or excellent 
Staff satisfaction with ICT 
 

 
 
Number of hours of staff time saved by utilising RPA 
Number of transactions delivered via self-service 
 
 
Further indicators will be developed during the first year of the strategy, to reflect the 
emerging programme of work.  These are likely to include indicators around data maturity, 
channel shift, application rationalisation and optimisation of our Azure estate. 
 
 
 
 
  

94



   
 

31 
 

Governance structure for the implementation of agreed programmes 
 
Oversight of the delivery of the strategy will sit with the ICT Steering Group, reporting 
regularly to CMT.  Individual projects will have their own Project Team structure, with 
representation from service areas in the council impacted by the project.  Where a project 
has significant impact across the whole organisation, such as the Cloud / SaaS project, the 
Digital & ICT Steering Group will act as the Board. 
 

 
 
 
  

Executive 
(Strategic Direction) 

CMT  

(Progress Tracking) 

Digital & ICT 
Steering Group 
(Programme Board) 

Project 
Teams 

(Delivery) 

95



   
 

32 
 

12. The work programme 

Keeping up to date with Digital and ICT is vital for most modern organisations, but it is not an 
end itself. The Digital and ICT strategy sets out how the ICT infrastructure and Digital 
opportunities will be developed to support the Council’s priorities from January 2021 to 
December 2024.  For the Digital and ICT Strategy to deliver the maximum benefits then it 
must be properly aligned with the Council’s Plan and the Renewal Strategy following the 
Coronavirus pandemic. 

The programme of work for the first year of the strategy is reasonably well defined.  We will 
continue to improve our infrastructure by renewing our network; the project to move our 
estate to the cloud should conclude in year one, and maximising our return on investment in 
the Microsoft 365 suite of applications by developing skills in the Power Apps and rolling 
these out to the organisation.  Further projects will include the move to cloud-based 
telephony using Microsoft Teams and a cloud hosted contact centre, as well as the 
development of applications using low-code and automation platforms. 

Further projects will emerge during year one, to be approved by the Executive and delivered 
in subsequent years.  A timeline for the work programme is included at Appendix C. 

 

  

96



   
 

33 
 

13. Improving the customer experience and managing change  
 
Improving processes and customer experience through service design 
 
It is important to acknowledge that “shifting” a process online is not a matter of simply doing 
the same thing but through a  browser: it also requires changes to policies, processes and 
practices. It should be noted that technology is only one component of technology enabled 
change which can only deliver expected organisational benefits and savings in conjunction 
with: 
 

 Business processes that are efficient and fit for purpose, and  
 

 The adoption of new ways of working by the end user and not 
simply automating poor processes. 

 
We should always bear in mind the following pitfall with mis-directed ICT investment, 
expressed in a formula as: “OP + NT = EOP”  

Where OP = Old Processes, NT = New Technology and EOP = Expensive Old Processes.  

The organisation must recognise the need for business transformation and be supportive of 

the Digital and ICT, Customer Services and Renewal strategies.  

 

It has been said that most of our services were not designed for the digital age.  But the 
reality is that most of them simply were not designed. They have developed, grown, altered 
and expanded over the years, as new requirements emerge, or resourcing constraints come 
into play.  Moving to a more digital model of delivery gives us the opportunity to design these 
services anew.  Service redesign will be at the heart of our digital development work, and will 
be delivered using the Government Digital Service design principles: 
 
 
1. Start with user needs 
Service design starts with identifying user needs. If you don’t know what the user needs are, 
you won’t build the right thing. Do research, analyse data, talk to users. Don’t make 
assumptions. Have empathy for users and remember that what they ask for isn’t always 
what they need. 
 
2. Do less 
Government should only do what only government can do. If we’ve found a way of doing 
something that works, we should make it reusable and shareable instead of reinventing the 
wheel every time. This means building platforms and registers others can build upon, 
providing resources (like APIs) that others can use, and linking to the work of others. We 
should concentrate on the irreducible core. 
 
3. Design with data 
In most cases, we can learn from real world behaviour by looking at how existing services 
are used. Let data drive decision-making, not hunches or guesswork. Keep doing that after 
taking your service live, prototyping and testing with users then iterating in response. 
Analytics should be built-in, always on and easy to read. They’re an essential tool. 
 
4. Do the hard work to make it simple 
Making something look simple is easy. Making something simple to use is much harder - 
especially when the underlying systems are complex - but that’s what we should be doing. 

97



   
 

34 
 

Don’t take “It’s always been that way” for an answer.  It’s usually more and harder work to 
make things simple, but it’s the right thing to do. 
 
5. Iterate. Then iterate again 
The best way to build good services is to start small and iterate wildly. Release minimum 
viable products early, test them with actual users, move from alpha to beta to live adding 
features, deleting things that don’t work and making refinements based on feedback. 
Iteration reduces risk. It makes big failures unlikely and turns small failures into lessons. If a 
prototype isn’t working, don’t be afraid to scrap it and start again. 
 
6. This is for everyone 
Accessible design is good design. Everything we build should be as inclusive, legible and 
readable as possible. If we have to sacrifice elegance - so be it. We’re building for needs, 
not audiences. We’re designing for the whole country, not just the ones who are used to 
using the web. The people who most need our services are often the people who find them 
hardest to use. Let’s think about those people from the start. 
 
7. Understand context 
We’re not designing for a screen; we’re designing for people. We need to think hard about 
the context in which they’re using our services. Are they in a library? Are they on a phone? 
Are they only really familiar with Facebook? Have they never used the web before? 
 
8. Build digital services, not websites 
A service is something that helps people to do something. Our job is to uncover user needs 
and build the service that meets those needs. Of course, much of that will be pages on the 
web, but we’re not here to build websites. The digital world has to connect to the real world, 
so we have to think about all aspects of a service, and make sure they add up to something 
that meets user needs. 

 
9. Be consistent, not uniform 
We should use the same language and the same design patterns wherever possible. This 
helps people get familiar with our services, but when this isn’t possible, we should make sure 
our approach is consistent. 
This isn’t a straitjacket or a rule book. Every circumstance is different. When we find patterns 
that work, we should share them, and talk about why we use them. But that shouldn’t stop us 
from improving or changing them in the future when we find better ways of doing things or 
the needs of users change. 
 
10. Make things open: it makes things better 
We should share what we’re doing whenever we can. With colleagues, with users, with the 
world. Share code, share designs, share ideas, share intentions, share failures. The more 
eyes there are on a service the better it gets - howlers are spotted, better alternatives are 
pointed out, the bar is raised. 
Much of what we’re doing is only possible because of open source code and the generosity 
of the web design community. We should pay that back. 
 

 
  

98



   
 

35 
 

Change management approach 
 
As much as we can, we want to involve users in designing, testing, and implementing the 
changes we introduce.  By developing newly designed services in the open, and testing with 
real users, we can ensure that they are engaged throughout the process, and this helps to 
ensure effective adoption of new services.   
 
For changes to internal services we will continue use a “model office” approach as we did in 
the delivery of our previous strategy.  This way of working delivered excellent results with the 
initial roll out of the Microsoft 365 applications.  In addition, we will continue to deliver our 
monthly “Show and Tell” sessions to the whole organisation and use the ICT Newsletter to 
keep everyone up to date. 
 
 
 
  

99



   
 

36 
 

14. Conclusion  
 
Digital transformation is a public sector imperative.   Delivering this strategy will enable 
Bracknell Forest Council to: 
 
 Understand our residents better and achieve better outcomes for them 
 Provide services more effectively and efficiently 
 Find new solutions to policy and demand challenges 
 Engage more with our partners to develop new, customer-centric, delivery models 
 Take a commercial approach to our services by driving down costs and maximising 

revenue-generating opportunities 
 
Delivery of the strategy will help to ensure that Bracknell Forest remains the borough of 
opportunity. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
   
  

100



   
 

37 
 

 APPENDIX A 
 
About Bracknell Forest  
 
Bracknell Forest lies 28 miles west of London, at the heart of the Thames Valley and within 
the county of Berkshire. 
 
Our economy is of above average size and productivity, compared to the county and 
nationally. Good access links, a well-educated labour force and the quality of the 
environment are key attractors to the companies that have and continue to locate here, 
including a number of multi-national organisations. 
 
The borough has experienced pressures on housing, infrastructure services and 
environmental assets including sites designated as being important for nature conservation 
at an international, national and local level.  
 
A thriving population 
 
The borough’s population is 121,676 (Mid-2018 Estimates, based on Census 2011). The 
demand for an increased number of households still causes pressure for more housing. The 
population is relatively young (median age 38.7 years). 14.5% of the population is aged 65 
or over, compared to 17.7% nationally, although this is expected to grow. 
 
Health 
 
The health of people in Bracknell Forest is generally better than the England average. Life 
expectancy is increasing and is currently 81.3 years for men and 85.1 years for women. 
These are higher than the England averages which are 79.5 years and 83.1 years 
respectively. Smoking related deaths (272 per 100,000 population) and deaths from heart 
disease (31.7 per 100,000) and strokes (59.29 per 100,000) are below national levels. 
 
Schools 
 
Bracknell Forest has 36 primary schools, 7 secondary schools (including 8 academies), 1 
special school and 1 Pupil Referral Unit. 83% of schools are rated good or better.  
 
Under new reporting measures from the Department for Education (DfE), all secondary 
schools in England have their average examination results reported using numerical rather 
than alphabetical grades. For 2019, a standard pass has been set at a Grade 4, and a good 
pass at Grade 5. 
 
Bracknell Forest young people continue to perform in line with the national picture. 
Provisional results show that, 76% achieved 4+ in English Language or Literature, 73% 
achieved 4+ in mathematics, 67% achieved combined English and mathematics 4+, the 
average attainment 8 score across the borough was 47.2 
 
A desirable place 
 
Bracknell Forest covers 109 sq km of central Berkshire and includes the town of Bracknell, 
together with Sandhurst town and the villages of Crowthorne and Binfield, along with 
Warfield and Winkfield. Close to London, the area has easy access to the motorway network 
(M3, M4, M40 and M25), Heathrow, and direct train links into London. 
 
The north and east of the borough form part of the Metropolitan Green Belt, whilst land south 
of Bracknell and east of Crowthorne is internationally important for nature conservation. The 

101



   
 

38 
 

borough is proud and protective of its green character, with a third of our area comprising 
woodland. The borough also has one of the highest ratios of publicly accessible open space 
to its population, and much of this open space is maintained at a high standard. 
 
Housing 
 
The average house price has remained well above the national average for many years. As 
of May 2020, the average house price in Bracknell Forest was £336,871 compared with a 
South East average of £319,108 and a national average of £245,385. 
 
Finding acceptable locations for new housing and providing appropriate infrastructure 
continue to be major challenges for partners and residents. 
 
The council’s Core Strategy Development Plan Document requires approximately 11,000 
new dwellings between 2006 and 2026 to be built. The number of dwellings in the borough 
stands at 53,335. 
 
Cohesive communities 
 
The 2011 Census showed that 84.9% of the population was ‘White British’ and 15.1% of the 
population was BME and ‘white other’. 
 
The proportion of school pupils from Minority Ethnic Groups has increased steadily over the 
past few years rising from 16.1% in 2011 to 21.9% in 2018. 12% of pupils in Bracknell Forest 
schools have English as an Additional Language (EAL).  
 
The 2011 Census data showed the percentages of the population who identify with the major 
religious groups are as follows: 
• Christian: 60.5% 
• No religion: 31.9% 
• Hindu: 1.61% 
• Muslim: 1.13% 
• Buddhist: 0.73% 
• other religion: 0.43% 
• Sikh: 0.40% 
• Jewish: 0.16% 
 
Despite the steady change in the composition of the population, the area is generally a 
cohesive community where people get on well together. 
 
Deprivation 
 
Bracknell Forest is one of the least deprived areas of the country (ranked 284 out of 317 
local authorities in England on the Index of Multiple Deprivation 2019).  
 
Bracknell Forest is within the economically buoyant Thames Valley and already a premier 
business location. But the aspiration is to make the local economy even more successful 
throughout the borough.  
 
Town centre 
 
The £240m Lexicon opened on 7 September 2017. The Lexicon has created a new social 
and cultural heart for the area - bringing a high-quality mix of shops, restaurants and 
entertainment within vibrant public spaces to the Town Centre.  
 

102



   
 

39 
 

There are a number of stores in The Lexicon including a three-storey Fenwick department 
store, M&S and Primark. Furthermore, there are restaurants, bars and a 12-screen 
Cineworld cinema. The scheme has brought life back into the Town Centre both day and 
night. 
 
The Lexicon has been ranked as the 33rd best shopping destination in the UK, according to 
authoritative industry commentator Trevor Wood Associates. This compares with 255th 
position the previous year. 
The regeneration of Bracknell Town Centre is continuing with the development of The Deck, 
based around the former Bentalls store in the High Street and work to develop Princess 
Square. The council is also reviewing plans for the civic quarter, Market Square and the 
southern gateway together with other sites both within and on the edge of the Town Centre. 
 
Benefits 
 
The number of people claiming out-of-work benefits has been increasing since January 2018 
alongside the national trend. As of March 2020 the percentage of the population aged 16+ 
stands at 1.6%. This represents 1,240 people. The figure remains lower than both the South 
East and national averages (2.2% and 3.1% respectively).  
 
Crime 
 
Crime is low in the borough and decreasing. In 2019/20 overall crime decreased by 1.8% 
compared to 2018/19. Decreasing from 6,406 recorded crimes in the borough to 6,289 
recorded crimes.  
 
 
  
  

103



   
 

40 
 

        
          APPENDIX B 
The digital legacy of Coronavirus 
 
 

 
Pre-Coronavirus 

 

 
Coronavirus Response 

 
Potential Legacy 

 

 Online collaboration / video 
conferencing tools used 
extensively by ICT/Digital 
teams but little adoption 
elsewhere, particularly by 
elected members 

 

 Limited digital element to 
democratic functions.  

 Greatly increased comfort level 
with using online, collaborative 
(digital) tools by all staff and 
elected members.  

 

 Committee meetings being help 
online for the first time 

 

 Recognition that moving 
processes online involves 
changes to processes as well as 
tools.  

 Recognition of hurdles to 
action due to data 
collaboration barriers (e.g. 
SILOs, lack of data standards 

 New Information Governance 
agreements being set up on 
record time.  

 Data rapidly demanded by 
resilience groups 

 

 Councils’ traditional model 
for addressing local needs 
is to deliver a top down 
service 

 

 Little widespread innovation 
on fundamental service 
model.  

 

 Variable quality of 
relationships between local 
authorities and local VCS.  

 Rapid connection with local 
voluntary sector 

 Mass citizen participation in 
community responses 

 Extensive development and use 
of “match making” platforms 

 Rapid adaptation of existing and 
development of new services to 
meet new needs 

 Different demographics 
experience inadequacies in 
some service models 

 Serious consideration of new 
operating models based on 
recognition that councils can 
play roles other than service 
deliverer (e.g. match maker 
or convenor) 

 More strategic partnerships 
with local VSC and private 
sector organisations based 
on detailed understanding of 
each other’s strengths.  

 

 Small number of councils 
have fully developed digital 
capabilities as many have 
more traditional ICT 
departments 

 

 Three different approaches to 
use of technology became 
evident: Buy it, Lo Code it, Build 
it.  

 Recognition of need for Digital 
not just ICT capabilities 

 Importance of collaboration and 
working in the open made 
apparent.  

 Many more councils invest in 
genuine digital capabilities 

 Communication teams 
engaged in sharing service 
design work as it happens 

 Strategic collaboration goes 
mainstream 

 

 Technical, data, legal, 
organisational and cultural 
barriers to data collaboration 
known about but 
insufficiently addressed 

 Little common data 
infrastructure 

 Information Sharing 
Agreements take months 

 
 

 Recognition of hurdles to action 
due to data collaboration barriers 
(e.g. SILOs, lack of data 
standards 

 New Information Governance 
agreements being set up on 
record time.  

 Data rapidly demanded by 
resilience groups 

 
 

 Barriers to data collaboration 
addressed 

 Information governance 
approaches standardised 

 Wider number of datasets 
become permanent data 
infrastructure 

 Data recognised as a core 
pillar of resilience response 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

104



   
 

41 
 

           
 

APPENDIX C 
The Digital and ICT Work Programme January 2021 – December 2024 
 
Theme / 
Programme 
Project 

2020/ 
2021        

2021/ 
2022        

2022/ 
2023        

2023/ 
2024         

2024/ 
2025         

Benefit: 
Savings 

Benefit: 
Security 

Benefit: 
Efficiency 

Benefit: 
Supports 
WoW 

Robust and 
Reliable ICT  

         

Cloud Backup & 
Disaster Recovery 

      Y  Y 

Migrate from Citrix 
to MS  

      Y Y Y 

Enable MS AIP       Y   

Network 
optimisation 

         

          
Cloud Hosting 
and Support and 
Software as a 
Service  

         

Cloud Hosting in 
Azure 

     Y Y Y Y 

Applications to 
SaaS Model 

     Y Y Y Y 

Infrastructure as a 
Service 

     Y Y Y Y 

          
Information 
Assets and Data 
Management 

         

Data Strategy        Y  

Data Sharing & 
Security Protocols 

      Y Y  

Business 
Intelligence 
Reporting  

       Y  

          
Location 
independent/ 
home and Mobile 
Working 

         

Expand Home 
Working 

     Y  Y Y 

Enable Information 
Partnerships 

       Y Y 

Expand BYOD      Y  Y Y 

          

Digital Customer 
Engagement  

         

CRM System 
review 

       Y  

Extend Self      Y  Y Y 

105



   
 

42 
 

Theme / 
Programme 
Project 

2020/ 
2021        

2021/ 
2022        

2022/ 
2023        

2023/ 
2024         

2024/ 
2025         

Benefit: 
Savings 

Benefit: 
Security 

Benefit: 
Efficiency 

Benefit: 
Supports 
WoW 

Service Portals  

          
Cloud Based 
Telephony 

         

New Telephone 
System 

      Y Y  

Set Up Customer 
Call Handling 

       Y Y 

          

Collaborative 
Working 

         

ICT Enabling 
Community Hubs  

        Y 

Community Web 
Platform 

       Y Y 

Resource Booking 
/ Sharing System 

     Y   Y 

          
Increasing Digital 
Skills 

         

Roll-out all other 
0365 Application  

       Y Y 

Workforce Cyber 
Awareness 

      Y   

Training Needs 
Analysis 

      Y Y  

Culture Change 
Project 

       Y Y 

          
Internet of Things          

Explore 
opportunities  

         

Deliver IoT 
Projects 

     Y  Y Y 

          
Low Code & 
Automation 

         

Implement low 
code platform 

     Y Y Y Y 

Develop low code 
applications 

     Y Y Y Y 

Review low code 
platform 

         

          
Review of 
Applications and 
Support  

         

Legacy Software 
Applications 

     Y  Y Y 

Applications      Y  Y Y 

106



   
 

43 
 

Theme / 
Programme 
Project 

2020/ 
2021        

2021/ 
2022        

2022/ 
2023        

2023/ 
2024         

2024/ 
2025         

Benefit: 
Savings 

Benefit: 
Security 

Benefit: 
Efficiency 

Benefit: 
Supports 
WoW 

Support 

Desktop Support      Y  Y Y 

    

107



   
 

44 
 

    APPENDIX D 
  

 Business Systems Cloud Migration Roadmap 
 

 System 
Name  

Supplier  Q3 
20/21 

Q4 
20/21 

Q1 
21/22 

Q2 
21/22 

Q3 
21/22 

1 Abritas Abritas   Azure Azure  
2 ACR Cashiers Capita   SaaS   
3 AIM Income 

Management  
Capita   SaaS   

4 APTS and Fleetman Cleric    Azure Azure  
5 Agresso  Unit 4  SaaS    
6 Agresso Forensic AP 

CSI 
Fiscal Tech   SaaS    

7 BACAS Clear Skies   Azure   
8 Bibliotheca BiblioTheca   SaaS   
9 Bracknell Alert AMTEvolve Azure  Azure    
10 C Series (BACS) Bottomline  Azure     
11 Capita Hosted Payments Capita  SaaS    
12 Childview  CACI Azure   Azure  
13 CM2000? CM2000 Azure     
14 CM2000 Interface CM2000 Azure     
15 Cognos (in Payroll) Cognos      
16 Confirm Precisely SaaS   SaaS  
17 Connected Care Care Centric   Azure   
18 ContrOCC Liquid Logic  SaaS Azure   
19 Deepfreeze  Faronics  NIS     
20 DigiLock  IQ Security  Azure    
21 EDS MIS Database DCSL SW   SaaS    
22 Estart  Capita CS  SaaS    
23 Express Xpress SW   SaaS   
24 Figtree NTTData  Azure     
25 Firmstep Granicus   SaaS SaaS  
26 Fostercare Softbox SoftBox Ltd    Azure  
27 Softbox SoftBox Ltd    SaaS  
28 ICAM InsightMedia  SaaS    
29 IDOX EDRMS ECC IDOX   SaaS SaaS  
30 IDOX EDRMS HR IDOX   SaaS SaaS  
31 IDOX Ferret IDOX   SaaS SaaS  
32 Planning Portal Planning P.   SaaS SaaS  
33 IDOX Public Access IDOX   SaaS SaaS  
34 IDOX TLC IDOX   SaaS SaaS  
35 IDOX Uniform IDOX   SaaS SaaS  
36 IDOX Build Inspect IDOX   SaaS SaaS  
37 IKEN IKEN  S/Point    
38 Interface Mgt Server? BFC   Azure   
39 CCTV System IVMS     SaaS  
40 Kalamazoo Hague CSL   SaaS   
41 LAS Liquid Logic  Azure Azure   
42 LAS Business Objects Eden House  Azure Azure   

108



   
 

45 
 

 

 
Notes / Comments for Future Discussion on Agreeing the Migration Schedule.  
 
(5) Agresso and (46) iTrent being considered for possible new ERP implementation that 
would be SaaS - DV/SMac/TB 
 
(16) Confirm extended for 12 months (on prem) with possibilities for extended functionality 
and move to SaaS (e.g. to replace BACAS) under review by DV. 
 
(18) ContrOCC synched for now with LAS 
 
(21) and (25) adjusted for probable Netcall Low Code Development (SaaS) 
 
(29) to (36) IDOX Uniform Applications are being proposed for review with view to replace 
– DV producing options report but replacement likely to be SaaS. 
 
Not Currently On Premise 
 
13 CM2000? CM2000 Azure     
14 CM2000 Interface? CM2000 Azure     
 
  

43 LAS Smart Office Open Text  Azure Azure   
44 Mayflower (Street L) LMS SaaS     
45 Midland HR Bus Obj Midland HR   SaaS   
46 iTrent  Midland HR   SaaS   
47 Modern.Gov Modern.Gov    SaaS  
48 Mosaic ICS Servelec   Azure   
49 Mosaic ICS Bus Objects Eden House   Azure   
50 Mosaic Smart Office Open Text   S/Point   
51 C Tax and Benefits Northgate    SaaS   
52 Business Objects Northgate    SaaS   
53 ICLipse Northgate  S/Point     
54 XL Print Northgate     SaaS  
55 (Northgate) vs IEG4 TBA    SaaS  
56 ONE Capita   SaaS   
57 ONE EMS Web Box Capita   SaaS   
58 ONE Hosts V3 and V4 Capita   SaaS   
59 PARIS 10 Hitech  SaaS    
60 Payroll PS Enterprise Northgate/A.  Azure    
61 People Counters Kwik Count   SaaS   
62 Public Health (SQL) DB Pub Hlth DB  Azure    
63 RegDiary (Registrars) Stopford      
64 SIMS incl. FMS Capita  SaaS    
65 Smart Office Open Text    S/Point  
66 Smart Office Open Text    S/Point  
67 Talis/Alto Assure Capita Talis  Azure    
68 Tell Us Once    Azure   

109



   
 

46 
 

    APPENDIX E 
Glossary of Terms 
 

Term 
 

Description 

Business continuity  A management process which identifies potential impacts that 
threaten an organisation and provides a framework for building 
resilience and the capability for an effective response which 
safeguards the interest of the organisation.  

BYOD Bring your own device – enabling employees and elected members 
to access council systems and networks using their own digital 
devices – phones, laptops, tablets, etc. 

Cloud-based hosting The delivery of computing resources as a service rather than a 
product, whereby shared resources, software and information are 
provided to computers and other devices as a utility over the 
internet.  

Cyber threat The possibility of a malicious attempt to gain unauthorised access 
to a computer network or system, to damage or disrupt the 
activities of an organisation, or to steal information or technology 
assets 

Location independent, 
home and mobile working 
 

Employees and other agents working from home or other locations 
(e.g. work is what you do and not where you are based) 

Fully featured, cloud- 
based telephone system 

A telephone system with call management, self-service and chat 
capabilities, all routed through the internet. 

Information asset   
 

Either the information itself or an asset that contains or processes 
the information. 

Infrastructure as a 
Service (IAAS) 

The process of delivering computer infrastructure as a service such 
as storage and networking.  

Internet of Things 
 
 

The Internet of things is a system of interrelated computing devices, 

mechanical and digital machines provided with unique identifiers and 
the ability to transfer data over a network without requiring human-to-

human or human-to-computer interaction. Examples of objects that 
can fall into the scope of Internet of Things include connected 
security systems, thermostats, cars, electronic appliances, lights in 
household and commercial environments, alarm clocks, speaker 
systems, vending machines and more. 

IT Governance 
 

A collection of processes and procedures which monitors and 
manages the decision-making process within IT.  

Low Code  Low code is a software development approach that requires little to 
no coding in order to build applications and processes. A low-code 
development platform uses visual interfaces with simple logic and 
drag-and-drop features instead of extensive coding languages. 
Low-code development aims to make it easier to build applications 
by removing as much of the hand-coding as possible. Such 
initiatives become even more important as companies must build 
applications to work across a wider range of devices, including 
smartphones. 

Private Branch Exchange 
(PBX) 
 

A telephone Exchange (PBX) that serves an organisation or office, 
as opposed to one that a telephone company operates for many 
organisations, or for the general public. 

Robotic Process 
Automation 

Software platform that can be configured to mimic the activities of 
people and used to transfer data between systems, analyse 
information and manage infrastructure. 

110



   
 

47 
 

Software as a Service 
(SaaS) 

A software delivery model in which software and its associated data 
are hosted centrally, typically in the Cloud and are typically 
accessed by users using a web browser over the internet. The 
software service is typically charged for on a monthly subscription 
basis 

Virtual Private Network  
 
 
 

A “tunnelled” connection through a wide area network such as the 
internet. By using encryption and other security measures, a VPN 
can scramble all the data sent so the network is “virtually” private.  

Voice over IP VoIP) 
 

The delivery of voice communications and multimedia sessions 
over Internet Protocol (IP) and networks, such as the internet.  

 
 

         
 
 
 
 

111



This page is intentionally left blank



OFFICIAL SENSITIVE (COMMERCIAL)/OFFICIAL SENSITIVE (PERSONAL) 

To: Executive 
26 January 2021 

  
 

Customer Experience Strategy 2021 - 2024 
Executive Director of Delivery 

1 Purpose of Report 

1.1 To approve the Council’s new four-year Strategy for Customer Experience.  

2 Recommendation(s) 

2.1 That the Executive approve the Customer Experience Strategy 2021 – 2024 
(attached) 

2.2 That the Executive agree the outline work programme included in the Strategy 

2.3 That the Executive agree the governance arrangements proposed in paragraph 
3.3 

3 Reasons for Recommendation(s) 

3.1 A clear direction for Customer Experience is important for the Council, to ensure the 
work of the Customer Experience department continues to contribute effectively to 
the strategic objectives of the Council, and the ongoing satisfaction of residents with 
the services the organisation provides. 

3.2 The work programme is reasonably well defined for the first year of delivery.  
However, beyond that timeframe, it is difficult to predict exactly what projects will be 
needed, as this environment continues to evolve. 

3.3 Governance of the strategy will be managed through existing structures.  Progress on 
the delivery of the strategy will be managed through the Ways of Working User 
Panel, which will meet monthly.  Half-yearly progress reports will be taken to CMT, 
and annual reports to the Executive.  The annual review by the Executive will also 
approve the work programme for the following year. 

4 Alternative Options Considered 

4.1 Continue operating “business as usual” but without any review of the strategic 
direction.  This approach risks missing opportunities, or the work of the Customer 
Experience department being focused in areas that do not meet the Council’s 
strategic objectives. 

5 Supporting Information 

5.1 Background 

 The previous strategy ran from 2017 to December 2020, and has helped to deliver 
many benefits, including: 

113

Agenda Item 8



OFFICIAL SENSITIVE (COMMERCIAL)/OFFICIAL SENSITIVE (PERSONAL) 

 A top-class, fully accessible website  

 Introduction of web-chat to our website 

 Use of email for large mailings, replacing printing and posting 

 Reducing cash and cheque payments 

 Extending the use of social media to engage with residents 

 SMS being used for reminders, e.g. unpaid council tax bills 

 Online bookings for services such as bulky waste collections 

 Online bookings for events in Parks and Libraries 

It is now time to build on the achievements to date, and adopt a new strategy that 
takes us further, delivering a modern experience for both external customers and 
internal stakeholders.  The strategy focuses mainly on extending the use of our 
existing digital channels and implementing new digital channels to increase our 
efficiency and meet customer needs. 

5.2 To develop this new strategy, we have undertaken consultation and engagement 
workshops with a range of stakeholders.  Online workshops took place with Elected 
Members through Executive Briefing and Overview and Scrutiny meetings, and with 
CMT and DMTs.   

 As part of the development of the Ways of Working programme, a number of 
workshops were held with staff from across the organisation.  The principles of how 
we work coming out of these workshops have significantly influenced the direction of 
this strategy.  Digital transformation is at the heart of the strategy. 

5.3 The new strategy is focused around five key themes, which emerged through the 
workshops and the full details of which are covered in the strategy.  In summary, 
these are: 

 
5.3.1 Organising ourselves around customer needs 
 
5.3.2 Designing excellent customer experience 
 
5.3.3 Growing a “Customer First” culture 
 
5.3.4 Digital by design 
 
5.3.5 Using data and intelligence to improve customer experience 

 

5.4 The work programme emerging from the strategy is still in development.  The first 
year’s workload is reasonably well defined, with a focus on extending the use of 
existing digital channels to a wider range of services, the merger of the currently 
diverged contact centres, beginning a review of the Customer Relationship 
Management (CRM) system, and ensuring the changes implemented as a result of 
the Coronavirus pandemic are not lost.  

114



OFFICIAL SENSITIVE (COMMERCIAL)/OFFICIAL SENSITIVE (PERSONAL) 

 Further projects will emerge during the year and will inform the work programme for 
future years.  It is important that the strategy is sufficiently flexible to allow the 
organisation to trial new technologies as new needs emerge, and opportunities are 
identified. 

6 Consultation and Other Considerations 

Legal Advice 

6.1 There are no specific legal implications arising from the report or its 
recommendations 

Financial Advice 

6.2 This strategy maps the direction of travel within the organisation for Customer 
Experience and when upcoming projects are approaching commencement, any 
relevant funding requirements will be reviewed and the appropriate approval sought.  
The financial implications for the projects in year one have not yet all been fully 
identified, however some projects will be covered by the Cloud Migration project, 
namely the move to cloud telephony.    

Other Consultation Responses 

6.3 N/A 

Equalities Impact Assessment 

6.4 Each project established under the Customer Experience Strategy will undertake an 
Equalities Impact Assessment as part of its initiation phase. 

Strategic Risk Management Issues  

6.5  

Background Papers 
 
 
Contact for further information 
Bobby Mulheir, Customer Experience, Digital & ICT - 01344 352096 
bobby.mulheir@bracknell-forest.gov.uk 

115



This page is intentionally left blank



1 
 

Customer Experience Strategy 2020 to 2024  
 
Contents 
 
Foreword by Executive Member for Customer Experience 

 
Section  Page 

 
1.  Introduction 3 
2.  Executive Summary 4 
3.  Building on the Completed Customer Contact Strategy (2017 – 

2020) – how far we’ve come 
5 

4.  The Customer Experience blueprint 6 - 7 
5.  The current challenges facing Bracknell Forest Council 8 – 10 
6.  Opportunities for positive change 11 – 13 
7.  The objectives and themes of this Strategy 14 – 15 
8.  Structure for delivery and governance 16 
9.  Measuring success against strategic objectives 17 
10.  The Customer Experience work programme 18 
11.  Improving customer experience and managing the change 19 
12.  Conclusion 20 
 
Appendices 
 
A        About Bracknell Forest 
 
B Service design principles 
 
C Customer Experience Blueprint checklist 
 
D  Customer Experience Work Programme 
 
   
 
 
 
 
 
  

117



2 
 

Foreword by Executive Member for Customer Experience  
 
 
I am delighted to be launching this strategy, and making commitments to our residents and 
other customers, about the experience they can expect when dealing with Bracknell Forest 
Council. 
 
These unprecedented times, with the uncertainty about the future due to the Coronavirus, 
mean that customers are even more reliant on the Council.  They look to us for leadership, 
for clarity and reliability of information, and for quality of service.  But their expectations are 
ever-changing, influenced by their experiences with other organisations, as well as their 
need for safety and security.   
 
We want to build on the achievements delivered through our previous Customer Contact 
Strategies.  Already well underway on the journey to digitalising our services, we aim to 
extend this capacity during the lifetime of this strategy. We are making a promise to our 
customers: that accessing all our services will be simpler, clearer, faster - and safe.   
 

We will use our approach to dealing with customers to address the 
challenges of the present and future:  

 

 We face growing demand from increases in housing and population in the borough.  A 
welcome development, with lively and active communities and increased economic 
activity.  But we must adapt to meet the needs of these communities, without increasing 
costs. 

 Like most of the country, the make-up of our communities is changing.  We see 
increased numbers of older people, with a need for more targeted services and support.  

 The uncertainty of the future due to Covid-19 means we need to be able to respond 
quickly and effectively to people’s concerns, to local outbreaks and to changes in 
demand. 

 The likely economic pressures and subsequent challenges faced by the public sector 
cannot be ignored, and we must design and deliver services in ways that reduce costs, 
without damaging outcomes for people. 

 
We are building in resilience for the future, ensuring that our approach to dealing with 
customers is agile – adapting to changing circumstances – and intelligent, using good quality 
data and insight to inform decisions and design of services. 
 
We will take a whole council approach to how we deal with our customers.  Our values and 
behaviours will demonstrate that customers are at the heart of everything we do.  Service 
design and structure will address the needs of customers, and staff will receive the right 
training and development to ensure they deliver on our promises. 
 

We will meet customer needs in ways that are simpler, clearer, faster, 
and safe.  Customers can count on Bracknell Forest Council to deliver 
good, timely, efficient, and cost-effective services. 
 
Councillor John Harrison 
Executive Member for Customer Experience  

118



3 
 

1. Introduction  
 
Purpose 
 
This document provides a comprehensive overview of the Strategy for Customer Experience 
at Bracknell Forest Council for the period January 2021 to December 2024. 
 
It sets out the vision that we will provide an excellent experience for all customers – 
residents, partners, businesses and suppliers – whenever and however they deal with us. 
Acknowledging the constraints on council finances, we will meet customers’ needs in the 
most efficient and cost-effective way we can. We will ensure that customers can access 

services where and when suits their needs.  We will design and deliver good 
services, that meet our customers’ needs in a timely, efficient and cost-
effective way.  

Scope 
 
The objectives of the document are to: 
 

 Set out the strategic objectives and themes for Customer Experience to deliver 
corporate priorities.  

 

 Describe the underlying approach to Customer Experience to support the 
achievement of corporate priorities and address the challenges we face. 

 

 Set out an outline programme of projects to deliver the Customer Experience 
strategy 2021 - 2024. 

 

 Help to inform the organisational format and structure of the Customer Experience 
function, to ensure that we have the right team in place to deliver on our promises. 

 
  
  

119



4 
 

2. Executive summary 
 
The overarching aim of this strategy is to ensure that our approach to managing customer 
experience supports the council’s strategic objectives, as laid out in the Council Plan.  
Recent events have added to the requirements for customer contact to be well designed, so 
that the Council can meet the broad range of customer needs, ensuring customers have a 
good experience, while maintaining safety and wellbeing.  As in previous strategies, digital 
transformation is at the heart of our approach to customer experience. 
 
The strategy is focused around five key aims: 
 
1. Organising ourselves around customer needs 

 Transforming our customer service model to reduce demand and be increasingly 
digital 

 Restructuring diverged teams into a single point of contact 

 Simplifying our telephone contact 

 Expanding the current range of services offered by Customer Services  

 Increasing first point of contact resolution 
 

2. Designing excellent customer experience 

 Accessibility by design – designed for mobile use and accessibility  

 Time and place agnostic – accessible at any time, any place, any device 

 Efficient and simple – tell us once, eradicate unnecessary process steps 

 Clear and easy to use – applying our service design principles 

 Harnessing technology – self-service, Artificial Intelligence, Robotic Process 
Automation 
 

3. Growing a “Customer First” culture 

 Extending staff training 

 Introducing quality standards and professional accreditation 

 Tracking customer enquiries through a single CRM system 

 Reporting on performance and customer satisfaction 

 Learning from complaints and customer feedback 
 

4. Digital by design 

 Digital principles – based on Government Digital Service 

 Facilitated digital – support from Customer Services 

 Digital inclusion – building the digital skills of our customers 
 

5. Using data and intelligence to improve customer experience 

 Ensuring quality data 

 Analysis of customer activity 

 Using analysis to simplify and ensure accessibility of services 

 Using intelligence to target services at the right people 
 

The strategy links closely with the Digital and ICT Strategy 2021 – 2024, and to our 
approach to Communications and Marketing, and how we manage council accommodation.  
 

 
 
 

 
 

120



5 
 

 
3. Building on the achievements of the previous strategy 
 
 
Bracknell Forest Council has had a Customer Experience Strategy since 2003.  The focus of 
these strategies has variously been on simplifying and improving customer experience, 
channel shift, the move to digital and delivering improvements in efficiency and cost-
effectiveness.   
 
The most recent strategy (Customer Contact Strategy 2017 – 2020) had a strong focus on 
introducing digital channels to supplement existing channels, and on moving traditionally in-
person and physical services to their digital alternatives.  That strategy has had some 
notable successes, including: 
 
 A top-class, fully accessible website  
 Introduction of web-chat to our website 
 Use of email for large mailings, replacing printing and posting 
 Reducing cash and cheque payments 
 Extending the use of social media to engage with residents 
 SMS being used for reminders, e.g. unpaid council tax bills 
 Online bookings for services such as bulky waste collections 
 Online bookings for events in Parks and Libraries 
 
In recent months, the Coronavirus pandemic has forced us to find new ways of delivering 
services that don’t require customers to be present.  This has been challenging, but we have 
managed to deal with nearly all customers who would normally attend in person, either on 
the phone or online.  We don’t want to lose this progress, but to cement it into our new 
operating model for the future. 
 
 
  

121



6 
 

4. The Customer Experience Blueprint 
 
Evidence from our Residents Survey in recent years has demonstrated that most of our 
customer base has access to the internet and is comfortable using digital services.  This has 
been borne out during the Coronavirus pandemic, as more of our services have moved 
online.  Our 2020 Coronavirus-specific survey confirms this, although it is evident that there 
are members of the community who are less likely to have access to the internet, or the 
skills needed to use it. 
 
 

 
Extract from Covid-19 Residents Survey 

 
  

122



7 
 

The formation of a Ways of Working Group to support the recovery from the Coronavirus 
pandemic has helped to shape this strategy and design the future model for how we interact 
with our customers.   
 
 
Our plan for our customer experience can be summarised in the following model: 
 

 
 
 
Where possible, we will look to eliminate, or at least reduce, the level of demand placed on 
the council.  This can be achieved both by improving the information we provide through our 
website and by harnessing the enthusiasm in the community for volunteering and providing 
support. 
 
Most transactions – those that are high in volume, but relatively simple – will be completed 
online, by the customer themselves.  Those without the digital skills to do this alone, or 
without access to digital services will be supported by a member of staff, or a volunteer, to 
complete the transaction online using publicly available ICT equipment. 
 
Where this isn’t possible, due to the complexity of the issue, or the abilities of the customer, 
then a Customer Service Adviser will complete the transaction on the customer’s behalf. 
 
Only when we reach the very complex, but lower volume, interactions, will customers deal 
directly with a specialist.  These would be things like a social care assessment.  Although we 
shouldn’t abandon the prospect of creating an online self-assessment, or of providing help 
using a chat-bot or virtual agent. 

123



8 
 

5. The Key issues and challenges for BFC  
 
The Corporate Priorities for BFC are set out in the Council Plan 2019. They are subject to 
some revision due the Coronavirus Pandemic and a fresh commitment to review our 
approach to equalities and racism.   
 
The Council Plan 
 
To deliver on all our objectives and make sure that Bracknell Forest stays prosperous and 
remains a good place to live, work and play, we have focused our Council Plan on 6 
strategic themes: 
 

 value for money 
 economic resilience 
 education and skills 
 caring for you and your family 
 protecting and enhancing our environment 
 communities 

 

 
 
Since the adoption of this new Council Plan following the 2019 local election, the landscape 
we operate in has changed dramatically, leading to further development of the Council’s 
strategic direction. 

124



9 
 

 
 
The Impact of Covid-19 
 
Coronavirus has been a real game-changer in the world of customer contact.  We have seen 
a massive increase in online and telephone interactions, and a corresponding reduction in 
face to face contact.  People have come to expect ways of meeting their needs that don’t 
require personal contact and enable them to stay safe.  Service providers, including the 
Council, have had to adapt.  The Council has managed this very successfully, and the 
measures put in place have worked very effectively.  The ongoing uncertainty about how the 
Coronavirus can be controlled and the likely delay until a vaccine becomes widely available, 
means that we will need to continue to provide services in this “Covid Secure” way for the 
foreseeable future.   
 
In response to the crisis the Council has produced a Strategy for Renewal. It has been titled 
as a “Renewal” as opposed to “Recovery Strategy” to make it clear that we are not striving to 
get back to how everything was in February 2020, before the pandemic struck.  
 
There are four important pieces of context that shape the strategy for renewal:    
 

 The Council and its partners have a clear community leadership role 
 

 We will continue to adapt to the impact of the pandemic on our communities and 
may need to re-prioritise some objectives in the Council Plan 2019 

 

 Pre-COVID-19 financial pressures are likely to increase, and decision making 
must reflect this 

 

 The overarching priority is the health and economic well-being of residents  

 
Against this context (which shapes the approach) there are seven principles (or pillars) to 
BFC’s approach:  

 

1. Work with partners and communities to protect and promote the physical and 
 mental health of our population 
 
2. Support town and neighbourhood centre vitality and look to support our local 
 economy by retaining businesses within the borough 
 
3. Provide short term support and refocus some activities to deal with post 
 COVID-19 spikes in demand 
 
4. Integrate services with partners and locate them wherever possible within the 
 community that use them 
 
5. Look to involve the community and voluntary sector in supporting people and 
 services wherever possible 
 
6. Containing/reducing expenditure in the long term (including 
 refocussing/delivering differently/stopping some services) 
 
7. Maximising the opportunities to address carbon reduction across all our 
 activities 
 

125



10 
 

 
We recognise that one of the major challenges relates to how we interact with customers 
across a wide variety of activities.  A Ways of Working (WoW) sub-group has been 
established to define the new approach to how we work with customers, including looking for 
opportunities to integrate with partners and locate services at the heart of the communities 
that use them.  The principles developed by this group will significantly influence how we 
design our services for the future. 
 
Our Commitment to Equalities and Tackling Racism 
 
Equalities and Racism have attracted national attention in recent months, through the Black 
Lives Matter (BLM) campaign. This campaign has given a renewed impetus to the need to 
maintain social justice and equality of opportunity.  The Council Management Team (CMT) 
are reviewing how we look at discrimination and equality in all its guises and have 
challenged themselves to ensure that they genuinely lead the organisation in a way that 
leaves no room or hiding place for racism or discrimination of any kind.  The answers may 
not be simple and there may be no quick fixes to some issues but CMT want to work with all 
staff to address them, and not just while BLM is in the news. 
 
We need to look at how our approach to Customer Experience can support this drive.  We 
can ensure our services are designed with accessibility and equality at their heart.  We can 
analyse how customers use our services, and how satisfied they are, to make sure we are 
meeting the needs of all our communities.  We can provide knowledge and insight about our 
customers and services, to enable evidence-based decision making.   A key priority for this 
Strategy, and a theme cutting across all objectives, is the continued commitment to ensure 
accessibility of all services provided for the public and internal, and other, stakeholders. 
 
The Council’s Financial Position  
 
Even before the Coronavirus Pandemic hit, the financial position for the public sector was 
challenging.  In the face of a growing and aging population and increased demand for 
council services, we need to be ever more efficient.  The impact of the pandemic has been 
enormous, with spiralling costs in some areas where demand has increased, or we have had 
to adapt services to continue to deliver.  At the same time our income from services has 
reduced.  The result of this, and the ongoing uncertainty of the impact of the pandemic, 
means that our financial position is even more challenging.  Changing our approach to 
Customer Experience can help reduce costs by reducing demand, encouraging self-service 
and using digital channels for more outbound, proactive communications to reduce 
avoidable contact. 
 
These priorities, together with the information gathered in stakeholder workshops, the 
outputs of the WoW sub-group and the new Customer Experience Strategy, have informed 
the strategic objectives, themes, and projects, shaping the Customer Experience Strategy 
for 2021 – 2024. 
 
 
 
 
  

126



11 
 

6. Opportunities for positive change in Bracknell Forest 
 
Coping with the Coronavirus pandemic has been the council’s top priority for the short term 
and the implications of the pandemic will need to be planned for and managed for the 
medium and longer term. The Renewal Strategy will have a real impact on how the council is 
to deliver services in the future. Certainly, councils are building on a greater acceptance of 
using Digital solutions to provide services.  In the period following the lock down (from March 
2020) there began a rapid take up of digital tools to maintain life as normal for people, and 
business as usual for commerce.  At Bracknell Forest Council we saw progress in a matter 
of days to establish ways of working that would normally take months, or even years, to 
design and implement. 
 
The Customer Experience Strategy will focus on supporting a programme of renewal and 
change by enabling the adaptation of existing, or development of new, services to meet new 
and changing needs, building on a greater acceptance of using Digital by our customers: 
 

 Citizens 

 Businesses 

 Partners and Other Agencies  
 
CMT has established a Ways of Working (WoW) group, specifically tasked with refreshing 
our views on the ways in which we work and interact with customers.  A key question is how 
we maintain excellent service delivery, which could offer entirely new options for how we 
work in community partnerships with other organisations, while maintaining social distancing 
and ensuring we manage the risks related to Covid-19. 
 
The Renewal Strategy provides a chance to reflect on the establishment of a range of 
innovative and agile “emergency” measures implemented to help to cope with the 
Coronavirus crisis, that could be designed to leave a lasting legacy on a number of the 
functions of the Council, for example: 
 
a) Dealing with enquiries on the phone rather than face to face 

Since the March lockdown the Customer Services Team have dealt with 100% of their 
visitors to Time Square over the phone.  These are people who would normally have 
met face to face with a Customer Service Adviser.  We do not want to return to the way 
things were before, as that model is costly and inefficient.  As we can deliver the same 
outcomes, and meet our customers’ needs, without meeting with them in person, we 
should continue to do so.  Where it is necessary for a personal meeting, this should be 
on an appointment basis, so that highly trained Customer Service staff can be working 
on other things until they are needed to meet with a customer. 

b) Outbound calling to support vulnerable residents 

Before the Covid-19 pandemic, the Customer Services team dealt mainly with incoming 
enquiries, both on the phone and online.  The pandemic brought a new requirement, for 
the team to make regular contact with vulnerable and shielding residents.  This 
experience has demonstrated the value of proactive out-bound calling in managing 
needs and reducing avoidable contact.  It has also demonstrated the team’s ability to 
deal with customers with higher needs, and in sensitive situations. 

  

127



12 
 

c) Meeting needs quickly and flexibly  

The traditional model for local authorities to address needs has been to deliver a top-
down service and make incremental improvements. But in recent month a new order of 
things has emerged. This includes: 

 A rapid reconnection with the local voluntary and community sector (VCS), quickly 
building or strengthening relationships into solid delivery partnerships for meeting 
the needs of vulnerable people. 

 Mass citizen participation in community responses, notably in NHS, councils and 
local VCS organisations rapidly recruiting and deploying thousands of volunteers. 

 Extensive development and use of “match-making” platforms to connect vulnerable 
people with those able to help. 

 A re-evaluation of vulnerability and need. Some groups are becoming vulnerable for 
the first time and others are now vulnerable in new ways. Local authorities are 
quickly trying to ascertain who may need help and how best to reach them. 

 Different demographic groups experience inadequacies in some service models 
(e.g. some new groups of people having to apply for universal credit). 

 Rapid adaptation of existing services, or development of new services to meet new 
needs.  

This shift has happened across the country, including here in Bracknell Forest.  We 
need to capitalise on these developments and find ways of cementing the role of 
communities and volunteers in the continued delivery of our services.  The library 
service, which has a great track record of working with volunteers, has seen numbers 
drop during Covid, mainly due to the closure of libraries and the age of many of the 
volunteers.  We now need to work to re-establish this cohort of community-minded 
citizens as a core element of how we deliver our services for the longer term. 

d) Making better use of data 
 
Throughout the pandemic, the value of reliable, accurate, timely data has become ever 
more apparent.  We need to establish automated reporting of key customer metrics so 
that we can better understand what our customers need from us, and respond more 
quickly to those needs.   
 

e) Shift to digital for traditionally “analogue” services 

So many services that would previously have been done in person – from consultations 
with a doctor to renewing a bus pass – have moved to be online.  We are now able to 
meet the needs of many customers online, where previously we would have insisted on 
meeting in person.  We now have an opportunity to normalise this approach to those 
services, rather than going back to our previous delivery model.   This will require a 
determined approach, as well as potentially some investment in ICT and digital 
developments. 

f) Rapid development and deployment of new services 
 

Many councils have used low code platforms to build and deploy new applications 
rapidly, enabling them to meet emerging needs.  Bracknell Forest Council has also 
quickly launched new services, including managing distribution of Personal Protective 
Equipment, outbound calling to vulnerable residents, distribution of food, home 
deliveries or “Select & Collect” for the library service, and many more. 
 

128



13 
 

The council has now invested in a Low Code platform, to facilitate further rapid 
development and deployment of applications that support digital delivery of service. An 
implementation programme of prioritised applications will be developed early in the first 
year of delivery of the strategy, with a view to maximising the value from this platform. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

129



14 
 

7. Objectives and aims of this strategy 
 
We will organise our customer experience model around customer needs.  This will 
include: 
 

1. Transforming our customer service model to reduce demand and be increasingly 
digital.  More online information will enable customers to resolve their own enquiries, 
and community support and volunteering will mean that more needs are met in the 
community, rather than needing to rely on the council. 
 

2. Restructuring diverged teams into a single point of contact, to make our structure 
more cost-effective and build resilience into our operation.  We will use skill-based 
routing to ensure enquiries are dealt with by the most appropriately qualified and 
experienced staff. 

 
3. Simplifying our telephone and email contact to make it simpler and clearer for 

customers how to contact the council when they need to.  We will reduce the number 
of contact numbers and email addresses we publish, and make appropriate use of 
IVR to route calls, and structured forms to manage emails. 

 
4. Expanding the current range of services offered by Customer Services will mean that 

customers have less need to deal directly with specialist staff, freeing up these 
officers to deal with more demanding, complex, and higher value interactions. 

 
5. Increasing first point of contact resolution leading to increased customer satisfaction.  

We will make sure Customer Services staff are well trained and equipped with the 
information and technology they need to be able to resolve more customer enquiries. 

 
We will design excellent customer experience into everything we do, by: 
 

1. Building in accessibility by design.  All our services will be designed with accessibility 
at their heart, and so that everybody can use them.  We will test our services with 
assistive technologies, and with users with different needs. 
 

2. Being time and place agnostic.  We will ensure our services are available online and 
at any time, from any place, and using any device.  We will specifically design for 
mobile use, as we know this is how the majority of customers access our web-based 
services. 

 
3. Making things efficient and simple for customers.  We will create a single account, so 

customers need only tell us information once.  We will eradicate unnecessary 
process steps from all of our services so that the customer journey is as 
straightforward as it can be. 

 
4. Making things clear and easy to use.  We will apply our service design principles to 

everything we build, and will use our checklist to make sure services meet our 
Customer Experience blueprint. 

 
5. Harnessing technology to enable self-service wherever possible.  We will make use 

of Artificial Intelligence and Robotic Process Automation where this is appropriate, 
and it makes the experience for the customer smoother. 

 
  

130



15 
 

We will continue to grow a “Customer First” culture across the organisation, by: 
 

1. Extending customer care training to all employees, not just those working in 
customer-facing roles. 
 

2. Introducing quality standards for customer services functions, and achieving a 
professional accreditation for the service. 

 
3. Tracking customer enquiries through a single CRM system, and owning those 

enquiries in Customer Services until they are resolved. 
 

4. Reporting regularly on performance and customer satisfaction to Delivery Directorate 
DMT, CMT and Elected Members. 
 

5. Improving complaints handling, and sharing learning from customer feedback. 
 

We will make sure all our services are “Digital by Design” by: 
 

1. Using the GDS Digital principles in the design of everything we do.  Measuring our 
service design against these principles to determine our level of success. 

 
2. Offering facilitated digital access to those who don’t have the skills or access to the 

internet at home. Support will be provided by staff from Customer Services and 
Libraries, as well as from volunteers, to help people use our online services. 

 
3. Increasing digital inclusion.  We will work with our partners to help in building the 

digital skills of our customers and reducing their risk of being left behind in this digital 
world. 

 
We will use data and intelligence to improve customer experience, by: 
 

1. Ensuring the quality of our data, both about customers and about our services. 
 
2. Analysing customer activity, to understand what services they use and value, and 

what services they search for. 
 

3. Using analysis to identify where services cause problems for customers, and to 
simplify and ensure the accessibility of all our services. 

 
4. Using demographic and service data analysis to create intelligence about our 

customers, so that we can target services at the right people and the right locations. 
 

 
 
  

131



16 
 

8. Structure for delivery and governance of the strategy 
 
Each project established under the strategy will be managed by an appropriate project team, 
with representation from the area affected by the change, along with colleagues from Digital, 
ICT, Finance and Human Resources, as appropriate.  Larger projects will be overseen by a 
project manager from with the ICT team or from Transformation. 
 
To oversee the whole programme of work, a board will be established, based on the Ways of 
Working group, with additional representation from frontline services across the organisation. 
 
CMT will receive a progress update every six months, and an annual report will be made to 
the Executive, which will include the work programme for the following year to be approved. 
 

 
 
 
 
  

Executive 
(Strategic Direction) 

CMT  

(Progress Tracking) 

Ways of 
Working Group 
(Programme Board) 

Project 
Teams 

(Delivery) 

132



17 
 

9. Measuring progress against the objectives 
 
Each project delivered under this strategy will be evaluated upon completion, to ensure it 
delivers the expected benefits.  In addition, a number of performance indicators will be 
established for each of the strategic aims.  Some of these will include: 
 
1. Organising ourselves around customer needs 

 Customer satisfaction surveys to include asking how easy it was to get the 
service the customer was looking for 

 Reporting on the range of services offered by Customer Services  

 Customer surveys to include measuring first point of contact resolution 
 

2. Designing excellent customer experience 

 Monitoring accessibility of our website and online services 

 Monitoring how many customers access online services,  

 Monitoring use of “tell us once” services 

 Customer surveys to include how easy it is to use our online services 

 Measuring the number of services available through online account 

 Reporting new uses of Robotic Process Automation 
 

3. Growing a “Customer First” culture 

 Monitoring and reporting on staff training in customer care 

 Achieving Customer Service quality standard 

 Achieving Customer Service professional accreditation for staff 

 Monitoring the number of customer enquiries managed through the CRM system 

 Regular reporting on performance and customer satisfaction metrics 

 Regular reporting on learning from complaints 
 

4. Digital by design 

 Using our checklist for all services to ensure their design is based on 
Government Digital Service 

 Monitor support provided by Customer Services staff to enable customers to 
access online services  

 Measuring participation in digital inclusion / digital skills development 
programmes  
 

5. Using data and intelligence to improve customer experience 

 Achieving a satisfactory rating in our next Digital Maturity Audit 

 Regular reporting of customer interactions, by channel 

 Monitoring abandoned online transactions to identify usability issues  
 

 
 
 
 
 
  

133



18 
 

10. The Customer Experience Work Programme  
 
The Customer Experience Strategy sets out how services will be developed to support the 
Council’s priorities from January 2021 to December 2024.  For the Strategy to deliver the 
maximum benefits then it must be properly aligned with the Council’s Plan and the Renewal 
Strategy following the Coronavirus pandemic. 

The programme of work for the first year of the strategy is reasonably well defined.  We will 
continue the roll-out of webchat, SMS, online payments and other existing digital channels to 
increase their impact and the return on investment in these technologies.  We will begin the 
move to a cloud hosted contact centre, based on cloud telephony using Microsoft Teams.  
As part of this project we aim to streamline the customer contact structure, introduce IVR 
and skill-based routing, to simplify the customer experience of contacting the council.  We 
will begin a review of the current CRM system, with a view to creating a single customer 
online account, bringing together the separate accounts currently in use.  New applications 
and online services will be built using the Low Code platform, and we will identify customer-
facing services where Robotic Process Automation can support their delivery. 

Further projects will emerge during year one, to be approved by the Executive and delivered 
in subsequent years.  A timeline for the work programme is included at Appendix D. 

 

 
  

134



19 
 

11. Improving processes and customer experience through service design 
 
It is important to understand that moving a process online is not a matter of simply doing the 
same thing but through a browser: it also requires changes to policies and practice 
Technology is only one component of digital change and can only deliver expected 
organisational benefits and savings in conjunction with: 
 

 Processes that are efficient and fit for purpose, and  
 

 The adoption of new ways of working by all stakeholders  
 
The organisation must recognise the need for business transformation and be supportive of 
the Digital and ICT, Customer Services and Renewal strategies.  

 

It has been said that most of our services were not designed for the digital age.  But the 
reality is that most of them simply were not designed. They have developed, grown, altered, 
and expanded over the years, as new requirements emerge, or resourcing constraints come 
into play.  Moving to a more digital model of delivery gives us the opportunity to design these 
services anew.  Service redesign will be at the heart of our digital development work, and will 
be delivered using the Government Digital Service design principles (see Appendix B) 
 
 
Change management approach 
 
As much as we can, we want to involve users in designing, testing, and implementing the 
changes we introduce.  By developing newly designed services in the open, and testing with 
real users, we can ensure that they are engaged throughout the process, and this helps to 
ensure effective adoption of new services.   
 
Subject matter experts from service areas will be involved in the design, testing and 
implementation of newly designed services, to ensure that they meet the needs of 
customers.  We will test new services with real users and use their feedback to inform further 
development. 
 
Our approach to communication and engagement will ensure that all parts of the 
organisation, and our customer base, understand what we are doing, and why we are doing 
it.  People who want to, will have the opportunity to get involved in designing and testing the 
changes we make. 
 
 
 
 
  

135



20 
 

12. Conclusion  
 
The Council will always be judged by residents on the quality of the experience they have in 
their interactions with us.  In times of financial challenge, and with a community that is 
comfortable with digital services, we have the opportunity to maintain the highest quality of 
customer experience while reducing costs, through a programme of consolidation and digital 
transformation.   
 
Those of us tasked with moving society on from the Coronavirus crisis already acknowledge 
that not everything could, or indeed should, go back to the way it was before.  The huge 
challenges of climate change, sustainable transport, health, equality and social care issues 
are being viewed from a perspective where opportunities to change must be embraced.  
 
However radical (or otherwise) the agenda for moving through the so called “new normal” to 
a changed society may be, our recent experience has certainly accelerated the acceptance 
of digital solutions for customers and service providers alike, and the council must seize the 
moment to capitalise on this major behavioural change.     
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
   
  

136



21 
 

         
          APPENDIX A 
About Bracknell Forest  
 
Bracknell Forest lies 28 miles west of London, at the heart of the Thames Valley and within 
the county of Berkshire. 
 
Our economy is of above average size and productivity, compared to the county and 
nationally. Good access links, a well-educated labour force and the quality of the 
environment are key attractors to the companies that have and continue to locate here, 
including a number of multi-national organisations. 
 
The borough has experienced pressures on housing, infrastructure services and 
environmental assets including sites designated as being important for nature conservation 
at an international, national and local level.  
 
A thriving population 
 
The borough’s population is 121,676 (Mid-2018 Estimates, based on Census 2011). The 
demand for an increased number of households still causes pressure for more housing. The 
population is relatively young (median age 38.7 years). 14.5% of the population is aged 65 
or over, compared to 17.7% nationally, although this is expected to grow. 
 
Health 
 
The health of people in Bracknell Forest is generally better than the England average. Life 
expectancy is increasing and is currently 81.3 years for men and 85.1 years for women. 
These are higher than the England averages which are 79.5 years and 83.1 years 
respectively. Smoking related deaths (272 per 100,000 population) and deaths from heart 
disease (31.7 per 100,000) and strokes (59.29 per 100,000) are below national levels. 
 
Schools 
 
Bracknell Forest has 36 primary schools, 7 secondary schools (including 8 academies), 1 
special school and 1 Pupil Referral Unit. 83% of schools are rated good or better.  
Under new reporting measures from the Department for Education (DfE), all secondary 
schools in England have their average examination results reported using numerical rather 
than alphabetical grades. For 2019, a standard pass has been set at a Grade 4, and a good 
pass at Grade 5. 
Bracknell Forest young people continue to perform in line with the national picture. 
Provisional results show that, 76% achieved 4+ in English Language or Literature, 73% 
achieved 4+ in mathematics, 67% achieved combined English and mathematics 4+, the 
average attainment 8 score across the borough was 47.2 
 
A desirable place 
 
Bracknell Forest covers 109 sq km of central Berkshire and includes the town of Bracknell, 
together with Sandhurst town and the villages of Crowthorne and Binfield, along with 
Warfield and Winkfield. Close to London, the area has easy access to the motorway network 
(M3, M4, M40 and M25), Heathrow, and direct train links into London. 
The north and east of the borough form part of the Metropolitan Green Belt, whilst land south 
of Bracknell and east of Crowthorne is internationally important for nature conservation. The 
borough is proud and protective of its green character, with a third of our area comprising 
woodland. The borough also has one of the highest ratios of publicly accessible open space 
to its population, and much of this open space is maintained at a high standard. 

137



22 
 

 
Housing 
 
The average house price has remained well above the national average for many years. As 
of May 2020, the average house price in Bracknell Forest was £336,871 compared with a 
South East average of £319,108 and a national average of £245,385. 
Finding acceptable locations for new housing and providing appropriate infrastructure 
continue to be major challenges for partners and residents. 
The council’s Core Strategy Development Plan Document requires approximately 11,000 
new dwellings between 2006 and 2026 to be built. The number of dwellings in the borough 
stands at 53,335. 
 
Cohesive communities 
 
The 2011 Census showed that 84.9% of the population was ‘White British’ and 15.1% of the 
population was BME and ‘white other’. 
The proportion of school pupils from Minority Ethnic Groups has increased steadily over the 
past few years rising from 16.1% in 2011 to 21.9% in 2018. 12% of pupils in Bracknell Forest 
schools have English as an Additional Language (EAL).  
Despite the steady change in the composition of the population, the area is generally a 
cohesive community where people get on well together. 
 
Deprivation 
 
Bracknell Forest is one of the least deprived areas of the country (ranked 284 out of 317 
local authorities in England on the Index of Multiple Deprivation 2019).  
 
Bracknell Forest is within the economically buoyant Thames Valley and already a premier 
business location. But the aspiration is to make the local economy even more successful 
throughout the borough.  
 
Town centre 
 
The £240m Lexicon opened on 7 September 2017. The Lexicon has created a new social 
and cultural heart for the area - bringing a high-quality mix of shops, restaurants and 
entertainment within vibrant public spaces to the Town Centre.  
 
Benefits 
 
The number of people claiming out-of-work benefits has been increasing since January 2018 
alongside the national trend. As of March 2020 the percentage of the population aged 16+ 
stands at 1.6%. This represents 1,240 people. The figure remains lower than both the South 
East and national averages (2.2% and 3.1% respectively).  
 
Crime 
 
Crime is low in the borough and decreasing. In 2019/20 overall crime decreased by 1.8% 
compared to 2018/19. Decreasing from 6,406 recorded crimes in the borough to 6,289 
recorded crimes.  
  

138



23 
 

APPENDIX B 
Government Digital Service Design Principles 
 
1. Start with user needs 
Service design starts with identifying user needs. If you don’t know what the user needs are, 
you won’t build the right thing. Do research, analyse data, talk to users. Don’t make 
assumptions. Have empathy for users and remember that what they ask for isn’t always 
what they need. 
 
2. Do less 
Government should only do what only government can do. If we’ve found a way of doing 
something that works, we should make it reusable and shareable instead of reinventing the 
wheel every time. This means building platforms and registers others can build upon, 
providing resources (like APIs) that others can use, and linking to the work of others. We 
should concentrate on the irreducible core. 
 
3. Design with data 
In most cases, we can learn from real world behaviour by looking at how existing services 
are used. Let data drive decision-making, not hunches or guesswork. Keep doing that after 
taking your service live, prototyping and testing with users then iterating in response. 
Analytics should be built-in, always on and easy to read. They’re an essential tool. 
 
4. Do the hard work to make it simple 
Making something look simple is easy. Making something simple to use is much harder - 
especially when the underlying systems are complex - but that’s what we should be doing. 
Don’t take “It’s always been that way” for an answer.  It’s usually more and harder work to 
make things simple, but it’s the right thing to do. 
 
5. Iterate. Then iterate again 
The best way to build good services is to start small and iterate wildly. Release minimum 
viable products early, test them with actual users, move from alpha to beta to live adding 
features, deleting things that don’t work and making refinements based on feedback. 
Iteration reduces risk. It makes big failures unlikely and turns small failures into lessons. If a 
prototype isn’t working, don’t be afraid to scrap it and start again. 
 
6. This is for everyone 
Accessible design is good design. Everything we build should be as inclusive, legible and 
readable as possible. If we have to sacrifice elegance - so be it. We’re building for needs, 
not audiences. We’re designing for the whole country, not just the ones who are used to 
using the web. The people who most need our services are often the people who find them 
hardest to use. Let’s think about those people from the start. 
 
7. Understand context 
We’re not designing for a screen; we’re designing for people. We need to think hard about 
the context in which they’re using our services. Are they in a library? Are they on a phone? 
Are they only really familiar with Facebook? Have they never used the web before? 
 
8. Build digital services, not websites 
A service is something that helps people to do something. Our job is to uncover user needs 
and build the service that meets those needs. Of course, much of that will be pages on the 
web, but we’re not here to build websites. The digital world has to connect to the real world, 
so we have to think about all aspects of a service, and make sure they add up to something 
that meets user needs. 

 
9. Be consistent, not uniform 

139



24 
 

We should use the same language and the same design patterns wherever possible. This 
helps people get familiar with our services, but when this isn’t possible, we should make sure 
our approach is consistent. 
This isn’t a straitjacket or a rule book. Every circumstance is different. When we find patterns 
that work, we should share them, and talk about why we use them. But that shouldn’t stop us 
from improving or changing them in the future when we find better ways of doing things or 
the needs of users change. 
 
10. Make things open: it makes things better 
We should share what we’re doing whenever we can. With colleagues, with users, with the 
world. Share code, share designs, share ideas, share intentions, share failures. The more 
eyes there are on a service the better it gets - howlers are spotted, better alternatives are 
pointed out, the bar is raised. 
Much of what we’re doing is only possible because of open source code and the generosity 
of the web design community. We should pay that back. 
 

 
 
 
  

140



25 
 

APPENDIX C 

Customer Experience – Service Design Checklist 

Blueprint  Yes No Notes/ Comments 

Have you identified all the steps that 
are not customer value from the 
process and removed them, where 
possible? 

   

Does the new process make best use 
of online self-service / web content / 
web forms to allow the customer to 
self-serve?  

   

Does the new process include online 
payments / e-billing? 

   

Have all references to cheque and 
cash payments been removed as an 
option to pay? 

   

How will the process make effective 
use of drop-boxes? (to ensure that 
customer contact is channeled 
effectively) 

   

Is appointment booking included in the 
new process?   

   

Can the e+ card be used more 
effectively by the service?    

   

Has the new process stopped use of 
internal mail/ courier service?  

   

How will the service make use of 
GovDelivery, Gov.Notify and other 
digital communication channels to 
better communicate with customers? 

   

Can the voluntary or community sector 
help with delivery of this service?  

   

Is your customer contact channeled to 
the most appropriate person to deal 
with it, and self-service by the 
customer as much as possible? E.g.  
General queries to Customer Service, 
complex queries to specialist staff 

   

Has effective call routing, including IVR 
where appropriate, been implemented 
for calls taken for this service?  

   

Does the new process take calls into 
Customer Service and escalate only to 
appropriately trained staff in the back 
office, when needed? 

   

How well are supporting services 
signposted on the BFC website? 

   

Is there a self-assessment process for 
customers enquiring about access to 
the service? 

   

Are all customer records and 
documents stored and shared digitally 

   

141



26 
 

 

Additional Information 

Is there any additional relevant information? If so, provide it here. 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
  

and not in hard copy? 

Does there need to be integration 
between back office and CRM 
systems? 

   

Is the service designed in a way that 
enables staff to role model the new 
values and behaviors?  

   

Have digital signatures been included 
in recommendations?  

   

Have performance reporting 
requirements been included in the new 
service? 

   

Have you identified cost and time 
savings from the AS IS and TO BE 
service design?  

   

142



27 
 

APPENDIX D 
Customer Experience Work Programme 
 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 

143



This page is intentionally left blank



 

To: The Executive 
26 January 2021 

  
 

LOCAL GOVERNMENT AND SOCIAL CARE OMBUDSMAN 
ANNUAL REVIEW LETTER 

Chief Executive 

1 Purpose of Report 

1.1 To provide an overview and commentary of the Local Government and Social Care 
Ombudsman (LGSCO) annual review letter, received July 2020. 

2 Recommendation 

2.1 To note the Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman’s Annual Review 
Letter 2020. 

3 Reasons for Recommendation 

3.1 The annual review letter provides the council with information to help assess the 
council’s performance in handling complaints.  

4 Alternative Options Considered 

4.1 None considered. 

5 Supporting Information 

5.1 The annual review letter from the LGSCO provides local authorities with an overview 
of the council’s performance in complaint handling, covering the financial year April 
2019 to March 2020 in this case. In addition, the review provides a general update on 
resources to support councils. 

5.2 It is important to note that the LGSCO’s data may not match the data collected by the 
council on complaints. Typically differences between the LGSCO’s data and data 
held by the council reflect that the LGSCO refers a proportion of recorded complaints 
to the council for local resolution, but complainants may not always pursue the 
complaint. 

 
5.3  The LGSCO have moved away from a simplistic focus on complaint volumes to a 

focus on the lessons learned and specifically on the wider local improvements that 
can be achieved through implementing recommendations for improving service 
delivery for residents. Recommendations made within case investigations are 
specific and often include a timeframe for completion, allowing the LGSCO to follow 
up with authorities and seek evidence that recommendations have been 
implemented. 

 
5.4 The data provided in the review this year is significantly simplified compared to 

previous years and also directs councils to review the online interactive map ‘Your 
Council’s Performance’. This is publicly accessible information and allows 
comparison against other areas. 

145

Agenda Item 9

https://www.lgo.org.uk/your-councils-performance
https://www.lgo.org.uk/your-councils-performance


 

 
5.5 In 2019/20 the LGSCO conducted detailed investigations into six cases, this is one 

fewer than the previous year. This number is amongst the lowest compared to 
Bracknell Forest Council’s CIPFA neighbours, as illustrated in figure 1. It should be 
noted that due to the low number of complaints, the figures can be skewed 
significantly and can fluctuate year on year.  

 

Figure 1. Number of detailed investigations conducted by the LGSCO, comparison of CIPFA neighbours. 
 
 
5.6 In 2019/20, five of the detailed investigations resulted in the decision to uphold the 

complaint, this is 83%. This is a notably high percentage among statistical 
neighbours, as illustrated in figure 2, and much higher than the 14% from last year. 
However as mentioned above, the proportions can be heavily skewed due to the 
small number of cases. There is no correlation between the number of cases and the 
rate they are upheld across other authorities. 

 

Figure 2. Proportion of detailed investigations with upheld complaints, comparison of CIPFA neighbours. 
 
5.7 A summary of the upheld decisions is included in annex A, please note that one 

decision is not published by the LGSCO due to confidentiality and has therefore not 
been included.   

 
5.8 The summaries illustrate that the LGSCO has adopted a much more binary approach 

in recent years when it comes to finding ‘fault’.  For example, in one case the LGSCO 

6 
6 
6 

8 
9 
9 

10 
11 
11 

12 
13 

15 
17 
17 

21 
27 

Bracknell Forest
Bedford Borough

Reading
South Gloucestershire

Central Bedfordshire
Solihull

Swindon
Warrington

West Berkshire
Bath and North East Somerset

Milton Keynes
Windsor and Maidenhead

Stockport
Thurrock

Wokingham
Trafford

Number of detailed investigations 

83% 
77% 

76% 
70% 
70% 

67% 
64% 

59% 
59% 

56% 
55% 

50% 
50% 
50% 

47% 
25% 

Bracknell Forest
Milton Keynes

Wokingham
Swindon
Trafford

Central Bedfordshire
Warrington

Stockport
Thurrock

Solihull
West Berkshire

Bath and North East Somerset
Bedford Borough

Reading
Windsor and Maidenhead

South Gloucestershire

Percentage of investigated complaints upheld 

146



 

has found in the Council’s favour on all substantive points within a detailed eighteen 
page complaint, but has then found ‘fault’ on one minor technicality even though he 
also concludes that the minor fault caused no injustice.  In another case the LGSCO 
also accepts that any ‘fault’ caused no injustice.  Such findings before the last two or 
three years were unlikely to be classified as fault and so the current approach 
continues a trend that we have drawn to the LGSCO’s attention in recent years albeit 
with little acknowledgement. 

 
5.9 In three cases, the outcome of the investigation required implementation of the 

LGSCO’s recommendations. Bracknell Forest Council complied in 100% of these 
cases. 

 
5.10 The LGSCO encourages councils to use these figures as the start of a conversation, 

and not an absolute measure of the health of the organisation. The council is 
currently reviewing the approach to managing corporate complaints, including taking 
consideration for the findings within the LGSCO’s letter.  

 
5.11 The LGO are unsighted on Stage 1 and 2 complaints so the Executive are reminded 

that Bracknell Forest Council takes all complaints seriously and looks to resolve 
complaints at stage 1 or 2 of the complaints process wherever possible to prevent 
them escalating any further. Complaints and their outcomes are monitored through 
the Quarterly Service Reports (QSRs).  It is also worth remembering that these six 
investigations are the only ones that have arisen from the many thousands of 
interactions between the Council and residents throughout the year. 

6 Consultation and Other Considerations 

 Legal Advice 

6.1 The Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman(LG&SCO) is the independent 
body responsible for investigating complaints made against public bodies where it is 
alleged that there has been maladministration causing injustice The LG&SCO was 
previously known as the Local Government Ombudsman (LGO). On 19 June 2017, 
the LGO changed its name, in order to increase awareness that the organisation also 
looks at complaints about all areas of adult social care, including privately arranged 
or funded care. 

 
The LGSCO can only investigate claims where there has been maladministration 
by a public body that has caused personal injustice to the complainant. 

There is no specific definition of "maladministration" and, but it can include cases 
where a public body has taken, or has failed to take, action. If there has been no 
maladministration, the LG&SCO cannot investigate; it is only allowed to investigate 
the procedure behind the decision-making. This means that the LG&SCO will not 
investigate cases where the complainant merely disagrees with a decision that a 
public body has made. Maladministration is concerned with the manner in which 
public body decisions were reached and the ways that they were or were not 
implemented; it is not concerned with the decision itself.  

Once maladministration has been established, it must be confirmed that it has led to 
personal injustice for the complainant. Injustice can include: 
 
 The time and trouble involved in pursuing a complaint against a public body. 
 The loss of a right or service, which the complainant is legitimately entitled to. 
 Costs associated with pursuing the complaint. 

147



 

 Inconvenience, worry, distress, and hurt feelings. 
 

It must also be proved that the injustice was caused by the public body and was not 
merely incidental. 

Financial Advice 

6.2 There are no financial implications arising from this report.  

 Other Consultation Responses 

6.3 None 

Equalities Impact Assessment 

6.4 There are no direct impact issues to be considered. 

Strategic Risk Management Issues 

6.5 The information the LGSCO reports to the Council in its annual letter is publicly 
available. Depending on the findings, there is a potential risk of negative impact on 
the council’s reputation. Therefore, it is imperative that the council continues to 
review complaints management information and has in place a robust complaint 
handling procedure to resolve complaints and ensure procedures are complied to.  

Background Papers 

LGSCO annual review letter 2020. 
 
Contact for further information 
Katie Flint - Policy Officer, Chief Executive’s Office: 01344 352217 
Katie.flint@bracknell-forest.gov.uk  
  

148

mailto:Katie.flint@bracknell-forest.gov.uk


 

Annex A – Summary of upheld decisions 1 April 2019 to 31 March 2020 
 

Service area: Other 4 March 2020 

Mrs X complains about the Council's handling of her complaints under the statutory 
children's complaints process. The Ombudsman finds the Council at fault. He 
recommends the Council makes a payment and takes action to consider Mrs X's 
further complaints in line with the statutory guidance. 

Service area: Child protection 30 September 2019 

Miss X complains the Council has not implemented recommendations that were 
made at stage two and three of the statutory complaint procedure. The 
Ombudsman finds fault with how the Council considered the recommendations. 
We have recommended the Council reconsider its decision and make a financial 
payment to Miss X. 

Service area: Special educational needs 6 September 2019 

Mrs X complains about the Council's handling of her son's Education and Health 
Care Plans and its refusal to investigate her complaint, causing stress and 
financial loss. The Ombudsman cannot consider any complaints related to Mrs X's 
appeal to the SEN Tribunal. The Ombudsman finds fault in the Council's refusal to 
investigate Mrs X's complaint but finds this did not cause significant injustice. 

Service area: Special educational needs 26 April 2019 

Mr X and Mrs X complain of failures by the Council in accommodating their 
grandson, Z. They say this caused their family time and trouble, distress and 
significant financial costs to secure the right provision. The Council took a week 
too long to move Z to a new placement. But there was no fault in the Council's 
actions in those other matters that are within the Ombudsman's jurisdiction, with 
most of the matters complained of being outside our jurisdiction. The Council will 
apologise for the delay of one week. 

 

149



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

To: Executive  
26 Jan 2020 

  
 

Climate Change Strategy 2020 - 2024 
Executive Director of Delivery 

1 Purpose of Report 

1.1 To present the proposed climate change strategy for Bracknell Forest Council. 

2 Recommendation(s) 

2.1 The Executive agrees the Climate Change Strategy and action plan 

2.2 The Executive agrees to the formation of an all Member climate change 
advisory group 

3 Reasons for Recommendation(S) 

3.1 In Bracknell Forest Council Motion (02/2019), passed at Full Council on 17 July 
2019, the council committed to becoming a net-zero greenhouse gas emitting 
borough by 2050. The motion states: 

“This Council strongly believes in the need to continue its work to address the impact 
of man-made Climate Change on our local communities. To this end, this Council 
asks the Executive to develop detailed action plans with measurable ambitious 
annual targets and an annual report to address this pressing matter to ensure that 
the Council meets the government target of eradicating its net contribution to climate 
change by 2050” 

4 Alternative Options Considered 

4.1 Continuing with 3-yearly action plans, rather than a strategic framework and action 
plan 

5 Supporting Information 

5.1 Bracknell Forest Council has been committed to addressing climate change since the 
Nottingham Declaration on climate change in February 2007. Therefore, in the spirit 
of, “deeds not words1”, the council re-stated its commitments towards planning for 
and mitigating man-made climate change via the council Motion (02/2019). In the 
light of the new information from the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change 
(IPCC), the council undertook a review of its action plan outcomes to-date and what 
additional actions it needs to take to ensure that it is carbon neutral by 2050, in line 
with the Climate Change Act (2008).   

 
5.2 Effectively tackling man-made climate change can only be achieve through having a 

clear strategy. Having a clear focus ensures that our work has clear, achievable and 
measurable outcomes that reduce CO2 in the borough. This is important, as there 

                                                
1
 Emmeline Pankhurst founder of the Women’s Social and Political Union (WSPU) coined the phrase 

151

Agenda Item 10



 

 

are many things that could be done and are beneficial in their own rights to the local 
environment, but Bracknell Forest Council has a singular focus on bringing the 
emissions in the borough down through this strategy. 

 
5.3 The broad structure for the council’s climate change strategy is summarised in the 

diagram below: 
 
 

 
 
5.2 This structure seeks to both act as an implementation approach and to give focus to 

the work. Our approach is to work with partners, schools and young people, to 
ensure that we are able to perverse the positive changes seen from COVID 19, plus 
ensure that our approach is consistent with our current plans, both corporate and 
environmentally specific.  

 
5.3 Lessons learnt from the last action plan is that the work must have focus. Therefore, 

this strategy now clearly identifies that there are things the Council can directly 
control and things upon which it can act as an enabler or influencer. The strategy 
itself now picks up on those key differences and the actions required. 

 
5.4 Whilst the Council has had climate change actions in place since 2013 there is a 

current need to generate a start point (baseline measure) against which to measure 
future progress. Taking forward the approach of separating out the things that we 
have direct control of and those which we have influent upon, two baselines have 
been taken into the strategy.  

 
5.5 The best data source for estimating borough wide greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions 

is that collated by the department for Business, Energy and Industrial Strategy 
(BEIS). Bracknell Forest borough’s emissions have been estimated to be 443 
Kilotonnes of CO2 equivalent per annum. For the council itself, an independent study 
has been completed and Bracknell Forest Council’s own ‘direct’ GHG emissions 
were estimated for the calendar year 2019 as being 6.3 Kilotonnes of CO2 equivalent 
per annum. This represents around 1.5% of the total emissions figures. 

 

152



 

 

5.6  Our strategy sets out the background context, at both international and national 
levels. It details the story of place and the work that Bracknell Forest Council has 
undertaken in addressing Climate Change, since 2007 and the work we have 
undertaken in developing the strategy.  

 
5.7 The current version presented, whilst the strategy text is complete, the document still 

needs to go through the graphic design process in order to deliver a non-printable, e-
document in support of the underlying values of preserving our natural resources. 

 
 Climate Change Strategy Action Plan 
 
5.8 The revised action plan (appendix 2) captures current climate change projects and 

aligns each to the principles that our climate change strategy is built around. It also 
gives each project a sense of identity in terms of which directorate / section they 
reside within, the lead Officer and to which Executive Member’s portfolio the project 
relates. 

 
5.9 The strategy action plan is a live document which currently has a total of 41 projects 

covering a breadth of council directorates. 5 of these projects reflect emissions that 
BFC has direct control over; 18 of these projects reflect emissions that the council 
can influence within the borough; and 18 of these projects are a combination of both 
of the above. 

 
5.10 Officers responsible for each project / set of projects will be asked to provide 

quarterly updates utilising a standard template (appendix 3). These updates will 
subsequently be reflected within the strategy action plan and will form the basis for 
an intended annual progress report on climate change. Possible projects are being 
added towards the bottom of the action plan. These are forward looking possibilities 
which are not committed / adopted projects yet. 

 
5.11 Measures / targets – we recognise that our current measures / targets are diverse 

and wide ranging and recognise the need to tie these down to a standard measure 
that links back to impacts on greenhouse gas emissions. This is a developing piece 
of work and our longer-term aim will be to convert these targets / measurables back 
to tonnes of co2 equivalent for ease of comparison purposes. 

   
5.12 The project list will be reviewed quarterly, enabling new projects to be commissioned 

and added to the roster. Those projects which have been completed will also be 
taken off at these quarterly reviews.  The summary performance of all the projects for 
each quarter, will be reported as part of the Council Plan Overview Report (CPOR) 
process reporting to the O&S Commission.  An annual project performance report will 
also be presented to Full Council.  

 
5.13 The Executive are asked to recognise both the strategy and the accompanying action 

plan as representative of the council’s commitment to becoming a net-zero 
greenhouse gas emitting borough by 2050. In addition, and in recognition of the 
council’s responsibility to support borough-wide reductions in greenhouse gas 
emissions it is also recommended that The Executive set up a Climate Change 
Advisory Group. 

6 Consultation and Other Considerations 

Legal Advice 

153



 

 

6.1 The Council has powers via the Localism Act, (General Powers of Competence) 
supplemented by Local Government & Public Involvement in Health Act 2007 and 
Sustainable Communities Act 2007, to engage directly and work with other agencies 
in helping to tackle climate change. The specific legal implications of the projects 
identified in the report will be identified as the projects progress. 

Financial Advice 

6.2 The projects currently detailed within the climate change action plan represent 
ongoing pieces of work which have each received the appropriate financial budgetary 
approval. Any future work projects will be subject to the same financial approvals. 

Other Consultation Responses 

6.3 The Council’s approach to climate change has been scrutinised by the Overview and 
Scrutiny Commission including public inputs on 10th March and 2nd Dec 2020. 
Feedback from these sessions has been built in to the climate change strategy. 

Equalities Impact Assessment 

6.4 An initial EIA screening review has been completed with the conclusion that there are 
no significant specific disadvantages arising from the introduction of a climate change 
strategy. 

Strategic Risk Management Issues  

6.5 The actual and potential effects of climate change are a global issue with 
governments across the world being urged to take appropriate action to address it. 
The council’s climate change strategy is a local response to that wider issue. 

Background Papers 
Appendix 1:  Bracknell Forest Council Climate Change Strategy 2020 - 2024 
Appendix 2:  Climate Change Strategy Action Plan  
Appendix 3:  Action Plan update template 
 
Contact for further information 
Kevin Gibbs, Delivery - 01344 355621 
Kevin.gibbs@bracknell-forest.gov.uk 
 
 
Gareth Jones, Shared Services Manager: 01344 351761 
Gareth.jones@bracknell-forest.gov.uk 
 
 
 
 

154

mailto:Gareth.jones@bracknell-forest.gov.uk


Bracknell Forest Council – Climate Change Strategy 2020-2024 

 

Climate Change 
Strategy 
Bracknell Forest Council 2020-2024 

KG/GJ 12/11/20 Final 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 

  

155



Bracknell Forest Council – Climate Change strategy 2020-2024 1  
 

Copyright Notification 
This document has published by Copyright © Bracknell Forest Council, distributed 
under the Creative Commons Attribution 2.5 license.  This means you are free to 
copy, use and modify all or part of its contents for any purpose as long as you give 
clear credit for the original creators of the content so used. For more information 
please see: http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/2.5/legalcode 

 

 

Authors: 

Kevin Gibbs, Executive Director of Delivery - 01344 355621 
Kevin.gibbs@bracknell-forest.gov.uk 
 
Gareth Jones, Shared Services Manager: 01344 351761 
Gareth.jones@bracknell-forest.gov.uk 
 

 

 Owner (Responsible for Approval of Issued Versions) 

Role Signature Date Issue 

Executive Director: 
Delivery 

   

 
 
Revision History: 

Date Version Reason for change Author 
 

08/10/2020 0.3 Draft Gareth Jones 

06/11/2020 0.4 Draft Gareth Jones 

02/12/2020 0.5 O&S Commission review Kevin Gibbs 

16/12/2020 0.6 Corporate Management Team Kevin Gibbs 

06/01/2020 0.7 O&S Commission  Kevin Gibbs 

    

    

    

    

 
 
Distribution: 

Date Version Distribution 
 

   

 

 
 
BFC’s climate change work is published on the Council’s website at: 
https://www.bracknell-forest.gov.uk/council-and-democracy/strategies-plans-and-
policies/climate-change 

 
  

156

http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/2.5/legalcode
mailto:Kevin.gibbs@bracknell-forest.gov.uk
mailto:Gareth.jones@bracknell-forest.gov.uk
https://www.bracknell-forest.gov.uk/council-and-democracy/strategies-plans-and-policies/climate-change
https://www.bracknell-forest.gov.uk/council-and-democracy/strategies-plans-and-policies/climate-change


Bracknell Forest Council – Climate Change strategy 2020-2024 2  
 

Bracknell Forest Council – Climate Change Strategy  
 
 

Statement from The Leader of the Council 
 
Bracknell Forest Council has committed itself to becoming carbon neutral by 2050. It is clear 
that delivering on this challenging target will require the whole council, Members and 
Officers, working together, to achieve this important objective. 
 
In Motion 02/2019, on 17 July 2019, a climate change motion was agreed at Council. This 
stated that, “This Council strongly believes in the need to continue its work to address the 
impact of man-made Climate Change on our local communities. To this end, this Council 
asks the Executive to develop detailed action plans with measurable ambitious annual 
targets and an annual report to address this pressing matter to ensure that the Council 
meets the government target of eradicating its net contribution to climate change by 2050”. 
 
It is worth noting that addressing man-made climate change isn’t a new policy area for the 
council, or the council’s thinking and planning. In January 2013 the Council refreshed its 
commitment to action on climate change by becoming a signatory to Climate Local, the 
Local Government Association’s successor to the 2007 Nottingham Declaration on Climate 
Change. The Council also issued a Climate Change Action Plan in 2013 reflecting our 
commitment under Climate Local which was revised and updated in 2016. 
 
We have already delivered, 14,500 LED streetlights accounting for energy savings of 55% 
between April 2016 and April 2019 (6,261,869 kWh to 3,412,604 kWh). 
 
We have secured £3 million of external funding for the residents of Warfield Park Mobile 
Homes, to enable the installation of mains gas; providing an average saving of 40% on gas 
bills for these residents. 
 
We have supported the introduction of Personal Travel Planning to businesses and targeted 
residential areas, using funding from Central Government, as part of the Local Sustainable 
Transport policy in 2014/15. Walking, cycling and the use of public transport has continued 
to be promoted in marketing campaigns, resulting in annual bus travel, in the Borough, 
increasing by 13% between April 2017 to April 2018. This is on top of a 2% increase in the 
number of people walking and a 13% in bike journeys, between May 2018 and May 2019. 
 
There are many more examples that can be cited, demonstrating the council’s commitment 
and actions taken.   
 
The Climate Change Act (2008), as amended in June 2019, sets a legally binding target for 
the UK to reduce greenhouse gas emissions to net zero by 2050. The UK has become the 
first country in the developed world to put this target into law.  
 
There is the need to embed climate changing actions within the Council’s DNA. BFC’s 
current Corporate Plan covers its commitment to tackling climate change. We all need to 
understand that we have a part to play and everyone in the Bracknell Forest Council area is 
encouraged to build climate change considerations into their day to day actions and 
behaviours. 
 
Cllr Paul Bettison OBE 
Leader 
Bracknell Forest Council 

157



Bracknell Forest Council – Climate Change strategy 2020-2024 3  
 

 
 

Contents 
Statement from The Leader of the Council ........................................................................ 2 

Executive summary .......................................................................................................... 6 

Our ambition is to reach carbon net-zero by 2050 ........................................................... 14 

Background ....................................................................................................................................... 14 

Climate Change Act ........................................................................................................................... 14 

Bracknell Forest 2007-2019 Action plans ......................................................................................... 15 

Comparative performance data ........................................................................................................ 16 

CO2 Emissions for the Bracknell Forest Council area 2005-2018 ..................................................... 17 

Coronavirus - COVID 19 Global Pandemic ........................................................................................ 18 

COVID Lockdown One – Global energy review ................................................................................. 20 

Global energy demand to plunge this year as a result of the biggest shock since the Second 

World War ..................................................................................................................................... 20 

Climate change: Lockdown has 'negligible' effect on temperatures ............................................ 21 

The Climate Change Committee (CCC): Sixth Carbon Budget .......................................................... 21 

Local Authorities and the Sixth Carbon Budget ................................................................................ 22 

Bracknell Forest: Borough context – the Story of place .................................................... 24 

Population ......................................................................................................................................... 24 

Demographics ................................................................................................................................... 24 

Socio Economics ................................................................................................................................ 24 

Employment ...................................................................................................................................... 24 

Dwellings ........................................................................................................................................... 24 

Travel and Commuting ...................................................................................................................... 25 

Air Quality ......................................................................................................................................... 25 

Energy ............................................................................................................................................... 25 

Forestation / Greening ...................................................................................................................... 26 

Waste and Recycling ......................................................................................................................... 26 

Council Plan 2020-2023 .................................................................................................. 27 

(Protecting and enhancing our environment) .................................................................................. 27 

Key objectives set in the plan are: ......................................................................................... 27 

Key performance indicators: ................................................................................................. 27 

Strategy development approach – Our path to a new Climate Change Strategy ............... 29 

General .............................................................................................................................................. 29 

158



Bracknell Forest Council – Climate Change strategy 2020-2024 4  
 

Bracknell Forest Council baseline ..................................................................................................... 29 

COVID 19 impact (Residents' Survey Results 2020) - BFC Community Impact assessment ............. 30 

Figure 5.1: The views of residents about travel and the environment in the future ................... 31 

Figure 5.2: Changes made to reduce carbon footprint ................................................................. 32 

Figure 5.3: Continuing with changes made to reduce carbon footprint ...................................... 33 

Overview and Scrutiny Commission’s engagement with climate change ........................................ 33 

The Commission’s climate change marketplace - 10th March 2020 ............................................. 33 

Overview and Scrutiny Commission agenda - 10 March 2020 ..................................................... 34 

Overview and Scrutiny Commission agenda – 4 December 2020 ................................................ 35 

Summary of Commission’s work to date .......................................................................................... 36 

Climate Change Strategy (2020- 2024) ............................................................................ 37 

Climate change strategy - General .................................................................................................... 37 

Climate change strategy - Strategic approach and focus ................................................................. 38 

Climate change strategy – Implementation approach ..................................................................... 38 

Our Objective ............................................................................................................................ 38 

Action plan .................................................................................................................................... 38 

Climate change strategy - Action plan Measures / targets............................................................... 39 

Current Bracknell Forest Council direct emissions profile: ........................................................... 40 

Table 2: Scope 1 and 2 direct emissions – Bracknell Forest Council (2019) ................................. 40 

Current Bracknell Forest Borough area emissions profile: ........................................................... 40 

Strategy Conclusions - Reaching carbon net-zero by 2050 ............................................... 41 

End note ......................................................................................................................... 44 

The need for adaptive change .......................................................................................................... 44 

Future Mobility and Air Quality ........................................................................................................ 45 

The role of the Local Authority ......................................................................................................... 46 

Glossary of Terms ........................................................................................................... 48 

Bibliography ................................................................................................................... 51 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

  

159



Bracknell Forest Council – Climate Change strategy 2020-2024 5  
 

Climate Change general info 
 
 
 

Human activities have increased carbon dioxide emissions, driving up temperatures. 
Extreme weather and melting polar ice are among the possible effects. 

 
An Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC) report in 2018 suggested that 

keeping to the increase in global average temperature to below 1.5 °C above pre-
industrial levels would require “rapid, far-reaching and unprecedented changes in all 

aspects of society”. 
 
Temperature increases are linked to the greenhouse effect, which describes how the Earth’s 
atmosphere traps some of the Sun’s energy. Solar energy radiating back to space from the 
Earth’s surface is absorbed by greenhouse gases in our atmosphere and re-emitted in all 
directions. This heats both the lower atmosphere and the surface of the planet. Scientists 
believe we are adding to the natural greenhouse effect, with gases released from industry 
and agriculture trapping more energy and increasing the temperature.  
 

 
(TutorBin) 
 
The World therefore needs to act to reduce greenhouse gas emissions in order to help 
minimise the risks and impacts of climate change.   

 
 
 

  

160

https://www.bbc.co.uk/news/science-environment-45775309


Bracknell Forest Council – Climate Change strategy 2020-2024 6  
 

Executive summary 
 
 

Bracknell Forest Council – Climate Change Strategy (Executive Summary)  
 
Our ambition is to reach carbon net-zero by 2050 
 
In October 2018 the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC) published a 
Special Report. The IPCC concluded that the Climate Change problem was getting worse. 
Therefore, in order to avoid the risks of dangerous and irreversible climate change in the 
future, political rather than scientific action was required.  
 
The scientific consensus agrees that the main human influences on global climate are 
emissions of the key greenhouse gasses: carbon dioxide, methane and nitrous oxide. The 
concentration of these gasses in the atmosphere has now reached levels unprecedented for 
tens of thousands of years. 
 
For the UK, climate change means hotter, drier summers, milder, wetter winters, higher sea 
levels and a risk of coastal flooding. Across the globe, there will be more intense heat 
waves, droughts and flooding. There may be severe problems for regions where people are 
particularly vulnerable to changes in the weather. Food shortages and the spread of disease 
are commonly predicted. 
 
Climate Change Act 
 
The Climate Change Act (2008), as amended in June 2019, sets a legally binding target on 
the Secretary of State for Business, Energy and Industrial Strategy to ensure that the net UK 
carbon account for all six Kyoto greenhouse gases for the year 2050 is at least 80% lower 
than the 1990 baseline. In November 2020, the government published its “Ten Point Plan for 
a Green Industrial Revolution - Building back better, supporting green jobs, and accelerating 
our path to net zero”. This plan details a path to net reductions by 2030 and 2050. The ten-
point plan will mobilise £12 billion of government investment, and potentially 3 times as 
much from the private sector, to create and support up to 250,000 green jobs across the UK. 
 
It is clear that the duty does not fall to councils and therefore there is no additional “climate 
change” funding allocated to councils, in order to implement the act.  
 
Bracknell Forest 2007-2019 Action plans 
 
Addressing man-made climate change isn’t a new policy area for the council. Bracknell 
Forest Council first signed up to the Nottingham Declaration on climate change in February 
2007. In January 2013 the Council refreshed its commitment to action on climate change by 
becoming a signatory to Climate Local, the Local Government Association’s successor to the 
Nottingham Declaration on Climate Change. The Council also issued a Climate Change 
Action Plan in 2013 reflecting our commitment under Climate Local which was revised and 
updated in 2016. 
 
An evaluation of the 2013-19 plan has taken place. The key learning point were the difficulty 
in measuring progress against a benchmark / starting position and the focus was on what 
Bracknell Forest Council could do to address climate change, rather than how the wider 
community could be harnessed to have a more substantial impact on the whole borough. 
 
  

161



Bracknell Forest Council – Climate Change strategy 2020-2024 7  
 

Comparative performance data 
 
In terms of comparing Bracknell Forest Council to other local authorities, there are a number 
of published benchmarks which feature Bracknell Forest Council. As no two local authority 
areas are the same (population, geography, housing density, etc.) so, the council takes a 
pragmatic approach to findings, treating them as indicative rather than definitive.     
 
The Friends of the Earth published a league table which compared Bracknell Forest Council 
to Similar local authorities (rural-urban fringe) for various climate change performance 
measures. Based on the 2016-17 data, summary headline results were that the area was 
good on tree coverage, air quality, shared commuting and home insulation. The areas for 
improvement were the local production of renewable energy, Domestic eco-heating 
initiatives, waste re-use / recycling, electric vehicle (EV) charging points, and reducing the 
number of residents commuting by car / increasing those commuting by non-car means. 
 
CO2 Emissions for the Bracknell Forest Council area 2005-2018 
 
Since 2003, the Department for Environment, Food & Rural Affairs (DEFRA) has published 
carbon dioxide emissions for local authority areas. Currently, the department for Business, 
Energy and Industrial Strategy (BEIS) publishes annual data sets on greenhouse gases.   
 
The borough’s emissions have decreased from 732 kt CO2e in 2005 to 443 kt CO2e in 2018 
(an overall reduction of 40%). The three main sub-emission groups (Industry & commerce, 
domestic and transport) currently contribute almost similar levels of CO2 to one another 
within the BFC area. Emissions from all road transport and domestic gas heating alone 
make up almost 60% of total emissions. 
 
Coronavirus - COVID 19 Global Pandemic 
 
The COVID-19 pandemic, also known as the coronavirus pandemic, was first identified in 
December 2019 in Wuhan, China. The World Health Organization declared the outbreak a 
Public Health Emergency of International Concern in January 2020 and a pandemic in 
March 2020. As of 7 December 2020, more than 67.3 million cases have been confirmed, 
with more than 1.53 million deaths attributed to COVID-19. 
 
The pandemic has caused global social and economic disruption, including the largest global 
recession since the Great Depression, according to the International Monitory Fund (IMF).   
 
“Influenza Type Disease”, was identified as a top risk on the Government Risk Register and 
is identified as a top risk on the Thames Valley Community Risk Register (CRR). Climate 
change is also identified as a key risk to the TVLRF area and therefore features both on the 
Thames Valley Community Risk Register and in the council’s risk strategy key issues. 
  
COVID Lockdown One – Global energy review 
 
The International Energy Agency Global Energy Review [30 April 2020], reported that global 
energy demand will plunge this year [2020] as a result of the biggest shock since the Second 
World War. As a result of the Covid-19 pandemic, emissions declines of almost 8% are 
predicted in carbon for the year (energy demand will fall 6% in 2020). 
 
“This crisis has underlined the deep reliance of modern societies on reliable electricity 
supplies for supporting healthcare systems, businesses and the basic amenities of daily 
life…Resulting from premature deaths and economic trauma around the world, the historic 

162



Bracknell Forest Council – Climate Change strategy 2020-2024 8  
 

decline in global emissions is absolutely nothing to cheer,” said Dr Birol. (International 
Energy Agency).  
Yet the BBC reported in August 2020 that “the dramatic drop in greenhouse gases and air 
pollutants seen during the global lockdown will have little impact on our warming planet say 
scientists” 
   
Bracknell Forest: Borough context – the Story of place 
 
Bracknell Forest comprises of both a 1950’s first generation New Town which has seen 
several phases of subsequent growth, along with a number of older villages across a varied 
geographic area. The principal conurbation is Bracknell itself with secondary population 
centres built up around the historic towns and villages of Sandhurst & Crowthorne to the 
south, Binfield, Warfield and Winkfield to the north and North Ascot to the East. The Borough 
has one of the highest percentages of tree cover (40%) for any local authority and one of the 
highest ratios of publicly accessible open space to its population.  12% of the borough is 
within a designated Special Protection Area and there are nine designated sites of Specific 
Scientific Interest.   
 

 The population of Bracknell Forest is 121,676 (ONS 2018 estimate*). (ranked 291 out 
of 326 local authorities in England on the Index of Multiple Deprivation 2010).  

 

 The total number of dwellings in the Borough at March 2019 was 50,225. Only 1.2% 
of all homes had no central heating – much lower than the national average of 2.7%. 
Domestic energy efficiency is slowly improving in the Borough. The number of homes 
EPC rated poorly (E, F or G) is around 8%. 

 

 Levels of car ownership are high in the borough; the average number of vehicles per 
household is 1.49 (1.16 in England).  Air quality is generally good in Bracknell Forest, 
with only 2 air quality monitoring sites in the borough. 

 

 Waste and Recycling - levels of waste re-use, recycling and composting have 
remained static at around 43% for some time.   

  
Council Plan 2020-2023 
 
The Council Plan has 6 strategic themes: 
• value for money 
• economic resilience 
• education and skills 
• caring for you and your family 
• protecting and enhancing our environment 
• communities 
 
Under the theme Protecting and enhancing our environment a number of annual 
priorities take the council towards the achievement of its 4-year key objectives. Progress 
against the Council Plan is reported by a quarterly overview report from the Chief Executive. 
At the end of the financial year an annual report is published summarising progress made 
over the year. 
 
  

163



Bracknell Forest Council – Climate Change strategy 2020-2024 9  
 

Strategy development approach – Our path to a new Climate Change Strategy 
 
Both Members and the Corporate Management Team (CMT) are committed to having a 
strong climate change mitigation culture within the organisation. The Bracknell Forest 
Council, Motion (02/2019) passed at Full Council, set the new strategic objective for the 
council.    
 
Bracknell Forest Council carbon footprint baseline is 6,288 tonnes CO2e (carbon dioxide 
equivalent). 3,427 t were generated by purchase of electricity (scope 2); 2,808 t were 
generated through the combustion of natural gas (scope 1); and 52 t were generated via 
emissions from council owned/leased fleet vehicles (scope 1). Roughly 25% of all our 
electricity outputs comes from the streetlighting infrastructure, 100% of which has already 
been converted to LED lanterns. At the time of the report the council was responsible for 
approximately 90 electric and 73 gas meters across its entire estate. Schools feature heavily 
in the top 5 emitters of both gas and electric, with Time Square (electric) and the 
Easthampstead Park Cemetery and Crematorium (gas) also featuring.  
 
Overview and Scrutiny Commission’s engagement with climate change 
 
Following the 5 November 2019 Overview and Scrutiny Commission meeting, in setting the 
Overview and Scrutiny work programme for 2019 – 2023, the Commission took unto itself 
the role of being the Scrutiny panel for Climate Change.  
 
The Commission has now held around 6 hours of public meetings, and considered over 200 
pages of written evidence, plus reviewed 76 projects on the climate change work that the 
council has either undertaken or has been proposing to take forward. This being on top of 
private meetings and individual investigations and reviews. Public and private discussions 
have been had with a number of stakeholders and their views have been sought and 
presented. 
 
The output from its meetings and the considerable internal and external consultation it has 
had has been fed into the strategy. The Commission’s Climate Change Review Group are to 
take forward a review on “Climate Change Review – harnessing a community call for action”. 
 
Bracknell Forest Council - Climate Change Strategy (2020- 2024) 
 
Bracknell Forest Council recognises that this strategy will rely on the engagement and 
support of our residents, communities, local town/parish councils, local action groups and 
local businesses. Such partners will not only help us to deliver but will take the responsibility 
for achieving targets to help close the greenhouse gas emissions gap we are all facing up to. 
 
Our strategy brings together our management strategy, set in the council’s corporate plan 
and our climate change mitigation goals and builds upon the distinctive competences of the 
borough council, Town and Parish councils, the local private sector businesses and the 
community itself to help deliver it.  
 
The council’s climate change strategy is a strategic framework, underpinned by annual 
action plans that are refreshed each year.  
 
Our objective will be to achieve this through 4 strategic principles: 

 Working with partners 

 Preserving the climate beneficial elements of the COVID-19 pandemic 

 Working with schools and young people 

164



Bracknell Forest Council – Climate Change strategy 2020-2024 10  
 

 Preserving the natural environment sustainably in line with the Bracknell Forest plans 
 
Our action plan has 2 main strands: 

 Reduce carbon emissions that are under the council’s control 

 Influence and lead community action against climate change 
 
At the launch of the climate change strategy the action plan database holds 41 projects, 
covering the breadth of council directorates. 5 of these projects reflect emissions that BFC 
has direct control over; 18 of these projects reflect emissions that the council can influence 
within the borough; and 18 of these projects are a combination of both of the above. In order 
to ensure that projects can be monitored effectively these are grouped by Executive 
Member’s portfolio, and then directorate / section. Each project has a clearly identified lead 
Officer who will take responsibility for the delivery and reporting on the project. 
  
Strategy Conclusions - Reaching carbon net-zero by 2050   
 
This strategy is the third refresh of this work, with the council motion being the latest and 
most definitive public declaration on this important agenda.  
 
There is a strong commitment from the council to this agenda and this has been put into the 
DNA of all our work.  
 
Under the council’s priority action areas, projects are being developed and implemented. 
Only by taking on bold and innovative projects will we, as the council, enable our 
communities, to achieve their goals. Bracknell Forest Council is successful because we do 
what is right and what is practical. When asked, why is Bracknell Forest Council approaching 
this objective in this way, it is simple, “because we are Bracknell Forest”.   

 
 

  

165



Bracknell Forest Council – Climate Change strategy 2020-2024 11  
 

Highlights from 2013-2019 Action plan 
 
Travel & Transport 
 

 Improvements to A322 / A329 corridor (2011-2019) to provide a better managed 
traffic flows resulting in reduced vehicle queues and improved air quality.  

 

 Secured Local Sustainable Transport Funding of £1.6M (2012-15) which delivered 
several outcomes including: Working with local employers to reduce the congestion 
and emissions caused by single occupancy car commuting and Working with schools 
to encourage more cycling.  
 

 Campaigned to increase walking, cycling and the use of public transport in the 
borough. This resulting in annual bus travel, increasing by 13% between April 2017 
to April 2018, a 2% increase in the number of people walking and a 13% in bike 
journeys, between May 2018 and May 2019. 
 

 Installed Electric Vehicle charging points in and around the town centre and town 
centre car parks. 

 
Energy  
 

 £7.3M LED street lighting lantern conversions -14,500 streetlights upgraded to LED 
accounting for energy savings of 55% between April 2016 and April 2019 (6,261,869 
kWh to 3,412,604 kWh) 

 

 £3 million of external funding for the residents of Warfield Park Mobile Homes (2019), 
to enable the installation of mains gas; providing an average saving of 40% on gas 
bills for these residents. 

 

 Secured £1.8m Green Deal Communities grant (2014) to support residents with 
home energy efficiency measures.  
 

 Installed Solar photovoltaics (PV) cells on Garth Hill College, Kings Academy Binfield 
schools, Priestwood Community Centre, Bracknell Leisure Centre and the Wilde 
Theatre, South Hill Park. 
 

 Installing a biomass pellet boiler at Garth Hill College and replacing (retrofitting) the 
existing (gas) Combined Heat & Power units at Coral Reef and Bracknell Leisure 
Centre. 

 

 Assessed and now display Energy Performance Certificates (EPCs) in all council 
owned assets of over 500m2 floor space. 

 

 Have reduced council office space and consolidated our energy consumption by 
demolishing Seymour House (2013), refurbishing Time Square (2014) and vacating 
Easthampstead House (2018). 

 
Natural Environment 
 

 Published Parks and Open Spaces Strategy (2012) including climate change 
mitigations. 

166



Bracknell Forest Council – Climate Change strategy 2020-2024 12  
 

 

 Published Local Flood Risk Management Strategy (2013) including requirements for 
Sustainable Urban Drainage systems (SUDs). 

 

 Increased the number of Suitable Alternative Natural Green Spaces (SANGS) within 
the borough to help mitigate / reduce visits to Special Protection Areas (SPAs) and 
better protect their biodiversity. 

 

 Created a new countryside park at Peacocks Meadow. 
 

 Implemented two Air Quality Management Areas within the borough (2011). 
 

 Included Climate Change mitigations within the Biodiversity Action Plan (2012). 
 
 

 
  

167



Bracknell Forest Council – Climate Change strategy 2020-2024 13  
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Intentionally blank 
 
 
 
 

168



Bracknell Forest Council – Climate Change strategy 2020-2024 14  
 

Our ambition is to reach carbon net-zero by 2050 
 

Background 
 
In October 2018 the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC) published a 
Special Report. The IPCC concluded that the Climate Change problem was getting worse. 
The IPCC concluded that the world needed to limit global temperature increases to no more 
than 2 degrees Celsius above preindustrial levels, in order to have any chance of reducing 
the risks of dangerous and irreversible climate change in the future. However, it recognised 
that the solutions to this problem will not be scientific, but political; only politicians can take 
the decisions necessary to make the changes that will make the difference.  
 
The IPCC report attracted publicity and media attention at the time but action at the national 
government level, to work towards the objective, has been until relatively recently slow. But 
the IPCC Special Report of October 2018 was the strongest yet and seems to have hit a 
nerve amongst the public. Effectively, it said that the world has just 12 years to get a grip on 
this issue or irreparable damage will be done to our ecosystem that cannot be reversed.  
 
The scientific consensus agrees that the main human influences on global climate are 
emissions of the key greenhouse gasses: carbon dioxide, methane, and nitrous oxide. At 
present, just over 7 billion tonnes of CO2 are emitted globally through fossil fuel use and an 
additional 1.6 billion tonnes is emitted by land use change, largely by deforestation. The 
concentration of these gasses in the atmosphere has now reached levels unprecedented for 
tens of thousands of years. 
 
According to IPCC, mean global temperatures are likely to rise between 1.1 and 6.4°C (with 
a best estimate of 1.8 to 4.0°C) above 1990 levels by the end of the 21st century, depending 
on our ongoing emissions. 
 
For the UK, climate change means hotter, drier summers, milder, wetter winters, higher sea 
levels and a risk of coastal flooding. Across the globe, there will be more intense heat 
waves, droughts, and flooding. There may be severe problems for regions where people are 
particularly vulnerable to changes in the weather. Food shortages and the spread of disease 
are commonly predicted. 
 

Climate Change Act 
 
The Climate Change Act (2008), as amended in June 2019, sets a legally binding target for 
the UK to reduce greenhouse gas emissions to net zero by 2050. 
 
The 2008 Climate Change Act, makes it the duty of the Secretary of State for Business, 
Energy and Industrial Strategy (was Secretary of State for Energy and Climate Change) 
to ensure that the net UK carbon account for all six Kyoto greenhouse gases for the year 
2050 is at least 80% lower than the 1990 baseline, in order to avoid dangerous climate 
change. The Act aims to enable the United Kingdom to become a low-carbon economy and 
gives ministers powers to introduce the measures necessary to achieve a range of 
greenhouse gas reduction targets.  
 
It is clear that the duty does not fall to councils and therefore there is no additional “climate 
change” funding allocated to councils, in order to implement the act. That said, Government 
departments have and will continue, from time to time, make available grants and other one-

169

https://www.ipcc.ch/
https://www.ipcc.ch/sr15/
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2008/27/contents
https://www.gov.uk/government/ministers/secretary-of-state-for-business-energy-and-industrial-strategy
https://www.gov.uk/government/ministers/secretary-of-state-for-business-energy-and-industrial-strategy
https://www.gov.uk/government/ministers/secretary-of-state-for-energy-and-climate-change


Bracknell Forest Council – Climate Change strategy 2020-2024 15  
 

off funds for specific initiatives. Estimates on the total cost of transitioning to a zero-carbon 
economy is likely to be well in excess of £1tn., according to Phillip Hammond, when he was 
Chancellor of the Exchequer (BBC News). The Department for Business, Energy and 
Industrial Strategy believes it will cost more, estimating £70bn a year.  
 
In November 2020, the government published its “Ten Point Plan for a Green Industrial 
Revolution - Building back better, supporting green jobs, and accelerating our path to net 
zero”. This plan doesn’t change the overall target of net zero by 2050 but details a path to 
net reductions by 2030 and 2050. The ten-point plan will mobilise £12 billion of government 
investment, and potentially 3 times as much from the private sector, to create and support up 
to 250,000 green jobs across the UK. 
 

Bracknell Forest 2007-2019 Action plans 
 
Addressing man-made climate change isn’t a new policy area for the council, or the council’s 
thinking and planning. The Council’s approach in addressing climate change, is focused on 
making this agenda part of the core operating principles of the council, rather than a set of 
activities separate to the delivery of the council’s mandated services. 
 
Bracknell Forest Council first signed up to the Nottingham Declaration 1on climate change 
in February 2007. In January 2013 the Council refreshed its commitment to action on climate 
change by becoming a signatory to Climate Local, the Local Government Association’s 
successor to the Nottingham Declaration on Climate Change. The Council also issued a 
Climate Change Action Plan in 2013 reflecting our commitment under Climate Local which 
was revised and updated in 2016. 
 
The Bracknell Forest Council 2013-2019 action plan had the following themes: 

1. Taking the lead  
2. Energy  
3. Transport  
4. Waste  
5. Procurement  
6. Adaptation  
7. Raising awareness 

 
A summary of the achievements under this strategy are attached as appendix 1 to this 
strategy, as it is important to recognise the work undertaken thus far. 
 
An evaluation of the 2013-19 plan has taken place. A number of key projects have been 
delivered making a demonstratable impact on the borough. That said, a key learning point to 
emerge from evaluating the 2013-19 plan, was the difficulty in measuring any progress 
against a benchmark / starting position, as nothing appeared to have been established. In 
addition, whilst several projects did have measurable targets to one degree or another, there 
were several other projects which were more aspirational initiatives or difficult to measure, 
crowd pleasing, “things to do”.   
 

                                                           
1
 The Nottingham Declaration on Climate Change. This Declaration commits the Council[s] to tackling the 

causes and effects of climate change and to encouraging all sectors in our local community to take the 
opportunity to adapt to the impacts of climate change, reduce their own greenhouse gas emissions and make 
public their commitment to action. 

170

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/the-ten-point-plan-for-a-green-industrial-revolution
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/the-ten-point-plan-for-a-green-industrial-revolution
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/the-ten-point-plan-for-a-green-industrial-revolution
https://webarchive.nationalarchives.gov.uk/20081111204651/http:/www.energysavingtrust.org.uk/nottingham
https://www.local.gov.uk/topics/environment-and-waste/climate-local
https://www.local.gov.uk/about/who-we-are-and-what-we-do


Bracknell Forest Council – Climate Change strategy 2020-2024 16  
 

Furthermore, the plan itself appeared to focus on what Bracknell Forest Council could do to 
address climate change, rather than how the wider community could be harnessed to have a 
more substantial impact on the whole borough. 
 

Comparative performance data 
 
In terms of comparing Bracknell Forest Council to other local authorities, there are a number 
of published benchmarks which feature Bracknell Forest Council. In reviewing these data 
sets, it has become clear that many are not pure reporting of data, but instead set out to 
prove a particular assertion, linked to an agenda that they are pursuing. Further, given that 
they are “metadata” analyses, they rely on published data which is up to 5 years old (the 
BEIS’s CO2 report for the borough is only published every two years and so most data in the 
public domain is 2017 or earlier) rather than on primary research, based upon up-to-date 
information. Therefore, the council has focused on its own primary data and that which is 
published by government agencies.  
 
All benchmark reports suffer from the weaknesses that all benchmarking suffers from; are 
the comparisons “apples and apples or apples and pears?”. No two local authority areas are 
the same (population, geography, housing density, etc.), therefore comparing even unitary 
authorities, requires the findings to have many caveats. So, the council takes a pragmatic 
approach to findings, treating them as indicative rather than definitive.     
 
The Friends of the Earth, published a league table on a metadata study in 2019 League 
table England Wales, based on various governmental data sources. This compared 
Bracknell Forest Council to Similar local authorities as identified and grouped using the 
Office of National Statistics (ONS) Residential-Based Area classifications. The study 
determined our strengths and areas of improvement within this “peer group” (rural-urban 
fringe2) for various climate change performance measures. The summary headline results 
are detailed in the table below: 

 

Good Needs Improvement 

% of trees in the borough Local production of renewable energy 

Air quality Domestic eco-heating initiatives 

Number of people sharing lifts when 
commuting 

Levels of waste re-use / recycling and 
composting 

Number of well-insulated homes Number of electric vehicle (EV) charging 
points available 

 High number of people commuting to 
work by car 

 Number of people commuting by non-car 
means 

 
This assessment is historical and therefore doesn’t reflect the projects undertaken in the last 
few years or the projects that have been commissioned recently under the Bracknell Forest 
Council Plan 2020-2023. 
 

                                                           
2
 The rural–urban fringe, also known as the outskirts, urban, peri-urban or the urban hinterland, can be 

described as the "landscape interface between town and country", or also as the transition zone where urban 
and rural uses mix. Alternatively, it can be viewed as a landscape type in its own right, one forged from an 
interaction of urban and rural land uses. 

171

https://policy.friendsoftheearth.uk/sites/files/policy/documents/2019-09/League_table_England_Wales.pdf
https://policy.friendsoftheearth.uk/sites/files/policy/documents/2019-09/League_table_England_Wales.pdf


Bracknell Forest Council – Climate Change strategy 2020-2024 17  
 

That said, the findings do align with the areas of work that the council is focusing on for the 
climate change agenda.  
 

CO2 Emissions for the Bracknell Forest Council area 2005-2018 
 

Since 2003, the Department for Environment, Food & Rural Affairs (DEFRA) has published 
experimental statistics of carbon dioxide emissions for local authority areas. In 2008, the 
experimental data set for 2005 was upgraded to full national statistics status and 2005 
became the baseline year for future performance monitoring.   
 
The department for Business, Energy and Industrial Strategy (BEIS) now publishes annual 
data sets on greenhouse gas emissions which enable us to show the overall trend in 
borough wide direct and indirect emissions.   
 
The total greenhouse gas emissions within the borough as a whole have decreased from 
732 kt CO2e in 2005 to 443 kt CO2e in 2018 (an overall reduction of 40%). All of these 
emissions are very marginally counter-balanced by Land Use, Land Use Change and 
Forestry (LULUCF) net emissions which remove some emissions from the atmosphere. 

 

 
 

The chart below represents estimated greenhouse gas emissions for the borough based on 
2018 estimates. The figures are taken from the department for Business, Energy and 
Industrial Strategy (BEIS) local emissions data. The data is updated 2 years behind the 
current year. The three main sub-emission groups (Industry & commerce, domestic and 
transport) currently contribute almost similar levels of CO2 to one another within the BFC 
area. 

 

-100.0

-

100.0

200.0

300.0

400.0

500.0

600.0

700.0

800.0

kt
C

O
2

e 

Year 

BEIS estimates: CO2 emissions from Bracknell Forest 
Borough  2005-2018 (kt CO2e) 

Industry & Commerce

Domestic

Transport

LULUCF net emissions

Grand Totals

172

https://www.gov.uk/government/organisations/department-for-environment-food-rural-affairs


Bracknell Forest Council – Climate Change strategy 2020-2024 18  
 

 
 

Presented another way, we can quickly identify that emissions from road transport and 
domestic gas heating make up almost 60% of total emissions. 

 

 
 

 

Coronavirus - COVID 19 Global Pandemic 
 
The COVID-19 pandemic, also known as the coronavirus pandemic, was first identified in 
December 2019 in Wuhan, China. The World Health Organization declared the outbreak a 
Public Health Emergency of International Concern in January 2020 and a pandemic in 
March 2020. As of 7 December 2020, more than 67.3 million cases have been confirmed, 
with more than 1.53 million deaths attributed to COVID-19. 
 
The pandemic has caused global social and economic disruption, including the largest global 
recession since the Great Depression, according to the International Monitory Fund (IMF).   
 
“Influenza Type Disease”, was identified as a top risk on the Government Risk Register and 
is identified as a top risk on the Thames Valley Community Risk Register (CRR). Within the 
Thames Valley area (Oxfordshire, Berkshire, and Buckinghamshire) the Thames Valley 
Local Resilience Forum (TVLRF), made up of all the organisations needed to prepare for 
and respond to any major emergency in the Thames Valley (Under the Civil Contingencies 
Act (2004), come together and assess the likelihood of emergencies happening and the 

138.1 

167.7 

148.8 

-11.5 

 Bracknell Forest Borough direct and indirect 
emissions by origin 2018  (kT co2e) 

Industry &
Commerce
Domestic

Transport

LULUCF net
emissions

4 

8 

46 

52 

74 

118 

139 

0 20 40 60 80 100 120 140 160

Domestic (Other fuels)

Industry & Commerce (other fuels)

Domestic electricity

Industry & Commerce gas

Industry & Commerce electricity

Domestic Gas

Road Transport (A and minor roads)

kT co2e 

Se
ct

o
r 

Fig 2. Bracknell Forest emissions by sector (2018)  

173

https://blogs.imf.org/2020/04/14/the-great-lockdown-worst-economic-downturn-since-the-great-depression/


Bracknell Forest Council – Climate Change strategy 2020-2024 19  
 

impact on the community. This includes the impacts to people, their houses, the environment 
and local businesses. These risks are regularly reviewed and updated on the CRR as a 
living document. 
 
Climate change is also identified as a key risk to the TVLRF area and therefore features on 
both the Thames Valley Community Risk Register and in the council’s risk strategy key 
issues. 
  

174



Bracknell Forest Council – Climate Change strategy 2020-2024 20  
 

 

COVID Lockdown One – Global energy review 
 
In a report from the International Energy Agency Global Energy Review [30 April 2020], the 
first climate change impacts of the pandemic were assessed, as the globe went into 
Lockdown one.  
 

[Extract] 

Global energy demand to plunge this year as a result of the biggest shock since the 
Second World War 

 
The Covid-19 pandemic is the biggest shock to the global energy system in more 
than seven decades, with annual predicted decline in carbon emissions of almost 8% 
(energy demand will fall 6% in 2020). 
 
“This is a historic shock to the entire energy world. Amid today’s unparalleled health 
and economic crises, the plunge in demand for nearly all major fuels is staggering, 
especially for coal, oil and gas. Only renewables are holding up during the previously 
unheard-of slump in electricity use,” said Dr Fatih Birol, the IEA Executive Director.  
“It is still too early to determine the longer-term impacts, but the energy industry that 
emerges from this crisis will be significantly different from the one that came before.” 
In absolute terms, the decline is the equivalent of losing the entire energy demand of 
India, the world’s third largest energy consumer. With economies like those within the 
European Union expected to see the biggest declines, of about 11%.  The IEA found 
that each month of worldwide lockdown, reduces annual global energy demand by 
about 1.5%. Full lockdowns have pushed down electricity demand by 20% or more. 
At the same time, we are seeing a major shift towards low-carbon sources of 
electricity including wind, solar PV, hydropower and nuclear. Renewables are set to 
be the only energy source that will grow in 2020, with their share of global electricity 
generation projected to jump thanks to their priority access to grids and low operating 
costs.   
 
“This crisis has underlined the deep reliance of modern societies on reliable 
electricity supplies for supporting healthcare systems, businesses and the basic 
amenities of daily life,” said Dr Birol. “But nobody should take any of this for granted – 
greater investments and smarter policies are needed to keep electricity supplies 
secure.” 
 
As a result of these trends – mainly the declines in coal and oil use – global energy-
related CO2 emissions are set to fall by almost 8% in 2020, reaching their lowest 
level since 2010. This would be the largest decrease in emissions ever recorded – 
nearly six times larger than the previous record drop of 400 million tonnes in 2009 
that resulted from the global financial crisis. 
 
“Resulting from premature deaths and economic trauma around the world, the 
historic decline in global emissions is absolutely nothing to cheer,” said Dr Birol. 
(International Energy Agency) 

 
  

175

https://www.iea.org/reports/global-energy-review-2020


Bracknell Forest Council – Climate Change strategy 2020-2024 21  
 

Yet the BBC reported in August 2020 that “the dramatic drop in greenhouse gases and air 
pollutants seen during the global lockdown will have little impact on our warming planet say 
scientists” 
  

[Extract] 

Climate change: Lockdown has 'negligible' effect on temperatures 
Global daily emissions of CO2 fell by 17% at the peak of the crisis. While other 
researchers, who calculated how 10 different greenhouse gases and air pollutants 
changed between February and June 2020 in 123 countries found that the drop off 
peaked in April, with CO2, nitrogen oxides and other emissions falling between 10-
30% globally, mainly due to declines in surface transport. But this new work shows 
that some of the declines in greenhouse gases actually cancelled each other out in 
terms of warming. 
 
Nitrogen oxides from transport normally have a warming impact in the atmosphere. 
While they went down by 30%, they were matched by a drop in sulphur dioxide, 
which mainly comes from the burning of coal. 
 
Emissions of this gas help aerosols to form, which reflect sunlight back into space 
and cool the planet. 
 
This balancing out, combined with the temporary nature of the pandemic restrictions, 
mean the impact on warming by 2030 will hardly be felt. (McGrath) 

 

The Climate Change Committee (CCC): Sixth Carbon Budget 
 
The Climate Change Committee (CCC) is an independent, statutory body established under 
the Climate Change Act 2008. 
 
The purpose of the Climate Change Committee (CCC) is to advise the UK and devolved 
governments on emissions targets and to report to Parliament on progress made in reducing 
greenhouse gas emissions and preparing for and adapting to the impacts of climate change. 
 
In its Sixth Carbon Budget, (December 2020) required under the Climate Change Act, it 
made the following recommendations: 
 
[Extract] 
Our recommended pathway requires a 78% reduction in UK territorial emissions between 
1990 and 2035. In effect, bringing forward the UK’s previous 80% target by nearly 15 years. 
The Sixth Carbon Budget can be met through four key steps: 
 

1. Take up of low-carbon solutions. People and businesses will choose to adopt low-
carbon solutions, as high carbon options are progressively phased out. By the early 
2030s all new cars and vans and all boiler replacements in homes and other 
buildings are low-carbon – largely electric. By 2040 all new trucks are low-carbon. UK 
industry shifts to using renewable electricity or hydrogen instead of fossil fuels, or 
captures its carbon emissions, storing them safely under the sea. 
 

2. Expansion of low-carbon energy supplies. UK electricity production is zero carbon 
by 2035. Offshore wind becomes the backbone of the whole UK energy system, 
growing from the Prime Minister’s promised 40GW in 2030 to 100GW or more by 
2050. New uses for this clean electricity are found in transport, heating and industry, 
pushing up electricity demand by a half over the next 15 years, and doubling or even 

176

https://www.theccc.org.uk/publication/sixth-carbon-budget/


Bracknell Forest Council – Climate Change strategy 2020-2024 22  
 

trebling demand by 2050. Low-carbon hydrogen scales-up to be almost as large, in 
2050, as electricity production is today. Hydrogen is used as a shipping and transport 
fuel and in industry, and potentially in some buildings, as a replacement for natural 
gas for heating. 

 
3. Reducing demand for carbon-intensive activities. The UK wastes fewer 

resources and reduces its reliance on high-carbon goods. Buildings lose less energy 
through a national programme to improve insulation across the UK. Diets change, 
reducing our consumption of high-carbon meat and dairy products by 20% by 2030, 
with further reductions in later years. There are fewer car miles travelled and demand 
for flights grows more slowly. These changes bring striking positive benefits for 
health and well-being. 

 
4. Land and greenhouse gas removals. There is a transformation in agriculture and 

the use of farmland while maintaining the same levels of food per head produced 
today. By 2035, 460,000 hectares of new mixed woodland are planted to remove 
CO2 and deliver wider environmental benefits. 260,000 hectares of farmland shifts to 
producing energy crops. Woodland rises from 13% of UK land today to 15% by 2035 
and 18% by 2050. Peatlands are widely restored and managed sustainably. 

 

Local Authorities and the Sixth Carbon Budget 
 
Within the budget, the Committee detail sector by sector analyses. Their Committee make 
the following comments regarding Local Authorities:  
 
[Extract] 
Local authorities are increasingly ambitious in their plans to tackle climate change. As of 
October 2020, over 300 local authorities had declared climate emergencies, and many are 
now in the process of developing plans to deliver against ambitious Net Zero targets. Local 
authorities have a range of existing levers that can be used to deliver local action that 
reduces emissions and prepares local areas to a changing climate. 
 
However, these levers alone are unlikely to be sufficient to deliver local authorities’ Net Zero 
ambitions, due to gaps in powers, policy and funding barriers, and a lack of capacity and 
skills at a local level. Additionally, without some level of coordination from Government, the 
UK risks pursuing a fragmented strategy towards Net Zero. 
 
Alongside our work on the Sixth Carbon Budget, the Climate Change Committee (CCC) are 
publishing an accompanying report on the role of local authorities in delivering the UK’s Net 
Zero ambition. The report aims to provide a framework for aligning climate action at the local 
level with the CCC’s pathways for the UK, as well as recommendations for local, regional 
and national Governments aiming to remove barriers to delivering local climate action in the 
UK. 
 
Key recommendations: 

 The UK Government and local authorities share a common goal to deliver Net Zero. 
 The Sixth Carbon Budget can only be achieved if Government, regional agencies 

and local authorities work seamlessly together. 
 More than half of the emissions cuts needed rely on people and businesses taking up 

low-carbon solutions – decisions that are made at a local and individual level. Many 
of these decisions depend on having supporting infrastructure and systems in place. 
Local authorities have powers or influence over roughly a third of emissions in their 
local areas. 

177



Bracknell Forest Council – Climate Change strategy 2020-2024 23  
 

 Top-down policies go some way to delivering change, but can achieve a far greater 
impact if they are focused through local knowledge and networks. 

 Four key things are needed to achieve this vision of collaborative delivery: 
 Framework: An agreed framework for delivery for Net Zero incorporating 

local and national climate action 
 Financing: Appropriate long-term financing to support local authorities in 

delivering Net Zero 
 Flexibility: Local operational flexibility around how local areas address 

climate change 
 Facilitation: coherent policy and powers for the facilitation of delivery. 

  

178



Bracknell Forest Council – Climate Change strategy 2020-2024 24  
 

Bracknell Forest: Borough context – the Story of place 
 
Bracknell Forest comprises of both a 1950’s first generation New Town which has seen 
several phases of subsequent growth, along with a number of older villages across a varied 
geographic area. The principal conurbation is Bracknell itself with secondary population 
centres built up around the historic towns and villages of Sandhurst & Crowthorne to the 
south, Binfield, Warfield and Winkfield to the north and North Ascot to the East.  
 
Table 3: Historical population growth – Bracknell Forest Borough 
 

Year  Total 
Population 

Time Period Percentage 
increase 

Net Change 

1951 23,408    

1961  43,192  1951-1961 85% 19,784 

1971 64,135 1961-1971 48% 20,943 

1981 81,225 1971-1981 27% 17,090 

1991 95,949 1981-1991 18% 14,274 

2001 109,617 1991-2001 14% 13,668 

2011 113,205 2001-2011 3% 3,588 

2018* 121,676 2011-2021* 7% 8,471 

 

Population - The population of Bracknell Forest is 121,676 (ONS 2018 estimate*). The 

population is still younger than the national average (a mean of 37.4 compared to 39.3 in 
England) but there is an increasing proportion of older people in 45+ age categories. 
General levels of health are higher within the Borough than nationally across England. 
 

Demographics - The majority (90.8%) are UK Nationals, with the remaining 9% being 

comprised largely of EU Citizens (5.9%), East Asian (0.8%), South Asian (0.8%) and Sub-
Saharan African (0.8%). The most recent census (2011) showed the ethnic breakdown of 
Bracknell Forest is 84% white and 15.1% BAME. There is a sizeable and settled Nepali 
community in Sandhurst connected to the Gurkha regiment at The Royal Military Academy. 
 

Socio Economics - Bracknell Forest is, in relative terms, a wealthy and affluent place to 

live with low levels of deprivation on average across the Borough. Specific pockets of 
deprivation (as measured by the Index of Multiple Deprivation) can be seen in several areas 
primarily centred in the Bracknell New Town area comparative to residents in the more 
affluent northern and southern areas of the Borough. The five most deprived areas in the 
Borough are all contained within Bracknell Town. 
 
Bracknell Forest is one of the least deprived areas of the country (ranked 291 out of 326 
local authorities in England on the Index of Multiple Deprivation 2010). Access to services, 
facilities, employment and open space/recreation is generally good.  
 

Employment - Unemployment rates (3.4%) are lower than in England (4.4%) as a whole 

and the levels of educational/technological qualifications are higher than those nationally. 
The borough has a higher than average number of managers, directors, senior officials and 
professional occupations and a lower than average proportion of elementary occupations 
and machine operators. Furthermore, there are far more jobs associated with information 
and communication than is the trend in England. 
 

Dwellings - The total number of dwellings in the Borough at March 2019 was 50,225. Chart 

5 below shows the types of housing distributed throughout the borough based on 2011 

179

https://www.bracknell-forest.gov.uk/sites/default/files/documents/amr-housing-2018-2019.pdf


Bracknell Forest Council – Climate Change strategy 2020-2024 25  
 

census data. Bracknell Forest has a greater proportion of detached, terraced and 
flats/apartments than is the case nationally. By contrast it has a lower proportion of semi-
detached homes than elsewhere in England. Within this mix the greatest recent growth has 
been seen in flats/apartments. Only 1.2% of all homes had no central heating – much lower 
than the national average of 2.7%.  
 

 
 

Travel and Commuting - Levels of car ownership is high in the borough across three 

main parameters. The number of households with at least one car is 86% (74% in England); 
whilst the number of households with 3 or more vehicles is 11% (7% nationally) and the 
average number of vehicles per household is 1.49 (1.16 in England). Dependence on the car 
is very high. Data from the 2011 census showed that 74.4% of all commuter journeys were 
made by single occupant cars/vans – see chart 6 below.   
 

 
 

Air Quality - Air quality is generally good in Bracknell Forest. However, in 2011, two Air 

Quality Management Areas (AQMAs) were designated in the Borough (a section of the A322 
– Downshire Way, plus the B3348 Crowthorne High Street) and the Council continues to 
monitor and act in these areas in order to improve air quality. Both AQMAs are subject to a 
requirement to provide DEFRA with an annual update report with copies of those reports 
being accessible within the Environmental Health section of the Public Protection 
Partnership’s webpages at  www.publicprotectionpartnership.org.uk  
 

Energy - Domestic energy efficiency is slowly improving in the Borough, but this and the 

provision of renewable energy capacity are possibly not developing at a sufficiently fast rate 

32% 

27% 

21% 

19% 

2% 

Chart 5: Bracknell Forest housing compostion % share 
(2011) 

Terraced Detached Semi-Detached Flat / Appartment Caravan

74.40% 
4.90% 

8.80% 

5.30% 2.40% 2.10% 1.90% 

Chart 6: % share of commuter journeys in BF Borough 
(2011) 

car/van driver car / van passenger walking train bike bus other

180

http://decisionmaking.westberks.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=449&MId=5239&Ver=4
http://www.publicprotectionpartnership.org.uk/


Bracknell Forest Council – Climate Change strategy 2020-2024 26  
 

to fully address the need to reduce CO2 emissions. Energy Performance Certificates (EPCs) 
offer a standard measure of a building’s energy efficiency. An EPC contains a Standard 
Assessment Procedure (SAP) calculated score from 1 to 100+ for the annual energy cost 
based on: 

 The elements of structure 
 The heating and hot water system 
 The internal lighting 
 The renewable technologies used in the home. 

 
The higher the score the lower the running costs, with 100 representing zero energy cost. 
Dwellings with a rating in excess of 100 are net exporters of energy. 
 
Standard Assessment Procedure calculations allow comparisons to be made of the energy 
running costs of dwellings anywhere in the UK. This is achieved because the calculations 
are predominantly location independent and are based upon a notional standard occupancy 
that overcomes variations associated with physical location and the differing ways in which 
people utilise their homes. The number of homes with a Standard Assessment Procedure 
rating of 50 or below (EPC rated E, F or G homes) is around 8% and continues to fall within 
Bracknell Forest. 
 

Forestation / Greening - The Borough has one of the highest percentages of tree cover 

(40%) for any local authority and one of the highest ratios of publicly accessible open space 
to its population, with much of this open space being maintained at a high standard. 12% of 
the borough is within a designated Special Protection Area and there are nine designated 
sites of Specific Scientific Interest.  (See Bracknell Forest Council Tree Strategy and Bio-
diversity Strategy) 
 

Waste and Recycling - Chart 7 below indicates what currently happens to all waste 

collected within the borough. Levels of waste re-use, recycling and composting have 
remained static at around 43% for some time. The council’s planned introduction of kerbside 
food waste collections in the Spring of 2021 should raise this to 50%, with a longer-term 
target of 65% by 2030. (See the Re3 Waste Strategy)  
 

 
 

43% 

8% 

32% 

17% 

Chart 7:Bracknell Forest % waste outputs 
2019/20  

Recycling, Reuse, Composting EfW 'residue' to recycling

EfW (inc MRF Rejects, tyres and paint) Landfill

181

https://www.bracknell-forest.gov.uk/sites/default/files/documents/bfc-tree-strategy.pdf
https://democratic.bracknell-forest.gov.uk/documents/s123645/Biodiversity%20Action%20Plan%202018-2023_Executive%20Committee%20Final%20version.pdf
https://democratic.bracknell-forest.gov.uk/documents/s123645/Biodiversity%20Action%20Plan%202018-2023_Executive%20Committee%20Final%20version.pdf
https://re3.fccenvironment.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2019/03/re3-Strategy-2018-2020.pdf


Bracknell Forest Council – Climate Change strategy 2020-2024 27  
 

Council Plan 2020-2023 
 
[Extract] The Council Plan sets out the key objectives for the period 2019 to 2023 to deliver 
the commitments made to residents in the 2019 local election manifesto. It puts these 
election commitments into the current financial context to provide the organisation with a 
strategic direction and framework to meet the challenges ahead. 
 
To deliver on all our objectives and make sure that Bracknell Forest stays prosperous and 
remains a good place to live, work and play, we have focused our Council Plan on 6 
strategic themes: 

 value for money 
 economic resilience 
 education and skills 
 caring for you and your family 
 protecting and enhancing our environment 
 communities 

 
Each theme is underpinned by a number of annual priorities that take the council towards 
the achievement of the 4-year key objectives. These annual priorities will be included in 
individual Department Service Plans which also contain key performance indicators 
reflecting the priorities and day to day operations. 
 
Progress against the Council Plan will be reported by a quarterly overview report from the 
Chief Executive. At the end of the financial year an annual report will be published 
summarising progress made over the year. 
 

(Protecting and enhancing our environment)  
 
The council’s corporate plan details the work programme that the council has set out to 
ensure the sustainable development of Bracknell Forest. The plan’s overall objective is to 
ensure that the borough remains clean, green and continues to work towards becoming a 
low carbon environment with high rates of recycling. 

Key objectives set in the plan are: 

 protect our highly valued green spaces and strategic green gaps 
 promote recycling and diverting waste from landfill, including introducing food waste 

recycling 
 improve parking in residential areas 
 protect green spaces, the Thames Basin Heaths Special Protection Area and maintain 

strategic gaps between communities 
 enhance facilities and customer experience at Horseshoe Lake and maintain other 

council open spaces 
 address the impact of man-made climate change on our local communities by 

putting in place actions that work towards meeting the government target of 
eradication its net contribution to climate change by 2050 

 promote greater use of public transport and cycleways 

Key performance indicators: 

182

https://www.bracknell-forest.gov.uk/council-and-democracy/strategies-plans-and-policies/council-plan/about-council-plan
https://www.bracknell-forest.gov.uk/council-and-democracy/strategies-plans-and-policies/council-plan/protecting-and-enhancing-our-environment


Bracknell Forest Council – Climate Change strategy 2020-2024 28  
 

The plan has a set of key performance indicators, that allow the council to measure progress 
in delivering the Council Plan ambitions, key objectives and priorities. They are strategic 
indicators that are tracked over the long term and report on regularly, via the Corporate 
Performance Overview Report (CPOR). 

The Plan’s key performance indicators are: 

 satisfaction with parks and open spaces 
 percentage of successful planning appeals 
 percentage of planning applications determined within timescales - Major and Minor 
 percentage of planning applications determined within timescales 
 number of homes given planning permission 
 income from CIL receipts 
 planning permissions granted for net additional dwellings not yet implemented 
 percentage of principal roads where maintenance should be considered 
 percentage of non-principal classified roads where maintenance should be considered 
 percentage of household waste sent for reuse, recycling and composting 
 percentage of municipal waste land filled 
 reduction in customer visits to Time Square 
 reduction in staff travel 
 levels of CO2 emissions directly attributable to the Bracknell Forest Council estate 

 
  
 

 
 
 

  

183



Bracknell Forest Council – Climate Change strategy 2020-2024 29  
 

Strategy development approach – Our path to a new 
Climate Change Strategy 

 

General 
 
Since the publication of the IPCC special report in October 2018, there has been a pressure 
on local government to pass motions declaring a climate emergency, and then set 
themselves targets for being carbon neutral by 2030. To date, 300 of 404 (74%) District, 
County, Unitary & Metropolitan Councils have declared a Climate Emergency (4 of the 6 
Berkshire authorities have made declarations). However, many others have seen this move 
to be counterproductive or meaningless slogan shouting, in order to demonstrate that these 
councils are doing something.  
  
Bracknell Forest Council has been committed to addressing climate change since the 
Nottingham Declaration on climate change in February 2007. Therefore, in the spirit of, 
“deeds not words3”, the council re-stated its commitments towards planning for and 
mitigating man-made climate change via the council Motion (02/2019). In the light of the new 
information from the IPCC, the council undertook a review of its action plan outcomes to-
date and what additional actions it needs to take to ensure that it is carbon neutral by 2050, 
in line with the Climate Change Act (2008).   
 
Various tools and / or models exist which suggest ways by which the council could structure 
its approach to this issue. Both Members and the Corporate Management Team (CMT) are 
committed to having a strong climate change mitigation culture within the organisation. 
However, lessons learnt from the last phases of the work have also highlighted the 
importance of any proposed actions being quantifiable / measurable and from an established 
benchmark start position. 
 
The Bracknell Forest Council, Motion (02/2019) passed at Full Council, acknowledges this 
learning and states:   
 
 “This Council strongly believes in the need to continue its work to address the impact of 
man-made Climate Change on our local communities. To this end, this Council asks the 
Executive to develop detailed action plans with measurable ambitious annual targets and an 
annual report to address this pressing matter to ensure that the Council meets the 
government target of eradicating its net contribution to climate change by 2050” 
 

Bracknell Forest Council baseline 
 
To this end, to help establish the council’s carbon footprint baseline figures, the Association 
for Public Service Excellence (APSE) was engaged. APSE had already assisted several 
other UK local authorities with this work and their methodology follows the principles of the 
Greenhouse Gas (GHG) Protocol and the carbon conversion factors that they use are taken 
from the BEIS GHG Conversion Reporting publication. This allows a consistent approach to 
comparing emissions and using recognised techniques for future reporting. The data that 
APSE was asked to report on represented greenhouse gas emissions from the 2019 
calendar year with the carbon footprint being categorised across two scopes: 
 

                                                           
3
 Emmeline Pankhurst founder of the Women’s Social and Political Union (WSPU) coined the phrase 

184

https://www.climateemergency.uk/blog/list-of-councils/
https://www.apse.org.uk/apse/index.cfm/about/who-we-are/
https://www.apse.org.uk/apse/index.cfm/about/who-we-are/


Bracknell Forest Council – Climate Change strategy 2020-2024 30  
 

Scope 1 (direct) - emissions are from activities owned or controlled by the 
Council. Examples of Scope 1 emissions include emissions from combustion 
in owned or controlled boilers, furnaces and vehicles. 
 
Scope 2 (indirect) emissions are associated with purchased electricity. These 
indirect emissions are a consequence of energy use but, occur at sources that 
the Council do not own or control. 

 
 
The headline findings (Appendix 2) were that the council was directly responsible for the 
output of 6,288 tonnes CO2e (carbon dioxide equivalent). 3,427 t were generated by 
purchase of electricity (scope 2); 2,808 t were generated through the combustion of natural 
gas (scope 1); and 52 t were generated via emissions from council owned/leased fleet 
vehicles (scope 1). Roughly 25% of all our electricity outputs comes from the streetlighting 
infrastructure, 100% of which has already been converted to LED lanterns. At the time of the 
report the council was responsible for approximately 90 electric and 73 gas meters across its 
entire estate. Schools feature heavily in the top 5 emitters of both gas and electric, with Time 
Square (electric) and the Easthampstead Park Cemetery and Crematorium (gas) also 
featuring.  
 

COVID 19 impact (Residents' Survey Results 2020) - BFC Community Impact 
assessment 
 
In terms of the impact of Lockdown one on Bracknell Forest, the Council undertook a 
community impact assessment. This report was considered by the Council’s Executive in 
October 2020. 
 
This research was conducted via a telephone survey of 1,826 residents living in Bracknell 
Forest (at least 100 in each of the 18 wards in the Local Authority area). The survey took 
place between the 14th July and 31st July 2020. 
 
When questioned on resident’s views on travel and the environment in the future, the 
majority of residents believe that Covid-19 is a chance for people to be more environmentally 
friendly and that this is an opportunity for Bracknell Forest to accelerate its plans to become 
Carbon Neutral by 2050 
 

 75% of residents said they agree that Covid-19 is a chance for people to be more 
environmentally friendly and 73% agreed that this is an opportunity for Bracknell 
Forest to accelerate its plans to become Carbon Neutral by 2050. 

 67% agreed that they are more likely to walk or cycle and 62% agreed they are more 
likely to use local parks and open spaces. 

 26% agreed they are less likely to drive, while 53% disagreed. However, it is worth 
noting that 41% of residents have already been driving less as shown in the following 
subsection. 

 Just 13% said they are more likely to use public transport, whereas 66% disagreed. 

 
  

185

http://democraticintranet.bracknell-forest.gov.uk/documents/g9558/Public%20reports%20pack%20Tuesday%2020-Oct-2020%2017.00%20Executive.pdf?T=10
http://democraticintranet.bracknell-forest.gov.uk/documents/g9558/Public%20reports%20pack%20Tuesday%2020-Oct-2020%2017.00%20Executive.pdf?T=10


Bracknell Forest Council – Climate Change strategy 2020-2024 31  
 

Figure 5.1: The views of residents about travel and the environment in the 
future 

 
Numbers in brackets are the number of respondents to each statement. Question: Do you agree or 
disagree with the following statements about travel and the environment in the future, due to your 
experience of Covid-19? 
 

The following demographic groups are less likely to agree with the mentioned statements: 

 Men: 62% are more likely to walk or cycle compared with 72% of women. 

 Residents aged 35 and above: 70% of residents aged 35-54 and 73% of those 
aged 55 and above are likely to agree that Covid-19 is a chance for people to be 
more environmentally friendly compared with 87% of residents aged 18-34. 

 White British or Irish residents: 10% are more likely to use public transport 
compared with 22% of Non-White British or Irish residents. 

 Disabled residents: 52% are more likely to walk or cycle compared with 71% of 
non-disabled residents. 

 

In terms of changes residents made to reduce carbon footprint, most residents made 
changes to reduce their carbon footprint during the pandemic 
 

 Two-fifths of residents said they drive less (41%) and a quarter said they walk or 
cycle more (24%). 28% said they have not made any changes to reduce their carbon 
footprint.  

 Younger residents are more likely than older residents to walk or cycle more. For 
example, 37% of residents aged 18-34 walk or cycle more compared with 13% of 
residents aged 55 and over. 

186



Bracknell Forest Council – Climate Change strategy 2020-2024 32  
 

 49% of residents who look after family members, friends, neighbours or others for 35-
49 hours a week said they have not made any changes to reduce their carbon 
footprint, compared with 28% of residents overall. 

 12% of disabled residents walk or cycle more, compared with 26% of non-disabled 
residents. 

 29% of residents in social housing and 25% of those who rent from a private landlord 
said they drive less. 

 

Figure 5.2: Changes made to reduce carbon footprint 

 
Number of respondents: 1824. 

Question: What, if any, changes have you made to reduce your carbon footprint during the 
pandemic? 
Note: Respondents could select more than one answer. 
 
In terms of attitude to continuing with changes made to reduce carbon footprint, about two-
fifths of residents who have made changes to reduce their carbon footprint during Lockdown 
one, will maintain these 
 

 two-fifths of residents who have made changes to reduce their carbon footprint said 
they will continue to drive less (45%) and two-fifths said they will continue to walk or 
cycle more (39%). 15% said they will continue to travel less in general.  

 

  

187



Bracknell Forest Council – Climate Change strategy 2020-2024 33  
 

Figure 5.3: Continuing with changes made to reduce carbon footprint 

 
Number of respondents: 1080 (excludes those that have not made any changes to reduce their 
carbon footprint). 

Question: Of the change(s) you mentioned, which ones will you continue with? 
Note: Respondents could select more than one answer. 

 

Overview and Scrutiny Commission’s engagement with climate change 
 
Following the 5 November 2019 Overview and Scrutiny Commission meeting, in setting the  
Overview and Scrutiny work programme for 2019 – 2023, the Commission took unto itself 
the role of being the Scrutiny panel for Climate Change. Under this remit, the Commission 
has held two scrutiny panel meetings to support the development of the strategy and 
commissioned a “climate change marketplace”, so that all Members could familiarise 
themselves with the live projects that the council was undertaking and to speak directly to 
the departmental leads for the 2013-2019 action plan items. 
 

The Commission’s climate change marketplace - 10th March 2020 
 
Overview and Scrutiny Commission’s “climate change marketplace” event took place on 10th 
March 2020. The event provided both an insight into the scope and breadth of the current 
projects addressing climate change within the organisation but, also acted as a springboard 
for the Overview and Scrutiny Commission to consider the council’s activities in the round, 
before themselves generating topic headings which they would like the council to pursue.   
 
The marketplace allowed three new strategic initiatives to be showcased as part of the 
projects roster.  These being the “Greening our waste”, “Vehicle idling enforcement” and 
“Greening our utilities”.  These are the key new initiatives for the 2019/20 performance year.  
 

188

https://democratic.bracknell-forest.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=151&MId=9479&Ver=4
https://democratic.bracknell-forest.gov.uk/documents/s142142/09%20-%20Work%20Programme%20report.pdf
https://democratic.bracknell-forest.gov.uk/documents/s142143/10%20-%20Appendix%20A%20Panel%20priorities.pdf
https://www.bracknell-forest.gov.uk/bins-and-recycling/food-waste-collection


Bracknell Forest Council – Climate Change strategy 2020-2024 34  
 

By including within the marketplace event, the “Greening our waste” project, the Waste team 
were able to highlight the climate change benefits associated with the introduction of food 
waste collections, and more importantly from a climate change perspective, why reducing 
the residual waste collections is an important part of the programme. This is an important 
project, as it demonstrates clearly the council’s approach, in that it meets the council’s 
strategic direction, reduces the cost of the service and addresses climate change, by 
maximising the environmental benefit.  
 
The council’s Energy Manager presented a number of options for reducing our utilities costs, 
within projects like procurement / re-procurement of a new water and waste water contract, 
centralising energy controls, etc., thereby reducing the cost of the council’s utilities and 
reducing the carbon generated in the process on the council’s carbon account.    
 
There is also an opportunity for the council to consider purchasing a Renewable Energies 
Guarantee of Origin (REGO) certificate from its current energy provider (EDF). In so doing 
EDF would guarantee that all energy purchased by BFC would be certified as coming from 
renewable energy sources, thereby reducing the council’s net carbon footprint from 
electricity to zero. This hasn’t been pursued at this stage as this would just be an additional 
cost to the council, for an environmental badge which in reality wouldn’t see a measurable 
reduction in CO2 emissions in the borough.  

 
The Public Protection Partnership, were able to highlight to Members their role in pollution 
control and air monitoring, having already presented a report to the Licensing and Safety 
Committee on “How Licensing could reduce air pollution”. As a result of this report, the 
Licensing and Safety Committee agreed to adopt the powers available to the Council under 
the Road Traffic (Vehicle Emissions) (Fixed Penalty) Regulations of 2002. These regulations 
granted powers to selected officers within the Council to issue fixed penalty notices to 
address drivers (including Taxis) who idle their engines in Air Quality Management Areas 
and around sensitive locations, like schools.  
 
Feedback from staff and Members was very good and the case was made that doing 
something similar for the community would be a great opportunity to share the council’s 
success so far under the current plan. Unfortunately, due to the COVID 19 pandemic, this 
action was put on hold. 
 

Overview and Scrutiny Commission agenda - 10 March 2020 
 
Following on from the marketplace event, the Commission held its meeting as a workshop 
on Climate Change. The marketplace event acted as a Member training event, to enable 
them to engage effectively with the workshop and to ensure that they didn’t have to “reinvent 
the wheel”, in terms of ideas and points to take forward into the strategy. 
 
The workshop had two objectives: 
 

 Contribute to the development of the new Strategy 

 Provide focus for a review of the community response  
(Community Risk Register) item 

 
Subsequent to a presentation and having had an evidence pack containing an Officer report 
from the Executive Director: Delivery (lead for climate change) and a variety of background 
reports from other local authorities, local climate change conference outputs and national 
policy reports, the Commission undertook a workshop style review. This workshop discussed 
these written submissions and the Member’s own ideas in two groups. A number of 

189

https://democratic.bracknell-forest.gov.uk/mgCommitteeDetails.aspx?ID=148
https://democratic.bracknell-forest.gov.uk/mgCommitteeDetails.aspx?ID=148
https://democratic.bracknell-forest.gov.uk/documents/s140733/7.%20How%20Licensing%20reduce%20air%20pollution.pdf
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2002/1808/contents/made
https://democratic.bracknell-forest.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=151&MId=9494&Ver=4
http://thamesvalleylrf.org.uk/_assets/risk%20register/tvlrf%20risk%20register%20oct%202016.pdf
http://democraticintranet.bracknell-forest.gov.uk/documents/g9494/Public%20reports%20pack%20Tuesday%2010-Mar-2020%2019.30%20Overview%20and%20Scrutiny%20Commission.pdf?T=10


Bracknell Forest Council – Climate Change strategy 2020-2024 35  
 

members of the public, representing local climate change campaigning groups attended the 
meeting and the Chairman (the Vice Chairman was chairing the meeting) invited these 
attendees to participate in the workshops as full members.  
 
The main talking points from the Commission’s review of these inputs and their own 
discussions are summarised below: 
 

Group A Group B 

What is important to the Bracknell Forest residents? 

Reduce air pollution 
 
Create more green spaces and protect 
them better 
 
Planning 
 
Recycling 
 
Procurement 
 

Saving money and impact on environment, 
more broadly reducing waste  
  
Parents are concerned about their 
children’s ‘future’ and have a desire 
to protect them and do what is necessary to 
do so.  
  
Travel  

What community actions and initiatives could the council encourage? 

Marketing 
 
Education 
 
Reward systems 
 

Saving money and impact on environment, 
more broadly reducing waste  
  
Warm homes and energy bill minimisation  
  
Protecting children’s futures  
  
Other ideas suggested:  

 Use the Invest to save scheme  
 Generate energy ourselves  
 Install water fountains in the 

Borough  

 
Following on from this session, a number of additional written submissions were made 
directly to the strategy review team, by representatives of the community groups who 
attended this session. These were considered along with the other ideas generated in the 
workshop.   
 

Overview and Scrutiny Commission agenda – 4 December 2020 
 
This meeting took place over Zoom and was streamed live to YouTube. This enabled a 
larger number of people to see the Commission’s review and also participate via the chat 
function on YouTube. 
 
The Commission’s scrutiny of the draft strategy, also considered expert and community 
input, with presentations from: 
  
Professor Nigel Arnell (Meteorology Department. University of Reading) who addressed the 
committee on the scientific evidence and effects of climate change.  
 
Professor Tim Dixon (Chair of Sustainable Futures - University of Reading) and co-chair of 
the Reading Climate Change Partnership board (ReadingCAN) who addressed the 

190

https://democratic.bracknell-forest.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=151&MId=9500
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=8Ht9711zCTE&feature=youtu.be
http://www.reading.ac.uk/climate-justice/ltcj-autobiog.aspx
https://www.reading.ac.uk/en/cme/staff/professor-tim-dixon
https://readingcan.org.uk/


Bracknell Forest Council – Climate Change strategy 2020-2024 36  
 

committee on the critical success factors for climate change strategies and updated the 
committee on the Reading Climate Change Partnership, a community leadership group for 
the borough. 
 
Rebecca Murphy representing Campaign To Protect Rural England (CPRE) Berkshire, who 
addressed the committee on protection of the Green Belt and pointed the committee to the 
All Party Parliamentary Group for London’s Green Belt’s report, “A positive vision for 
London’s Green Belt”. 
 
Kathryn O’Neal representing Bracknell Climate Change Action Group and represented 
Extinction Rebellion (XR) Bracknell (in the 10th March 2020 meeting), who addressed the 
committee on “how can Bracknell become a home to thriving people, in a thriving place, 
while respecting the wellbeing of all people and the health of the whole planet”.   
 
The Commission also undertook a number of fact-finding exercises, which were reported 
back to the meeting. The Commission’s Climate Change Review Group focused on three 
areas: –  
 

 reducing emissions in the community and improving air quality for all   

 improving biodiversity in the borough  

 engaging young people and facilitating their voices in setting our community 
  
The group’s report back to the Commission was split into two areas: Transport and 
the Environment.  
 
Finally, the Commission also called the Executive Members for the Environment and for 
Planning and Transport to give evidence to the meeting, with a focus on reflecting on and 
commenting on the points presented at the meeting, as the owners of the council’s climate 
change strategy.  
 

Summary of Commission’s work to date 
 
The Commission has now held around 6 hours of public meetings, and considered over 200 
pages of written evidence, plus reviewed 76 projects on the climate change work that the 
council has either undertaken or has been proposing to take forward. This being on top of 
private meetings and individual investigations and reviews. Public and private discussions 
have been had with a number of stakeholders and their views have been sought and 
presented. 
 
The output from these two meetings and the considerable internal and external consultation 
has now been fed into the strategy. All suggested project areas or initiatives have been 
matched against the roster of current projects or have been added to the list of proposed 
projects that will be taken forward to a feasibility stage. 
 
The Commission has agreed to continue this work, with a new objective for the Climate 
Change Review Group agreed at the 4th December 2020 meeting. In this meeting, the 
Commission agreeing to update its work programme and commission a review on “Climate 
Change Review – harnessing a community call for action”. 
 
  

191

https://www.cpre.org.uk/groups/berkshire/?gclid=CjwKCAiAn7L-BRBbEiwAl9UtkOLvSCosAmReF4TgaIFF6d4lMYk10GtgqCRDM1zadxuCjOXVp6fVCxoChEsQAvD_BwE
https://www.cpre.org.uk/resources/a-positive-vision-for-londons-green-belt/
https://www.cpre.org.uk/resources/a-positive-vision-for-londons-green-belt/
https://rebellion.global/groups/gb-bracknell/
http://democraticintranet.bracknell-forest.gov.uk/documents/s155912/Climate%20Change%20-%20Draft%20scope.pdf
http://democraticintranet.bracknell-forest.gov.uk/documents/s155912/Climate%20Change%20-%20Draft%20scope.pdf


Bracknell Forest Council – Climate Change strategy 2020-2024 37  
 

Bracknell Forest Council 
Climate Change Strategy (2020- 2024) 

 

Climate change strategy - General 
 
Bracknell Forest Council recognises that this strategy will rely on the engagement and 
support of our residents, communities, local town/parish councils, local action groups and 
local businesses. Such partners will not only help us to deliver but will take the responsibility 
for achieving targets to help close the greenhouse gas emissions gap we are all facing up to. 
 
The Council is therefore committed both to actions to reduce carbon emissions that are 
under the council’s control and actions to influence and lead community action against 
climate change. As such we have simplified our intended approach and identified four 
principles we will use, through which we will achieve our objective. The Bracknell Forest 
Council Climate Change Strategy is summarised in the graphic below. 

 

 
 
Effectively tackling man-made climate change can only be achieve through having a clear 
strategy. Having a clear focus ensures that our work has clear, achievable and measurable 
outcomes that reduce CO2 in the borough. This is important, as there are many things that 
could be done and are beneficial in their own rights to the local environment, but Bracknell 
Forest Council has a singular focus on bringing the emissions in the borough down through 
this strategy. There are many other plans and corporate strategies within which other 
objectives are achieved and these are best dealt with and measured there. What we won’t 
do is have our climate change strategy be all things to all people; it must be the hard edge to 
achieve its objective. So, in line with the best business principles, our strategy not only 
states what we will do; it defines our area of focus. So, it is clear what we will and won’t do in 
pursuit of our goal and gives a framework within which to focus our endeavours.  
  

192



Bracknell Forest Council – Climate Change strategy 2020-2024 38  
 

 

Climate change strategy - Strategic approach and focus 
 
Our strategy brings together our management strategy, set in the council’s corporate plan 
and our climate change mitigation, revised and refined goals. Our climate change strategy 
therefore has a focus on building upon the distinctive competences of the borough council, 
Town and Parish councils, the local private sector businesses, and the community itself to 
deliver. We must work to ensure the decisions we all make, have at their core, the best use 
of resources, building a more equal society through addressing inequalities, addressing 
public health across the whole life course, and addressing the need to reverse man-made 
climate change. This is therefore the objective of the strategy. 

Climate change strategy – Implementation approach 

The council’s climate change strategy is a strategic framework, underpinned by annual 
action plans that are refreshed each year.  

Our Objective 

This Council strongly believes in the need to continue its work to address the impact 
of man-made Climate Change on our local communities. To this end, this Council 

asks the Executive to develop detailed action plans with measurable ambitious annual 
targets and an annual report to address this pressing matter to ensure that the 

Council meets the government target of eradicating its net contribution to climate 
change by 2050 

We will achieve this through 4 strategic principles: 

Working with partners 
Preserving the climate beneficial elements of the COVID-19 

pandemic 
Working with schools and young people 

Preserving the natural environment sustainably in line with the 
Bracknell Forest plans 

 

Action plan 
Our action plan has 2 main strands: 

Reduce carbon emissions that are under the council’s control 
Influence and lead community action against climate change 

 
The ambition for the new action plan is twofold. We want to capture current climate change 
projects and align each to a strand of our climate change strategy. In order to ensure that 
projects can be monitored effectively and given corporate profile, these will be grouped by 
Executive Member’s portfolio, and then directorate / section. Each project will have a clearly 
identified lead Officer who will take responsibility for the delivery and reporting on the project. 
 
  

193



Bracknell Forest Council – Climate Change strategy 2020-2024 39  
 

The Action Plan projects master sheet is attached as appendix 3 to this strategy document. 
The table below explains the various headers we have now introduced moving forwards: 
 

Column headings Description 

Name of Project Project name 

Description of Project Brief description of project scope 

Who the work primarily 
benefits 

Will the work benefit the council’s own emissions, the 
borough as a whole or a combination of both 

Which pillar of the strategy 
the project supports 

Either: working with partners; working with schools and 
young people; preserving climate beneficial elements of 
COVID19; managing the natural environment sustainably in 
line with policies within the local plan  

Other linked strategies, 
plans or policies  

Other strategies, plans or policies to which the project is 
directly linked 

Lead directorate / service 
area 

Indicates which section of the council manages the project 

Lead Officer / Executive 
Member Portfolio  

Indicates which Officer manages the project updates and 
which Executive Member oversees the project 

Key means of 
measurement 

Describes how progress plans to be measured (units / 
number of measurement)  

Benchmark / start point Indicates the start date (and level) from which progress is to 
be measured 

Target /ambition Indicates a target (improvement) to achieve 

Target date Indicates the target date 

Indicative project costs The indicative Officer hours expended on the project and any 
direct costs 

 
The projects list will remain a live document. The project database at the launch of the 
strategy holds 41 projects, covering the breadth of council directorates. 5 of these projects 
reflect emissions that BFC has direct control over; 18 of these projects reflect emissions that 
the council can influence within the borough; and 18 of these projects are a combination of 
both of the above. 
 
Officers responsible for each project / set of projects will be asked to provide quarterly 
updates utilising a standard template. These updates will be reflected within the action plan 
projects database and will form the basis for an annual progress report on climate change to 
Council. 
 

Climate change strategy - Action plan Measures / targets  
 
We recognise that as we transition current projects to the new strategy, not all projects in the 
action plan database have measures / targets that tie back to a standard measure that links 
back to greenhouse gas emissions. This is a developing piece of work, but subject to 
available staffing resources our longer-term aim will be to convert these targets / 
measurables back to tonnes of co2 equivalent for ease of comparison purposes.   
 
However, it is now important to provide a greater understanding of a start point (benchmark) 
to refer back to and a more targeted means by which we can more easily measure progress 
made (in line with the council motion 02/2019, which requires the action plan to have, 
“measurable ambitious annual targets”). 
  

194



Bracknell Forest Council – Climate Change strategy 2020-2024 40  
 

 

Current Bracknell Forest Council direct emissions profile: 
 
Scope 1 & 2 BFC emissions for the 2019 calendar year are shown below. Scope 1 (direct) 
emissions are from activities owned or controlled by the Council. Examples of Scope 1 
emissions include emissions from combustion in owned or controlled boilers, furnaces and 
vehicles. Scope 2 (indirect) emissions are associated with purchased electricity, heat, steam 
and cooling. These indirect emissions are a consequence of energy use but occur at 
sources that the Council does not own or control.  
 
As table 2 below shows BFC’s scope 1 & 2 outputs were 6,388T Co2e. That represents 
around 1.5% of total emissions within the borough. 
  

Table 2: Scope 1 and 2 direct emissions – Bracknell Forest Council (2019) 
 

Emissions Source  Scope % Split TonnesCO2e 

Natural Gas  1 45% 2,808 

Council Vehicles  1 1% 52 

Electricity  2 55% 3,427 

TOTALS  100% 6,288 

 
 

Current Bracknell Forest Borough area emissions profile: 
 
The total greenhouse gas emissions within the borough are 443 kt CO2e (based on 2018 the 
department for Business, Energy and Industrial Strategy local emissions data). 

 

 
 

The chart above represents estimated greenhouse gas emissions for the borough based on 
2018 estimates. The data is updated 2 years behind the current year.  

 
  

-100.0

-

100.0

200.0

300.0

400.0

500.0

600.0

700.0

800.0

kt
C

O
2

e 

Year 

BEIS estimates: CO2 emissions from Bracknell Forest 
Borough  2005-2018 (kt CO2e) 

Industry & Commerce

Domestic

Transport

LULUCF net emissions

Grand Totals

195



Bracknell Forest Council – Climate Change strategy 2020-2024 41  
 

Strategy Conclusions - Reaching carbon net-zero by 2050   
 

Bracknell Forest Council has been committed to addressing climate change since the 
Nottingham Declaration on climate change in February 2007. This strategy is the third 
refresh of this work, with the council motion being the latest and most definitive public 
declaration on this important agenda.  
 
Although various tools and / or models exist for addressing climate change, the council has 
chosen to have this strategy with this supporting action plan. Strategies are choices, choices 
that set priorities and focus activity. Without these priorities, change doesn’t happen.  Within 
these priorities and areas of focus, the strategy and the action plan are designed to change 
and adapt to new thinking and new opportunities that will present themselves over the life-
cycle of the strategy. 
 
There is a strong commitment from the council to this agenda and this has been put into the 
DNA of all our work. So that our commitment is clear to our partners, stakeholders and the 
community at large, our strategy has been drafted to pull together a snapshot of the detailed 
and comprehensive work that we have been undertaking over the last decade. This strategy 
document also provides a snapshot of the key council “place” data and baselines. It 
highlights the context that the strategy must operate within. It reflects the voice of our local 
citizens, our Bracknell Forest communities and Bracknell Forest Council elected Members. It 
demonstrates that the council’s key decision makers have heard as many voices as possible 
in setting out its next steps, having instilled a strong climate change mitigation culture within 
the organisation. That said, this is the start of a conversation and not the end of one. 
 
We continue to be a learning organisation, and our stated corporate values are: 
 

Forward thinking and focus. We are forward thinking. ... 
Open-minded. We are open-minded. ... 
Resourceful. We are resourceful. ... 
Working together. We work together as one council with partners and customers. 
Adaptable. We are adaptable. ... 
Resilient. We are resilient in our response to challenging circumstances. 
Determined 

 
We deliver our work, through our values and are a learning organisation. Through our 
Scrutiny function, in public, we have shared our successes and used this Member process to 
identify improvements for this next action plan. A plan that has now taken on board the need 
to be clear as to what success looks like, how it is measured and how we know that we are 
having an impact. So, this strategy sets out clearly quantifiable and measurable targets. It 
also publishes the baselines that we are working from, in order to ensure that our 2050 
target of net zero, is achieved in line with the Climate Change Act (2008). 
 
Under the council’s priority action areas, projects are being developed and implemented. 
The key to success is to undertake an action, review its effect on the baseline, and then 
either move to a new priority or try something else. Only by taking on bold and innovative 
projects will we, as the council, enable our communities, to achieve their goals.   
  

196



Bracknell Forest Council – Climate Change strategy 2020-2024 42  
 

 

Priority actions   

Local production of renewable energy Westmoreland Park Solar photovoltaic 
(PV) and EV charging - 48 Solar panels 
installed on pavilion building plus a twin 
22kW EV charge point in the car park. 
Plus looking for testing of alternative 
“green” financing. 

Domestic eco-heating initiatives Warm Homes Grant up to £2.8M 
(converting Bracknell Forest homes to 
gas supplied heating). To provide 
grants/funds for energy efficiency and/or 
renewable energy at home 

Increasing levels of waste re-use / 
recycling and composting by 
implementing a food waste collection and 
minimising waste going to landfill 

Greening our waste project - We 
already recycle 43% of all waste but we 
know with food waste collection that could 
go up to around 50% by 2021 and 65% by 
2030. 
We currently landfill 7,800 tonnes a year. 
Through food waste recycling we aim to 
reduce that by 50%. 

Increase the number of electric vehicle 
(EV) charging points available 

Pan-Berkshire EV project – We will be 
working with the other 6 Berkshire 
authorities to implement a comprehensive 
and strategic EV charging infrastructure 
ready for the end of new sales of petrol 
and diesel cars in the UK by 2030 

Address the high number of people 
commuting to work by car 
 
 
 
 

Increase the use of sustainable modes 
of transport in targeted areas - Get 
more people in residential and business 
areas walking and cycling or using public 
transport, particularly where census or 
public health data suggests uptake is low 
but could be higher. Local Cycling and 
Walking Infrastructure Plans and 
Emergency Active Travel Fund Measures, 
plus our continued work with the Bracknell 
BID to promote and increase sustainable 
modes of travel in Business Areas are all 
examples of our plans in action 

Increase the number of people 
commuting by non-car means 

 
Above are just a few highlights from the initial 41 projects, covering the breadth of council 
directorates, that are working towards reducing CO2 in the borough and therefore 
addressing man-made climate change.   
 
These initial projects are things that we have committed to and have the corporate backing 
to make them happen. They are all things that will have climate change impacts. However, 
they are not the only things we are doing, as every decision that the council now makes, 
takes into account, the financial costs of the endeavour, the impact on the communities of 
the borough (equalities), the impact on public health (across the whole life course) and the 
impact on our objective to address man-made climate change by being net zero by 2050. 
 
  

197



Bracknell Forest Council – Climate Change strategy 2020-2024 43  
 

Bracknell Forest Council is successful because we do what is right and what is practical. 
When asked, why is Bracknell Forest Council approaching this objective in this way, it is 
simple,  

“because we are Bracknell Forest”.   

198



Bracknell Forest Council – Climate Change strategy 2020-2024 44  
 

End note 
 

Addressing the challenges of climate change is a key priority for the council. The main 
challenge is bringing together the different views, approaches and potential solutions. In 
picking one option over another, the current false, “us versus them” narrative, can all too 
easily have us miss the point of the work. There is a danger of “letting the prefect be the 
enemy of the good”. Richard Benyon MP (Newbury 2019) stated at the West Berkshire 
Climate Change Conference that, “…this agenda has a “Hopey/changey” 60’s vibe, but this 
is necessary if you are to tackle huge change. In thinking big, people must believe that 
change is possible, and everyone has a role in this, from parliament down on the political 
side, to every community and community group”.  
 
Yet, within the climate change narrative, some communities aren’t represented in either 
campaigning groups, or community action groups. Unless all communities, regardless of 
social-economic group, community affinity or employment status, are part of the discussion, 
we would have failed. Local authorities, with their Public Sector Equalities Duty, under the 
Equalities Act (2010) are key to bringing hidden groups into this work and ensuring that 
everyone has an equal voice in the decisions we take.    
 
Climate action is as much about biodiversity and the natural environment, as it is to do with 
emissions. All communities need to work to protect the environment in order to harness and 
manage the “nature capital”, which has social value, on top of practical aspects like flood 
protection. 
 

The need for adaptive change 
 
That said, Tom Heap, Countryfile presenter, remarked at the same conference that   
 “…our current industrial society is built on fire / the burning of fossil fuels and this needs to 
be “snuffed out”. That is why it is a wicked problem”.   
 
He went on to say; “…are we ready to radically change our lifestyles? The answer is mostly 
no. People understand the issues but only government changes are really effective in large 
scale adaptive change”. However, the COVID 19 Pandemic has shown that when 
communities understand the issues, they will take radical action and Bracknell Forest 
Council’s climate change strategy is focused on making this happen. 
 
What is driving our climate changing behaviour?  
 
Positive outcomes 
 

 UK. Co2 emissions today are lower due to using less coal (the great Satan). But as 
there is less manufacturing in the UK, are we just exporting the Co2 emissions to 
producing countries? We must continue the journey. 

 Renewable energy – now a major part of the energy use mix. There are now full 
days, when the UK is powered using only renewables.  

 Car emissions & engineering – combustion engines are getting cleaner and there is a 
move toward zero emission vehicles. This work is going well.   

 
Failures 
 

 Cars emissions – while each vehicle has gotten cleaner, fashion has changed the 
types of vehicles being purchased. With more SUVs and more powerful cars taking a 

199

https://www.getreading.co.uk/news/reading-berkshire-news/bbc-presenter-reveals-how-west-17165011


Bracknell Forest Council – Climate Change strategy 2020-2024 45  
 

large segment of the market. EV vehicles are having a perverse effect, as the cost 
per mile drops, people have more money and therefore are driving more (consuming 
more energy).  

 Fast fashion – low cost, high turnover of clothes and other fashion items mean that 
more materials are being consumed and the waste is having to be dealt with. 

 Food, food waste – although less BOGOFs, waste from food is increasing.  

 Energy use increases in more affluent homes. 
 
things that have worked haven’t required individuals to change, the systems that they 
have used have changed (structural change and not individual change) 

 
Tom Heap made the case that it is difficult “to give up stuff”. Simply stating that people need 
to give up something that they like, hasn’t worked. Therefore, turning up the volume on this 
(protest groups) won’t have an effect, and more adaptive/ behavioural change is required.   
 
In real time you can see the use of energy across the UK at carbonintensity.org.uk. This now 
allows everyone to have real time information on energy generation in their areas and the 
mix used. 
 
November 2019         December 2020  

 
 
There needs to be a new definition of a “good life”, away from having stuff and consumption. 
The current measure of UK success is GDP and a good life needs not to be based on GDP.  
 

Future Mobility and Air Quality  
 
[extract from conference speech by Giles Perkin] 
 
Department of Transport - Future of Mobility: Urban Strategy has a number of strands. 
However, at the heart of these is “Data and connectivity”. There is an opportunity to change 
how people use cars as 90% of vehicles are now leased. Rural transportation remains a big 
issue, although on-demand buses and other data driven shared options are now possible.  
These now just need to be planned, rather than invented.  
 
Zap Map, now allows Electric Vehicles (EV) owners to see where charging points are and 
more importantly, which ones are free in real time. That said, the Government provides 
financial support for EV buyers to install a charge point at their home through the Electric 
Vehicle Homecharge Scheme (EVHS), which covers up to 75% of the total costs.  The grant 
brings the cost of a standard 3 kW unit plus installation to around £300 whilst a faster 7 kW 
unit would be in the region of £400. 
 

200

https://carbonintensity.org.uk/
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/786654/future-of-mobility-strategy.pdf
https://www.zap-map.com/live/
https://www.zap-map.com/charge-points/charging-home/#EVHS
https://www.zap-map.com/charge-points/charging-home/#EVHS


Bracknell Forest Council – Climate Change strategy 2020-2024 46  
 

 
 

The role of the Local Authority 
 
[Extract from presentation by Steve Cirell - Association for Public Service Excellence (APSE) 
- APSE Energy] 
 
APSE Energy was established to promote the vision of the municipalisation of energy and a 
greater role for the local authority in the energy agenda within their area. The 
municipalisation of energy is an approach available to local authorities to contribute to 
tackling climate change, as well as many other outcomes. They produced a report titled 
“Local authority climate emergency declarations”. 
 
An emergency declaration deserves the appropriate response for an emergency. If your 
house is on fire you can safely call it an emergency. There is an immediate reaction, 
substantial resources are employed to put the fire out and there is insurance in place to 
cover the losses that occur from such an event. The local authority is in a different 
position as it cannot drop everything to tackle climate change. It has other legal 
duties and responsibilities to fulfil. So, the meaning of emergency, in the local 
government context, is different in terms of the pace of action. Action plans should: 
 

1.  Recognise its importance - that it will impact on demand and supply of services so it 
must be given a high profile.  

2.  Allocate Finance – all problems require resources and that includes financial 
resources. The local authority needs to find funds to tackle climate change. This could 
be internally or externally sourced. 

3.  Training – it is vital that those who carry out the Council’s services (the van drivers, 
those advising benefit claimants to switch energy suppliers, the person operating 
heating systems) understand the context they are working in and the potential impact 
they might have. This means putting a training plan in place.  

4.  Engagement – local authorities are able to bring public and private sector bodies 
together to act as a group.   

5.   Advocacy – as the only democratically elected organisation in the area the Council has 
a duty to take a lead on matters as serious as climate change. 

 

201

https://www.apse.org.uk/apse/assets/File/Summary%20Climate%20Emergency%20Doc%20Online(1).pdf


Bracknell Forest Council – Climate Change strategy 2020-2024 47  
 

In any Motion, the focus should be both the council itself, and a commitment to the whole 
authority area. Councils generally only contribute about 1% of an areas carbon.  
 
So, how should councils address their climate change declarations?  
 

 Need to create the baseline  

 Establish the Data (sources, how measured, etc.) 

 Establish What’s in and out of scope  

 Monitoring arrangements for the next 10-12 years 

 Communications strategy 

 How you will report on progress 

 Funding  
 
The three places where a local authority can have an impact are: 

 Its own estate 

 In its community leadership role 

 Its management of “place” 
 
In terms of energy management, generation is ok as a strategy but transport is the big area 
to have an impact upon. 
 
Energy reduction strategies should:  
 
1. Use less (cost nothing) 
2. Be energy efficient (cost something) 
3. Find new sources (procurement)  
 
Therefore, approach should be fabric first, before greening a building; make sure that it is 
efficient and has as low an energy rating as possible.  
 
The Carbon footprint measure has three scopes: 
 
Scope 1 – All Direct Emissions from the activities of an organisation or under their control. 

Including fuel combustion on site such as gas boilers, fleet vehicles and air-
conditioning leaks. 

Scope 2 – Indirect Emissions from electricity purchased and used by the organisation. 
Emissions are created during the production of the energy and eventually used by 
the organisation. 

Scope 3 – All Other Indirect Emissions from activities of the organisation, occurring from 
sources that they do not own or control. These are usually the greatest share of 
the carbon footprint, covering emissions associated with business travel, 
procurement, waste and water. (these can only ever be estimates and therefore 
shouldn’t be the focus of the council’s plan.) 

 
Finally, the council should be mindful that targets that are not achievable, won’t be clear and 
measurable. Therefore, it needs to get into the DNA of its governance and decision making. 
 
 
END 
  

202



Bracknell Forest Council – Climate Change strategy 2020-2024 48  
 

Appendix: Bracknell Forest Council Climate Change Strategy 2020-2024  
 

Glossary of Terms 
 

 Definition 

Air Quality 
Management Area 
(AQMA) 

An area identified by a local authority as a potential risk in 
ensuring national air quality objectives are met 

APSE The Association for Public Service Excellence is a networking 
community that assists local authorities who are striving to 
improve their frontline services. 

BBC The British Broadcasting Company 

BEIS  Department for Business Energy and Industrial Strategy 

Biodiversity The variety of plant and animal life within a particular habitat 

BCCAG The Bracknell Climate Change Action Group are a group of 
local residents campaigning for a range of environmental 
measures for the good of their local communities 

BFC   Bracknell Forest Council 

Bracknell BID The Bracknell Business Improvement District represents a 
range of businesses within the Southern and Western industrial 
estates  

Carbon Dioxide 
equivalent (CO2e) 

A comparative measure of the global warming potential of all 
greenhouse gas emissions expressed as the equivalent number 
of metric tons of CO2 (Carbon Dioxide) 

Carbon footprint -  A carbon footprint measures the total greenhouse gas 
emissions caused directly and directly by a person, 
organisation, event or product. It is usually measured in tonnes 
of carbon dioxide equivalent (tCO2e). 

Carbon net zero - Achieving net zero carbon dioxide emissions by balancing 
carbon dioxide emissions with carbon removal 

Climate Local An LGA initiative, launched in 2012 and supported by the 
Environment Agency Climate Ready service, to drive, inspire 
and support council action on climate change.  

Climate Change Act 
(2008) 

An Act to set a target for the year 2050 for the reduction of 
targeted greenhouse gas emissions 

COVID-19 The WHO Coronavirus pandemic as declared in March 2020 

CPRE The Campaign to Protect Rural England is a charity in England 
which campaigns for a "sustainable future" for the English 
countryside. 

EATF The Emergency Active Travel Fund helps councils reallocate 
road space for cyclists and pedestrians. 

EPC Energy Performance Certificates offer a standard measure of a 
building’s energy efficiency 

Extension Rebellion Extinction Rebellion is a global environmental movement with 
the stated aim of using nonviolent civil disobedience to compel 
government action to avoid tipping points in the climate system, 
biodiversity loss, and the risk of social and ecological collapse. 

EV Electric Vehicles are vehicles that are either partially or fully 
powered on electric power. 

DEFRA  Department for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs 

GDP Gross Domestic Product is the sum total of the UK’s economic 

203



Bracknell Forest Council – Climate Change strategy 2020-2024 49  
 

outputs. 

GHG emissions Greenhouse gas emissions are any gaseous compounds in the 
atmosphere that are capable of absorbing infrared radiation, 
thereby trapping and holding heat in the atmosphere. 

GHG Protocol The Greenhouse gas protocol establishes comprehensive 
global standardized frameworks to measure and 
manage greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions from private and 
public sector operations. 

IEA The International Energy Agency is an international 
membership group committed to shaping a secure and 
sustainable energy future for the planet 

IMD The Index of Multiple Deprivation  

IMF The International Monetary Fund 

Invest to Save scheme A financial cost/benefit analysis considering the balance of 
capital and revenue expenditures against potential income and / 
or savings generated. 

IPCC Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change 

kWh A kilowatt-hour is a composite unit of energy equal to one 
kilowatt (kW) of power sustained for one hour. 

LED Light emitting diodes. LED lighting products produce light up to 
90% more efficiently than incandescent light bulbs 

LGA   Local Government Association 

Lockdown A period of time during which the UK government introduced 
controls on permitted activities by its businesses and residents 
during COVID-19  

LULUCF  Land use, land use change and forestry 

Nottingham Declaration 
on Climate Change 

A voluntary commitment for all local authorities to adopt to 
actively tackle climate change in their area 

ONS The Office for National Statistics  

O&S Commission The Overview and Scrutiny commission reviews the council and 
its partners’ work in public. This makes sure that we are 
transparent in our decision making and holds decision makers 
to account. 

PPP The Public Protection Partnership is a shared service delivering 
Environmental Health, Licensing and Trading Standards on 
behalf of Bracknell Forest, West Berkshire and Wokingham 
Borough Councils. 

Re3 partnership The shared waste and recycling partnership between the 
Bracknell, Reading and Wokingham councils 

SAP A Standard Assessment Procedure is a calculated score from 1 
to 100+ for the annual energy cost of a building. The higher the 
score the lower the running costs. 

Sequestration Processes by which carbon dioxide emissions are 
stored/removed from the atmosphere 

Solar PV Solar Photovoltaics is the generation of electricity 
using energy from the sun.  

SPA A Special Protection Area is a designation under the European 
Union (EU) Directive on the Conservation of Wild Birds. Under 
the Directive, Member States of the EU have a duty to 
safeguard the habitats of migratory birds and certain particularly 
threatened birds. 

SSSI A Site of Special Scientific Interest is a conservation designation 

204



Bracknell Forest Council – Climate Change strategy 2020-2024 50  
 

denoting a protected area in the United Kingdom. 

Sustainable Modes of 
Transport 

Refers to any means of transportation that is 'green' and has 
low impact on the environment. 

Thames Valley The area comprising the counties of Berkshire, 
Buckinghamshire and Oxfordshire 

TVCRR The Thames Valley Community Risk register providing 
information on the biggest emergencies that could happen in 
the Thames Velley area 

WHO World Health Organisation 

 
 
 
  

205



Bracknell Forest Council – Climate Change strategy 2020-2024 51  
 

Bibliography 
Public Perspectives Ltd. RESIDENTS’ COVID-19 IMPACT SURVEY 2020. Bracknell: 

Bracknell Forest Council, 2020. <http://democraticintranet.bracknell-
forest.gov.uk/documents/g9558/Public%20reports%20pack%20Tuesday%2020-Oct-
2020%2017.00%20Executive.pdf?T=10>. 

Adept amey. “Green Finance Toolkit.” 2020. 
apse energy. Local Authority Climate Emergency Declarations. Manchester: Association for 

Public Service Excellence, n.d. 
<https://www.apse.org.uk/apse/assets/File/Summary%20Climate%20Emergency%2
0Doc%20Online(1).pdf>. 

BBC - Trust Me, I'm a Doctor. The big motivation experiment. 2016. 30 1 2016. 
<http://www.bbc.co.uk/programmes/articles/3hRfJqQDPLW5ZbqQCQS1K1v/the-big-
motivation-experiment>. 

BBC News. “Climate change: Emissions target could cost UK £1tn, warns Hammond.” BBC 
News website. n.d. <https://www.bbc.co.uk/news/uk-politics-48540004>. 

Benyon , Richard . “Conference Opening - Hope.” West Berkshire Climate Change 
conference. Newbury: West Berkshire Council, 2019. 

Berners-Lee, Mike. The Carbon Footprint of Everything. London: The royal society for arts, 
manufactures and commerce., 13 May 2010. 
<https://www.thersa.org/video/events/2010/05/the-carbon-footprint-of-everything>. 

Bracknell Forest Council. “Authority Monitoring Report 2018-19: Housing.” 2020. 
<https://www.bracknell-forest.gov.uk/sites/default/files/documents/amr-housing-2018-
2019.pdf>. 

—. “Bracknell Forest Biodiversity-action-plan-2018-2023.” n.d. <https://www.bracknell-
forest.gov.uk/sites/default/files/documents/biodiversity-action-plan-2018-2023.pdf>. 

—. “Bracknell Forest Council Tree Strategy.” n.d. <https://www.bracknell-
forest.gov.uk/sites/default/files/documents/bfc-tree-strategy.pdf>. 

—. Food waste collection. 2019. <https://www.bracknell-forest.gov.uk/bins-and-
recycling/food-waste-collection>. 

Chomsky, Noam. “Recognizing the "Unpeople".” Chomsky, Noam. Because we say so. 
London: Penguin Book, 2016. 25-28. 

Cialdini, Robert. Science Of Persuasion. 26 November 2012. 
http://www.influenceatwork.com. 13 May 2017. 
<https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=cFdCzN7RYbw>. 

Cirell, Steve . “The role of the Local Authority.” West Berkshire Climate Change Conference . 
Newbury: West Berkshire Council , 2019. 

Climate Emergency UK. LIST OF COUNCILS WHO HAVE DECLARED A CLIMATE 
EMERGENCY. n.d. <https://www.climateemergency.uk/blog/list-of-councils/>. 

Committee on Climate Change. “Local Authorities and the Sixth Carbon Budget.” 2020. 
<https://www.theccc.org.uk/publication/local-authorities-and-the-sixth-carbon-
budget/>. 

—. “Sixth Carbon Budget.” 2020. <https://www.theccc.org.uk/publication/sixth-carbon-
budget/>. 

Friends of the Earth. “Policy and Insight.” n.d. Friends of the Earth Policy. © Friends of the 
Earth Limited | Friends of the Earth privacy policy. 
<https://policy.friendsoftheearth.uk/sites/files/policy/documents/2019-
09/League_table_England_Wales.pdf>. 

Gibson, Daniel. Carbon neutral plans will fail without more support for local authorities. 10 
December 2020. <https://www.publicsectorexecutive.com/articles/carbon-neutral-
plans-will-fail-without-more-support-local-
authorities?utm_source=Public%20Sector%20Executive&utm_medium=email&utm_c
ampaign=12039691_Newsletter%20Dec%2010%2020%20&dm_i=IJU,761VV,WS28
3F,T1098,1>. 

206



Bracknell Forest Council – Climate Change strategy 2020-2024 52  
 

Green and Tonic Network London. 90 seconds run down on IPCC global climate science 
report with leading Professor Chris Rapley. n.d. <https://youtu.be/Lre2UIuS80c>. 

Handy, Charles. Understanding Organisations. 4th . Penguin Books, 1985. 16 4 2016. 
Heap, Tom. “Keynote.” West Berkshire Climate Change Conference . Newbury: West 

Berkshire Council , 2019. 
HM Government. Climate Change Act 2008. 2008. 

<https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2008/27/contents>. 
—. “The ten point plan for a green industrial revolution.” 2020. 

<https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attach
ment_data/file/936567/10_POINT_PLAN_BOOKLET.pdf>. 

International Energy Agency. “Global Energy Review.” 2020. 
<https://www.iea.org/reports/global-energy-review-2020>. 

Livesey, Hilary, Paul Miner and Rebecca Pullinger. A Positive Vision for London’s Green 
Belt. London: APPG for London’s Green Belt,, 2019. <https://www.cpre.org.uk/wp-
content/uploads/2019/11/19.11.04_-_APPG_London_s_Green_Belt_report_-
_A_Positive_Vision_for_London_s_Green_Belt.pdf>. 

Llewellyn, Sue and Emma Tappin. “Strategy in the Public Sector: Management in the 
Wilderness.” Journal of Management Studies (2003): 955-982. 01 02 2016. 

Local Government Association. “A councillor's workbook on acting on climate change.” 2017. 
—. Climate Local. 2012. <https://www.local.gov.uk/topics/environment-and-waste/climate-

local>. 
Magretta, Joan. Understanding Michael Porter - The Essential Guide to competition and 

Strategy. Harvard Business School, 2011. 
McGrath, Matt . “Climate change: Lockdown has 'negligible' effect on temperatures.” BBC 

News: Science & Environment 7 August 2020. <https://www.bbc.co.uk/news/science-
environment-53681096>. 

McLaughlin, Suzanne. “How Licensing Could Reduce Air Pollution.” 2019. 
<https://democratic.bracknell-
forest.gov.uk/documents/s140733/7.%20How%20Licensing%20reduce%20air%20po
llution.pdf>. 

Mellish, Philippa. “Climate Change: Behavioural Insights - Proposal for South East Strategic 
Leaders (SESL).” 2019. 

Moore, Ann. “Overview & Scrutiny Arrangements 2019-2023.” 2019. 
<https://democratic.bracknell-forest.gov.uk/documents/s142133/01%20-
%20OSC%20re%20arrangements.pdf>. 

Moore, Mark H. Creating public value: Strategic management in government. Harvard 
University Press, 1995. 

Mott MacDonald. Reading Climate Change Adaptation Plan. Reading: Reading Climate 
Change Partnership, 2019. 

Murphy, Sean. AIR QUALITY STATUS REPORTS - Summary Report. Newbury: West 
Berkshire Council, 2020. 
<http://decisionmaking.westberks.gov.uk/documents/s81384/Air%20Quality%20AQ%
202019%20-%20summary%20report.pdf>. 

National Grid. Carbon Intensity API. n.d. <https://carbonintensity.org.uk/>. 
Office of National Statistics. “ukmidyearestimates20182019ladcodes (1).xls.” n.d. Office of 

National Statistics. 
<https://www.google.com/url?sa=t&rct=j&q=&esrc=s&source=web&cd=&ved=2ahUK
EwjC5PXWgcTtAhVLecAKHeiRBygQFjACegQIBhAC&url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.o
ns.gov.uk%2Ffile%3Furi%3D%252Fpeoplepopulationandcommunity%252Fpopulatio
nandmigration%252Fpopulationestimates%252Fdatas>. 

ofgem. Renewable Energy Guarantees Origin (REGO). n.d. 
<https://www.ofgem.gov.uk/environmental-programmes/rego>. 

207



Bracknell Forest Council – Climate Change strategy 2020-2024 53  
 

O'Neal, Kathryn. “how can Bracknell become a home to thriving people, in a thriving place, 
while respecting the wellbeing of all people and the health of the whole planet.” 
Bracknell Forest Council Overview and Scrutiny Commission. Bracknell Forest 
Council, 2020. 

Paton, Graeme. “Clean air for all: Lampposts to charge electric cars.” The Times (2020). 
<https://www.thetimes.co.uk/article/clean-air-for-all-lampposts-to-charge-electric-
cars-3jk2f5nlt>. 

Perkin, Giles. “Future Mobility and Air Quality .” West Berkshire Climate Change 
Conference. Newbury: West Berkshire Concil , n.d. 

Perrin, Isabella. “Binfield's Go Zero launches 1,000 franchises across the UK.” Bracknell 
News 6 Feb 2020. <https://www.bracknellnews.co.uk/news/18216452.binfields-go-
zero-launches-1-000-franchises-across-uk/>. 

Pfeffer, Jeffrey and Robert I Sutton. The Knowing-doing gap: How smart companies turn 
knowledge into action. Harvard Business School Press, 2000. 

Porter, Michael E. “What Is Strategy?” Harvard Business Review Nov-Dec (1996): 61-78. 
Porter, Michael. “The Competative Advantage of the Inner City.” Harvard Business Review 

73.3 (1995): 55-71. 
Re3 Partnership. Re3 Strategy. Reading: Reading Borough Council, 2017. 

<https://re3.fccenvironment.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2019/03/re3-Strategy-2018-
2020.pdf>. 

Reading Climate Change Partnership. The Reading Climate Emergency Strategy 2020-25. 
Reading: Reading Climate Change Partnership, 2020. 

Schein, Edgar H and Peter Schein. Organizational Culture and Leadership. 5th. Hoboken, 
NJ: John Wiley & Sons, Inc, 2017. 

Thames Valley Local Resilience Forum. Community Risk Register For Thames Valley. 
Thames Valley Local Resilience Forum, n.d. 
<http://thamesvalleylrf.org.uk/_assets/risk%20register/tvlrf%20risk%20register%20oc
t%202016.pdf>. 

The Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. “SPECIAL REPORT: Global Warming of 
1.5°C.” 2018. <https://www.ipcc.ch/sr15/>. 

The National Archives. The Nottingham Declaration on Climate Change. n.d. July 2019. 
<https://webarchive.nationalarchives.gov.uk/20081111204651/http://www.energysavi
ngtrust.org.uk/nottingham>. 

The Story of Stuff Project. The Story of Stuff. Tides Foundation/Funders workshop for 
sustainable production and consumption. 22 April 2009. 
<https://youtu.be/9GorqroigqM>. 

TutorBin. greenhouse effect. <https://medium.com/@tutorbin/greenhouse-effect-advantages-
and-disadvantages-4d4f113ec61d>. 

Wokingham Borough Council . Climate Emergency Action Plan . Wokingham: Wokingham 
Borough Council , 2020. 

World Health Organisation. Coronavirus. 2020. <https://www.who.int/health-
topics/coronavirus#tab=tab_1>. 

 
 

 

208



Ref

Name of project / 

work

Brief description 

of project / work

Who does this primarily benefit? 

(select from drop down options)

Which of the Council's 4 Climate 

Change Strategy Pillars does this 

best fit (select from drop down 

options)

Please list any relevant 

strategies or plans that this 

project/work is linked to:

Lead Directorate / 

Service

Lead Officer / 

Lead Member

Do you have any 

indicators / 

measures linked to 

this work? If so, 

please state below:

Did you establish 

a baseline 

measure at the 

commencement 

of this 

project/work? If 

so state what it 

was below:

Have you set a target 

(where applicable) to 

achieve in relation to 

this project/work? If so, 

what is it?

What is 

your target 

date? (BFC 

is aiming 

to be 

carbon net-

zero by 

2050)

Project 

budget

Officer to 

respond

CS12 Policy - 

renewable energy 

concepts on all 

new builds

ensure that 

properties meet a 

minimum 

renewable energy 

standard  Community only impact Working with partners

Core Strategy Development Plan; 

Climate Change Strategy

People/Early Help & 

Communities/Welfare & 

Housing Hazel Hill / Cllr Hayes

all new 

developments of 5+ 

homes or more than 

500 sq metres to 

demonstrate 

measures to reduce 

CO2 emissions by 

10% and to provide 

20% of all energy 

consumed by on-site 

renewable means; 

all new developemnt 

of less than 5 / less 

than 500 sq metres 

to demonstrate 

measures to reduce 

CO2 emissions by 

10%

Measurement of 

this policy 

commenced in Oct 

2018 That was 

point zero.

no: of new homes meeting 

set criteria p.a. TARGET 

FIGURE of 500 p.a. 

(1,389 in first two years of 

measurement Oct 18_20). 2050 Nil Hazel Hill

Monitor 

residential energy 

efficiency 

(ELMHURST 

database)

Updating the 

database 

including new or 

additional 

properties. 

currently 48,239 Community only impact

Managing the natural environment 

sustainably in line with policies within 

the Bracknell Forest Local Plan

Bracknell Forest Local Plan; 

Climate Change Strategy

People/Early Help & 

Communities/Welfare & 

Housing Hazel Hill / 

Total no: of homes 

on the database / 

total proportion (%) 

of those homes that 

are rated D or above 

Data available in 

office - the 

proportion (%) of 

homes with a 

rating of D or 

above when we 

first started using 

ELMHURST. State 

the % and the 

date.

To increase the total 

number of homes on the 

database and to increase 

the % of homes with a 

rating of D or above from 

the Oct 20 baseline figure 

of 92%. (Target of 0.5% 

increase per annum)

2050 Nil Hazel Hill

Promote (& 

measure) 

grants/funds for 

energy efficiency 

and/or renewable 

energy at home  

Warm Homes 

Grant up to £2.8M 

(converting BF 

homes to gas 

supplied heating) Community only impact Working with partners Climate Change Strategy

People/Early Help & 

Communities/Welfare & 

Housing 

Hazel Hill / Cllr 

Birch

no: of homes 

converting to gas

Records began in 

Feb 2019. 

Baseline was zero 

at that point. 250 2050 up to £2.8M Hazel Hill

Promote (& 

measure) 

grants/funds for 

energy efficiency 

and/or renewable 

energy at home  

LA - Flex 

(installing 

cavity/loft 

insulation and / or 

boiler 

replacements in 

BF homes) Community only impact Working with partners Climate Change Strategy

People/Early Help & 

Communities/Welfare & 

Housing 

Hazel Hill / Cllr 

Birch

no: of properties 

benefiting from LA 

Flex funding

Measurement 

began in Nov 2017 

Baseline was zero 

at that point.

TARGET FIGURE of 400 

properties to benefit p.a. 

(1,468 total in first 3 years 

of measurement Nov 

17_20) 2050 Hazel Hill

Promote (& 

measure) 

grants/funds for 

energy efficiency 

and/or renewable 

energy at home  

Warm, Safe & 

Well scheme 

£54k (funding 

home insulation 

schemes for 

eligible* 

residents) Community only impact Working with partners Climate Change Strategy

People/Early Help & 

Communities/Welfare & 

Housing 

Hazel Hill / Cllr 

Birch

no: of properties 

benefiting from 

WSW funding

Measurement 

began in Feb 2020 

Baseline was zero 

at that point.

Either: no: of properties 

benefitting p.a. or aim to 

spend all £54k available 

both 2050 Up to £54k Hazel Hill

Promote (& 

measure) 

grants/funds for 

energy efficiency 

and/or renewable 

energy at home  

Green Homes 

Grant £900k (LAD 

scheme). Funding 

energy efficiency 

and or renewable 

energy 

improvements in 

E,F,G fuel poverty 

homes. Community only impact Working with partners Climate Change Strategy

People/Early Help & 

Communities/Welfare & 

Housing 

Hazel Hill / Cllr 

Birch

no: of properties 

benefiting from 

funding

Zero as at Oct 

2020 when 

scheme 

commenced

45 properties to benefit in 

6 months- grant period or 

full spend. 2050 Up to £0.9M Hazel Hill

Promote (& 

measure) 

grants/funds for 

energy efficiency 

and/or renewable 

energy at home  

Green homes 

voucher scheme. 

Supporting 

residents to apply 

for 2/3 funding 

towards energy 

efficiency and / or 

renewable energy 

improvements 

Community only impact Working with partners Climate Change Strategy

People/Early Help & 

Communities/Welfare & 

Housing Hazel Hill / 

no: of 

homes/residents 

applying to the 

scheme 

Zero as at Sept 

2020 when 

scheme 

commenced

xx residents applying to 

the scheme p.a? 76 

quotes issues that we are 

aware of. We may not be 

informed of these wokrs. 2050 Nil Hazel Hill

209



Westmoreland 

Park Solar pV and 

EV charging

48 Solar panels 

installed on 

pavilion building 

plus a twin 22kW 

EV charge point 

in the car park. 

Council and community combined 

impact

Managing the natural environment 

sustainablyin line with policies within 

the Bracknell Forest Local Plan 

Westmorland Park management 

plan; Climate Change Strategy PPR/Parks & Countryside Luke Dawson / Luke Dawson

Plan for impacts 

of climate change 

on species and 

habitat 

conservation and 

migration Not planned. 

Council and community combined 

impact Working with partners

Biodiversity Action Plan; Climate 

Change Strategy PPR/Parks & Countryside Luke Dawson / Marlies BoydellNo No

Yes, complete a review 

which was done in 2015. N/A Nil Luke Dawson

Implement climate 

change cross-

cutting themes in 

Biodiversity 

Action Plan (BAP)

Ongoing work on 

the BAP

Council and community combined 

impact Working with partners

Biodiversity Action Plan; Climate 

Change Strategy PPR/Parks & Countryside

Luke Dawson / 

Marlies 

Boydell No

There are 18 targets in the 

General Themes section 

of the BAP. N/A Luke Dawson

Encourage public 

to have more 

environmentally 

friendly gardens

Year of the 

Garden 2020

Council and community combined 

impact Working with partners

Biodiversity Action Plan; Climate 

Change Strategy PPR/Parks & Countryside

Luke Dawson / 

Marlies 

Boydell No

This project contributes 

towards the Urban habitat 

section of the BAP. There 

are 15 targets. Luke Dawson

Improve water 

supply and 

retention to trees 

in order to reduce 

impact of warmer 

summers and 

droughts

Mulching 

application is 

used where 

feasible

Council and community combined 

impact

Managing the natural environment 

sustainable in line with policies within 

the Bracknell Local Plan 

Individual site management plans; 

Climate Change Strategy PPR/Parks & Countryside Luke Dawson / Luke Dawson

Adopt 

maintenance 

programmes for 

parks and open 

spaces to 

changes in the 

growth patterns of 

plants

All rangers have 

been asked to 

seek and remove 

areas from 

regular 

maintenance 

where it is no 

longer deemed 

necessary. Council only impact

Managing the natural environment 

sustainablyin line with policies within 

the Bracknell Forest Local Plan

Ranger Team strategy to reduce 

GM contract when it is renewed; 

Climate Change Strategy PPR/Parks & Countryside

Luke Dawson / 

All rangers/ 

Alan Wilson Luke Dawson

Reduce landill 

waste

Reduce the % of 

overall waste 

going to landfill

Council and community combined 

impact

Managing the natural environment 

sustainablyin line with policies within 

the Bracknell Forest Local Plan

Greening waste collections; 

Climate Change Strategy

Delivery/Contract 

Services/Waste & 

recycling

Donna Cox / 

Cllr Hayes % of waste to landfill

17% (19/20 figure) 

NI193

Reduced % of landfill 

waste 31-Mar-21 Donna Cox

Increase recycling 

rate

Increase the 

recycling % 

Council and community combined 

impact

Managing the natural environment 

sustainablyin line with policies within 

the Bracknell Forest Local Plan

Greening waste collections; 

Climate Change Strategy

Delivery/Contract 

Services/Waste & 

recycling

Donna Cox / 

Cllr Hayes % of waste recycled

43% (19/20 figure) 

NI 192 Increase recycling % 31-Mar-21 Donna Cox

Decrease waste 

per household

Decrease the 

waste per 

household in kgs

Council and community combined 

impact

Managing the natural environment 

sustainablyin line with policies within 

the Bracknell Forest Local Plan

Greening waste collections; 

Climate Change Strategy

Delivery/Contract 

Services/Waste & 

recycling

Donna Cox / 

Cllr Hayes

Kgs waste per 

household per 

annum

974kgs waste per 

hh (19/20 figure) Reduce kgs per hh 31-Mar-21 Donna Cox

Seek to measure 

emissions (& 

encourage 

reductions) in the 

environmental 

impact of 

contractors’ 

vehicles

Council and community combined 

impact

Managing the natural environment 

sustainablyin line with policies within 

the Bracknell Forest Local Plan Climate Change Strategy

Delivery/Contract 

Services/Environmental 

Services

Claire Pike / 

Cllr Hayes

total t CO2e emiitted 

by vehicle fleet Not yet

reduce t CO2e emitted per 

km N/A Claire Pike

Convert all 

highway 

infrastructure to 

low voltage/LED 

technology where 

possible

Complete all 

underpasses, 

bollards, 

directional sign 

lights and traffic 

light systems to 

low volatge/LED 

technologies Council only impact

Managing the natural environment 

sustainablyin line with policies within 

the Bracknell Forest Local Plan

Local Transport Plan; Climate 

Change Strategy

PPR/Highways & 

Transport Cllr Turrell Aiden Richardson & Phil Burke

210



Increase the use 

of sustainable 

modes of 

transport in 

targeted areas

Get more people 

in residential and 

business areas 

walking and 

cycling or using 

public transport, 

particularly where 

census or public 

health data 

suggests uptake 

is low but could 

be higher

LCWIP and 

Emergency Active 

Travel Measures, 

work with BID to 

promote and 

increase 

sustainable 

modes of travel in 

Business Areas

Council and Community Combined 

impact

Working with Partners

Managing the natural environment 

sustainably in line with policies within 

the Bracknell Forest Local Plan

Sustainable Modes Strategy

which contains:

- Walking and Cycling Strategy; 

- Public Transport Strategy; 

Climate Change Strategy

PPR/Highways & 

Transport

Aidan 

Richardson & 

Phil Burke / 

Cllr Turrell

Travel in Bracknell 

Report which 

contains annual bus 

and rail use data 

along with annual 

cycle and walking 

survey data and 

traffic counts

Census 2011 data 

(now old)

Active Travel Survey 

(2015)

DfT Propensity to 

Cycle Tool

Council Staff Travel 

Survey

Yes we consider 

previous years 

data within the 

Travel in Bracknell 

Report and we 

consider a 

measure of 

success to be 

annual increases 

in walking & 

cycling in our 

annual surveys, 

along with bus and 

rail patronage

No N/A Aidan Richardson 

& Phil Burke

Encourage more 

children (and 

parents) to cycle 

to school 

Bikeability Cycle 

Training and 

promoting 

initiatives such as 

Bike to School 

day

Community only impact Working with Schools and Young 

people

Climate Change Strategy PPR/Highways & 

Transport

Aidan 

Richardson & 

Phil Burke

Number of children 

trained annually to 

Level 1 & 2 standard

Number of children 

cycling to school as 

reported by annual 

school census data     

Yes we consider 

previous years 

data on numbers 

trained

We aim to train as many 

children as we can each 

year

N/A

Aidan Richardson 

& Phil Burke

Encourage more 

employers to 

support 

sustainable travel 

choices among 

employees 

Travel Plans and 

Travel Information 

for Workplaces 

and work to 

support the 

Bracknell BID

Council and Community Combined 

impact

Working with Partners Travel Information for Workplaces 

document  

https://www.bracknell-

forest.gov.uk/sites/default/files/doc

uments/travel-information-for-

workplaces.pdf

Planning Obligations SPD outlines 

our Travel Planning policy

Sustainable Modes Strategy

which contains:

- Walking and Cycling Strategy

- Public Transport Strategy; 

Climate Change Strategy

PPR/Highways & 

Transport

Aidan 

Richardson & 

Phil Burke

Number of 

businesses with a 

Travel Plan in 

place?

No No N/A

Aidan Richardson 

& Phil Burke

Promote & 

facilitate greener 

fuel vehicles and 

technology

EV charge point 

project & 

Sustainable 

Modes Strategy

Council and Community Combined 

impact

Working with Partners

Managing the natural environment 

sustainably in line with policies within 

the Bracknell Forest Local Plan

Sustainable Modes Strategy

(includes Smarter Vehicle Use 

Strategy); Climate Change 

Strategy;

PPR/Highways & 

Transport

Aidan 

Richardson & 

Phil Burke

Number of charges / 

KWH used on EV 

chargers in Council 

car parks

No No N/A

Aidan Richardson 

& Phil Burke

Promote the use 

of alternative 

travel choices for 

short local trips

We are working in 

partnership with 

Eco Rewards to 

promote a 

sustainable travel 

incentives 

scheme

Council and Community Combined 

impact

Working with Partners

Managing the natural environment 

sustainably in line with policies within 

the Bracknell Forest Local Plan

Climate Change Strategy PPR/Highways & 

Transport

Aidan 

Richardson & 

Phil Burke

Travel in Bracknell 

Report which 

contains annual bus 

and rail use data 

along with annual 

cycle and walking 

survey data and 

traffic counts

Census 2011 data 

(now old)

Active Travel Survey 

(2015)

DfT Propensity to 

Cycle Tool

Council Staff Travel 

Survey

The Eco Rewards 

scheme will 

establish its own 

baseline for 

monitoring 

success

We also consider 

a measure of 

success to be 

annual increases 

in walking & 

cycling in our 

annual surveys, 

along with bus 

patronage

No N/A

Aidan Richardson 

& Phil Burke

Monitor 

environmental 

impact of BFC-

owned / leased 

vehicle fleet

To record annual 

(calendar) 

mileage per 

owned/leased 

vehicle for 

calculating 

emissions 

purposes Council only impact Managing the natural environment sustainably in line with policies within the Bracknell Forest Local PlanClimate Change Strategy

Delivery/Customer 

Experience/Transport & 

Support Services Matt Howlett

total mileage per 

vehicle per calendar 

year

mileage from 2019 

equated to 52 

Tonnes CO2 

equivalent worth of 

emissions

to maintain or reduce total 

emissions down from 

2019 levels

2050 Matt Howlett

211



Review pool car 

scheme (increase 

EV's) Council only impact Preserving climate beneficial elements of COVID19 Climate Change Strategy

Delivery/Customer 

Experience/Transport & 

Support Services Matt Howlett Matt Howlett

Reduce 

emissions from 

Home to School 

transport scheme Community only impact Managing the natural environment sustainably in line with policies within the Bracknell Forest Local PlanClimate Change Strategy

Delivery/Customer 

Experience/Transport & 

Support Services Matt Howlett Matt Howlett

Reduce water use 

in identified 

council buildings.

Installing AMR 

meter across the 

estate

Council and community combined 

impact

Managing the natural environment 

sustainably in line with policies within 

the Bracknell Forest Local Plan Conservation of Resources; Climate Change StrategyDelivery/Property Hash Patel

m3 water 

consumption; co2 

reductions ongoing 5% reduction per annum 2030 Hash Patel

Monitor Energy 

Performance of 

Buildings & 

Highway assets

Diplay Energy 

certificates 

Council and community combined 

impact

Managing the natural environment 

sustainably in line with policies within 

the Bracknell Forest Local Plan Sustainablity,Climate change Straegy; Delivery/Property Hash Patel

CO2 rates, KWH 

energy Grade D and above By 2030 2030 Hash Patel

Report on specific 

projects delivering 

energy 

efficiencies in BF 

properties

Priestwood & 

Hanworth CC & 

Crematorium 

boiler/heating 

upgrades,76 

Binfield Road oil to 

gas conversions, 

solar install @ 

bracknell leisure 

centre.

Council and community combined 

impact

Managing the natural environment 

sustainably in line with policies within 

the Bracknell Forest Local Plan Sustainablity,Climate change Strategy; Delivery/Property Hash Patel KWH energy & CO2

Previous to Present 

KWH/CO2 15% saving from previous 2040 Hash Patel

Report on specific 

projects delivering 

energy 

efficiencies in BF 

schools

Owlsmoor Primary 

School boiler, Led 

install

Council and community combined 

impact

Managing the natural environment 

sustainably in line with policies within 

the Bracknell Forest Local Plan Sustainablity,Climate change Strategy; Delivery / Property Hash Patel KWH energy & CO2

Previous to 

Present 

KWH/CO2 15% saving from previous 2040 Hash Patel

Ensure Climate 

Change 

mitigations are 

reflected within 

procurement 

documents

Council and community combined 

impact Working with partners Climate Change Strategy Resources/Procurement Jo Alderson Jo Alderson

Idling vehicle 

actions

Enforcement on 

idling vehicle 

engines within the 

borough Community only impact Working with partners

Environment Act 1995, The Road 

Traffic (Vehicle Emissions) (Fixed 

penalty) England Regulations 2002, 

Air Quality Action Plan 2014, Climate 

Change Strategy

Delivery/Contract 

Services/PPP

Anna Smy / 

Cllr Harrison

Recorded number of 

incidences

Actions will 

commence in 

2021 Anna Smy

Testing vehicle 

emissions

Enforcement on 

poor vehicle 

emissions in the 

specific AQMA 

areas Community only impact Working with partners

Environment Act 1995, The Road 

Traffic (Vehicle Emissions) (Fixed 

penalty) England Regulations 2002, 

Air Quality Action Plan 2014, Climate 

Change Strategy

Delivery/Contract 

Services/PPP

Anna Smy / 

Cllr Harrison

Number of stops 

initiated and no: of 

penalties awarded

Actions will 

commence in 

2021 Anna Smy

Licensing

Manage 

limitations on taxi 

emissions via 

licensing and spot 

checks Community only impact Managing the natural environment sustainably in line with policies within the Bracknell Forest Local PlanClimate Change Strategy

Delivery/Contract 

Services/PPP

Sean Murphy / 

Cllr Harrison

Number of licenses 

awarded; no: of spot 

checks initiated

Actions may 

commence in 

2021

Sean Murphy / 

Charlie Fielder

Monitor and 

improve Air 

Quality

Reporting on 2 x 

specific AQMA's 

with aim to reduce 

levels of NO2 Community only impact Managing the natural environment sustainably in line with policies within the Bracknell Forest Local Plan

Environmetal Protection Act 1990, 

Air Quality Strategy 2007, EU 

Directive, Climate Change Strategy

Delivery/Contract 

Services/PPP

Charlie Fielder 

/ Cllr Harrison

Annual report sent to 

DEFRA - have to 

achieve National Air 

Quality Objectives 

(NO2, PM10 levels)

NO2 

measurements 

recorded since 

2000. 2020 return 

was favourable.

ongoing - 

annual Charlie Fielder

Draft Bracknell 

Forest Local Plan 

(2019) - flood risk

Emerging policy 

on flood risk 

requires 

development to 

avoid areas at 

risk of flooding Community only impact

Managing the natural environment 

sustainably in line with policies within 

the Bracknell Forest Local Plan 

Draft Bracknell Forest Local Plan; 

Climate Change Strategy PPR/Planning Sarah Slade

Development to 

avoid areas at risk of 

flooding

Unsure - plan 

period is 2020 - 

2037

Number of appeals allo

wed when refusal is on 

grounds of flood risk

Unsure - 

plan period 

is 2020 - 

2037 Sarah Slade

212



Draft Bracknell 

Forest Local Plan 

(2019) - 

construction

Emerging policy 

on sustainable 

construction 

requires a 

reduction in 

carbon emissions 

or net zero 

emissions for new 

dwellings, water 

efficiency 

standards and 

sustainability 

standards for non-

residential 

development  Community only impact

Managing the natural environment 

sustainably in line with policies within 

the Bracknell Forest Local Plan 

Draft Bracknell Forest Local Plan; 

Climate Change Strategy PPR/Planning Sarah Slade

Major new 

residential 

development - net 

zero for regulated 

emissions; all other 

residential 

development 

minimum 19% 

reduction in 

emissions; 

residential 

development water 

use 

110/litres/person/day

; non-residential 

development to 

meet BREEAM 

excellent standard

Unsure - plan 

period is 2020 - 

2037

Percentage of major 

residential development 

not meeting zero carbon 

standard;

Percentage of all other 

residential schemes not 

meeting 19% 

improvement in the 

dwelling emission rate 

over the target emission 

rate; Percentage of 

residential development 

not meeting water 

efficiency standard of 110 

litres/person/day;

Percentage of non- 

residential development 

not meeting BREEAM 

‘excellent’ or equivalent;.

.

Unsure - 

plan period 

is 2020 - 

2037 Sarah Slade

Draft Bracknell 

Forest Local Plan 

(2019) - SUDS

Emerging policy 

on Sustainable 

Drainage 

Systems (SUDs) 

requires SUDs for 

major 

development and 

development in 

areas at risk of 

flooding Community only impact

Managing the natural environment 

sustainably in line with policies within 

the Bracknell Forest Local Plan 

Draft Bracknell Forest Local Plan; 

Climate Change Strategy PPR/Planning Sarah Slade

SUDs required for 

major development 

and development in 

areas at risk of 

flooding

Unsure - plan 

period is 2020 - 

2037

Number of appeals 

allowed when refusal is on 

grounds of no/inadequate 

SuDS provision.;Number 

of planning applications 

including SuDS provision 

permitted.

Unsure - 

plan period 

is 2020 - 

2037 Sarah Slade

POSSIBLE 

PROJECTS

Greening 

workforce 

transport (phase 

1)

Moving intra-

borough work 

related journeys 

from fossil fuel 

cars to EV's Council only impact Working with partners climate change strategy Lisa Jewell

Ess user costs; 

Mileage claim costs; 

mTco2e 

Costs: current 

essential user 

payments of 

£366k pa; current 

mileage claims of 

£352k pa; Est: 

Carbon footprint of 

20,424mTco2e 

p.a. reduce figures in column J Lisa Jewell

Greening borough 

transport (phase 

2)

Creating an EV 

car club for 

residents to 

access / utilise 

greener cars for 

all travel 

purposes

Council and community combined 

impact Working with partners climate change strategy Lisa Jewell Lisa Jewell

Improving energy 

efficiency within 

the corporate 

estate

currently bidding 

for de-

carbonisation 

grant funding to 

enhance Building 

Management 

System and 

replace the 

boilers in Time 

Square Council only impact Managing the natural environment sustainably in line with policies within the Bracknell Forest Local Planclimate change strategy Delivery/Property Hash Patel Hash Patel

Sustainability 

Appraisal for the 

local plan

Examines how 

each policy in the 

emerging Local 

Plan contribute to 

achiveing 

sustainable 

development (e.g. 

level of, location 

of and 

requirements for 

development) community only impact

Managing the natural environment 

sustainably in line with policies within 

the Bracknell Forest Local Plan

Draft Bracknell Forest Local Plan; 

Climate Change Strategy PPR/Planning

Cathy 

O'Connor

Wide ranging 

measures proposed 

through the BFLP 

and SA

Wide ranging 

baseline 

established 

through baseline 

review (see 

appendix to SA 

report) Cathy O'Connor

31-Mar 900,000 Hazel Hill

213



214



Aiden Richardson & Phil Burke

215



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Climate Change Strategy Action Plan – Quarterly Reporting 
Template 
 
Directorate/Service Area: ________________________________________ 
 
Officer(s) Submitting: ___________________________________________ 
 
Date: _________________ Reporting Quarter: ___________________ 
 

1. Summary of Progress with your Actions in the Climate Change Strategy Action Plan:  
Please review and/or update each of your specific actions in the attached Excel 
spreadsheet and submit it with this form. Thank you.  

2. Key Achievements and Milestones to highlight (this quarter):  
Please highlight any significant achievements within your area of expertise. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

3. Assessment of any Risks to the Delivery of Actions (eg financial viability, officer 
resources, support within directorate, member support, technology, infra-structure 
requirements):  

Key Risk:  Action Taken or Required to Mitigate Risk:  

  

  

  

  

4. New Projects your Service Area is Developing / Progressing / considering: 
Please list any new or future pieces of work which could feature on the council’s climate 
change action plan.  
 
 
 
 
 
 

5. Any Other Comments:  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Please return this completed template to Gareth.jones@bracknell-forest.gov.uk  
Thank you. 

217

mailto:Gareth.jones@bracknell-forest.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

219

Agenda Item 12
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

229

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

231

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

233

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

235

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

241

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

243

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 Minutes
	Minutes
	 Executive Decisions and Decision Records
	Capital Programme 2021-22
	Revenue Fund 2021-22
	CPOR


	5 CCTV Policy
	CCTV Policy (2020) - finalv1

	6 Investigatory Powers Commissioner's Office (IPCO) Policy
	BFC RIPA Policy (2020) - finalv1

	7 Digital & IT Strategy 2021-2024
	Digital and ICT Strategy 2021

	8 Customer Experience Strategy 2021-2024
	Customer Experience Strategy 2021

	9 Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman Annual Review Letter
	10 Climate Change Action Plan update
	Appendix 1 Bracknell Forest Climate Change Strategy (Final)
	Appendix 2 CC Strategy Action Plan hidden tabs
	Appendix 3 CC Strategy Projects Quarterly updates template

	12 Town Centre Regeneration
	Coopers Hill Site_160920
	Market Street Site_300920
	Jubilee Gardens Site_160920
	BFC Vacant Possession  strategy AGREED
	Annex 4 Chronological list of Home England negotiations_
	Initial equalities screening record form Coopers Hill updated 10.12.20


